# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): March 20, 2008

### **NUSTAR ENERGY L.P.**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) 1-16417 (Commission File Number) 74-2956831 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

2330 N. Loop 1604 West San Antonio, Texas (Address of principal executive offices)

78248 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (210) 918-2000

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:					
	Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)				
	Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)				
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))				
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))				

#### Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement

Simultaneously with the closing of the acquisition of CITGO Asphalt Refining Company's asphalt operations and assets (East Coast Asphalt Operations) described in Item 2.01 below, NuStar Marketing LLC (NuStar Marketing), a wholly-owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy L.P. (NuStar Energy), entered into a Crude Oil Sales Agreement, dated effective as of March 1, 2008, with PDVSA-Petróleo S.A., an affiliate of Petróleos de Venezuela S.A., the national oil company of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela (PDVSA).

The Crude Oil Sales Agreement requires PDVSA to supply and requires NuStar Marketing to purchase an average of 50,000 barrels per day of Boscán crude oil and 25,000 barrels per day of Bachaquero BCF-13 crude oil. Annual deliveries of BCF-13 and Boscán crude oil will be seasonally adjusted, with a larger volume between May and August when the demand for asphalt is higher. Pricing of each grade of crude oil is determined by a market-based pricing formula using published market indices, subject to adjustment based on the price of Mexican Maya crude oil. The Crude Oil Sales Agreement has an initial term of seven years, which will automatically renew thereafter for successive two-year terms unless terminated by either party.

The above description of the material terms of the Crude Oil Sales Agreement is not a complete statement of the parties' rights and obligations with respect to such transaction. The above description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Crude Oil Sales Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this Current Report on Form 8-K as Exhibits 10.1.

#### Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets

On March 20, 2008, NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy, closed its previously announced acquisition of the East Coast Asphalt Operations for \$450 million, plus inventory of approximately \$360 million, subject to post-closing adjustment. The East Coast Asphalt Operations consist of two asphalt refineries, one located in Paulsboro, New Jersey and the other in Savannah, Georgia, which supply a network of 23 terminals throughout the U.S. East Coast with asphalt cement and related products. In addition to the refineries, NuStar Energy acquired three terminals and terminal storage agreements for storage in 15 third-party terminals, capable of storing 4.8 million barrels of asphalt.

The East Coast Asphalt Operations' facilities are located in the largest asphalt demand hub in the United States. The Paulsboro, New Jersey refinery and terminal is capable of processing 74,000 barrels per day of Venezuelan crude oil and has a total storage capacity of 3.4 million barrels. Asphalt production is sold via the on-site rack system. The Savannah, Georgia refinery and terminal is the only refinery and asphalt producer in the Southeast United States and is capable of processing 30,000 barrels per day of Venezuelan crude oil with a total storage capacity of 1.2 million barrels. Asphalt production is sold via the on-site rack system and is shipped to ten terminals in the Southeast United States. The Wilmington, North Carolina terminal has a total storage capacity of 240,000 barrels.

The East Coast Asphalt Operations' products include:

- asphalt cement, which supplies U.S. customers with 4.8 million tons on an annual basis and of which, in 2006, 4.2 million tons was paving asphalt and 0.6 million tons was roofing flux, a specialty asphalt grade utilized in the manufacture of construction roofing materials;
- polymer modified asphalt produced at both refineries, which is sold out of eight terminals and is predominantly used for high performance
  pavements at major international airports on the East Coast as well as NASCAR tracks and the New York City Port Authority; and
- light products, including naphtha, vacuum gas oil and marine diesel oil, which are marketed as feedstock to complex refineries in the East Coast and Gulf Coast regions and represent approximately 33% of the East Coast Asphalt Operation's refinery production.

In 2006, the East Coast Asphalt Operations served over 295 customers in the road construction and building materials industries, with no single customer representing more than 8% of total volume sales.

In connection with the closing of the East Coast Asphalt Operations, a subsidiary of NuStar Energy entered in the Crude Oil Sales Agreement described in Item 1.01 above, as well as an Asphalt Sales Agreement, which requires PDVSA to provide NuStar Energy with a right of first offer to purchase up to 4,000,000 barrels of paving grade asphalt and 4,750,000 barrels of roofing flux asphalt of any asphalt exports by PDVSA during each year for marketing and sale (although no barrels of asphalt are guaranteed). Pricing for each grade of asphalt is based on prices published by Poten & Partners less an adjustment for deemed freight costs.

#### Item 2.03 Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant

Effective March 20, 2008, NuStar Logistics, L.P. (NuStar Logistics), a wholly owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy, NuStar Energy, the lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent, entered into a new unsecured \$124 million term loan credit agreement dated as of February 1, 2008 (Term Loan Credit Agreement). Also on March 20, 2008, NuStar Logistics borrowed all \$124 million available under the Term Loan Credit Agreement to fund a portion of the purchase price of the acquisition of the East Coast Asphalt Operations. NuStar Logistics' obligations under the Term Loan Credit Agreement are guaranteed by NuStar Energy and Kaneb Pipe Line Operating Partnership, L.P., a wholly owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy.

The terms of the Term Loan Credit Agreement are substantially similar to the terms of NuStar Logistics' 5-year revolving credit facility (2007 Revolving Credit Agreement), with the exception that:

- the Term Loan Credit Agreement is subject to mandatory prepayment upon the issuance by NuStar Energy or certain of its subsidiaries of any equity interests, hybrid equity securities, convertible securities or indebtedness;
- the interest rate margin for eurodollar and base rate loans contained in the Term Loan Credit Agreement is greater than that contained in the 5-year revolving credit facility;
- NuStar Logistics must pay a 0.050% fee on the principal amount of any loans outstanding under the term credit facility on April 1, 2008; and
- the Term Loan Credit Agreement contains a cross-default provision to NuStar Logistics' 2007 Revolving Credit Agreement.

The maturity date of the Term Loan Credit Agreement is June 15, 2008.

For a description of the terms of NuStar Logistics' 2007 Revolving Credit Agreement, please see NuStar Energy's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources —2007 Revolving Credit Agreement."

On March 20, 2008, NuStar Logistics' borrowings under the term credit facility were \$124 million.

#### Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits

- (a) The financial statements that will be required in connection with the Acquisition of the East Coast Asphalt Operations are not included in this Current Report on Form 8-K. NuStar Energy will file the required financial statements within 71 calendar days after the date this Current Report on Form 8-K was required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
- (b) The financial statements that will be required in connection with the Acquisition of the East Coast Asphalt Operations are not included in this Current Report on Form 8-K. NuStar Energy will file the required financial statements within 71 calendar days after the date this Current Report on Form 8-K was required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

- (c) 10.1 Crude Oil Sales Agreement between NuStar Marketing LLC and PDVSA-Petróleo S.A., an affiliate of Petróleos de Venezuela S.A., the national oil company of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, dated effective as of March 1, 2008.
  - 10.2 Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2008 among NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent
  - 10.3. Notice of Effectiveness, dated March 20, 2008
  - 10.4 Amendment to Sale and Purchase Agreement dated January 10, 2008, by and between CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC.
  - 10.5 Second Amendment to Sale and Purchase Agreement dated March 20, 2008, by and between CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC.

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

NuStar Energy L.P.

By: Riverwalk Logistics, L.P. its general partner

By: NuStar GP, LLC

its general partner

Date: March 25, 2008 By: <u>/s/ Amy L. Perry</u>

Amy L. Perry, Assistant Secretary

#### **Exhibit Index**

- 10.1 Crude Oil Sales Agreement between NuStar Marketing LLC and PDVSA-Petróleo S.A., an affiliate of Petróleos de Venezuela S.A., the national oil company of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, dated effective as of March 1, 2008.
- 10.2 Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2008 among NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent
- 10.3. Notice of Effectiveness, dated March 20, 2008
- 10.4 Amendment to Sale and Purchase Agreement dated January 10, 2008, by and between CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC.
- 10.5 Second Amendment to Sale and Purchase Agreement dated March 20, 2008, by and between CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC.

### CRUDE OIL SALES AGREEMENT

between

### PDVSA-PETRÓLEO S.A.

and

### NUSTAR MARKETING LLC

dated effective as of

March 1, 2008

### **Table of Contents**

	Page #	
Part I DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION	1	
Article 1 Definitions	1	
1.1 Definitions	1	
1.2 Construction	7	
Part II SPECIAL TERMS	7	
Article 2 Purchase and Sale	7	
Article 3 Quantity	7	
3.1 Annual Contract Quantity	7	
3.2 Monthly Contract Quantity	7	
Article 4 Destination; No Resale to Third Parties	9	
4.1 Utilization at the Refineries	9	
4.2 Discharge Documentation	9	
Article 5 Price; Adjustment of Price Mechanism 5.1 Price	9	
5.1 Price 5.2 Adjustment of Price Mechanism	9	
	9	
Article 6 Limited Market Adjustment	10	
6.1 Calculation of Limited Market Adjustment	10	
6.2 Expiration of Limited Market Adjustment	11	
Article 7 Underlifting	12	
Article 8 Payment Terms	12	
8.1 Currency, Time and Place of Payment; Overdue Payments	12	
8.2 Contents of Invoices; Substantiating Documentation	13	
8.3 Payment Expenses	13	
8.4 Security for Payment	13	
8.5 Suspension of Deliveries	14	
Article 9 Duration	14	
9.1 Term	14	
9.2 Renewal	14	
Part III STANDARD TERMS	14	
Article 10 Arrival Procedures and Lifting		
10.1 Lifting Program	14 14	
10.2 Substitution of Vessels	17	
10.3 Advice of ETA	17	

10.4	Notice of Readiness	17
10.5	Vessel Requirements; Security Regulations	18
Article 11 Loading Conditions; Demurrage		19
11.1	Berthing of Vessels; Commencement of Laytime	19
11.2	Shifting Loading Point of Vessels	20
11.3	Allowed Laytime	20
11.4	Adjustments to Laytime and Time on Demurrage	20
11.5	Demurrage	22
11.6	Buyer's Liability for Delay and Damage	23
Article 12	2 Quantity Measurements	23
12.1	Determination of Quantity	23
12.2	Volume Corrections for Temperature	24
12.3	Conclusiveness of Measurements	25
Article 13	3 Quality	25
13.1	Determination of Quality	25
13.2	Analysis of Samples	25
13.3	NO WARRANTIES	26
Article 1	4 Delivery	26
14.1	Passage of Title	26
14.2	Port and Loading Expenses	26
14.3	Loading Port Regulations	26
14.4	Buyer's Knowledge of Loading Port Facilities; Standard Procedures	26
14.5	Hazardous Warning Responsibility	27
Article 1	5 No Set-Off	27
Article 10	6 Notice of Claims	28
Article 1	7 Termination	28
17.1	Termination	28
17.2	Termination Not to Relieve Buyer of Obligations	29
17.3	Acceleration	29
17.4	Termination for an Insolvency Event	29
17.5	No Gifts	29
17.6	Other Rights and Remedies	29
Article 18	8 Confidentiality	30
Article 19	9 No Third-Party Beneficiaries; Assignment	30
Article 20	0 Force Majeure	31
20.1	Relief from Liability	31
20.2	Notice	31
20.3	Payment for Oil Sold and Delivered	31

20.4 20.5 20.6	Obligation to Apportion No Makeup of Deliveries Excused by Force Majeure No Extension of Contract; Right to Terminate	31 32 32
Article 2 21.1 21.2 21.3	21 Dispute Resolution; Governing Law Settlement by Arbitration Governing Law Buyer's Waiver	32 32 32 32
Article 2 22.1 22.2	22 Representations and Warranties Buyer Representations Seller Representations	32 32 33
Article 2 23.1 23.2	23 Liquidated Damages and Limitation of Liability Failure to Deliver Oil Limitation of Liability	34 34 34
Article 2	24 Compliance with Law	35
Article 2	25 No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies	35
Article 2	26 Severability of Provisions	35
Article 2	27 Notices	36
Article 28 Satisfactory Documentation		
Article 2 29.1 29.2	29 Merger Exclusive Agreement General Terms and Conditions	37 37 37
Article 3 30.1 30.2	30 Amendments and Waivers; Counterparts Amendments and Waivers Counterparts	37 37 37

#### CRUDE OIL SALES AGREEMENT

This **CRUDE OIL SALES AGREEMENT** ("<u>Agreement</u>") is entered into on March 19, 2008 and dated effective as of March 1, 2008, by and between PDVSA-Petróleo S.A., a corporation organized under the laws of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela ("<u>Seller</u>"), represented by Mr. Fernando Valera, Executive Director of Supply and Commerce, and NuStar Marketing LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Buyer</u>"), represented by Mr. Curtis V. Anastasio, its Chief Executive Officer and President. Seller and Buyer may sometimes hereinafter be referred to individually as a "<u>Party</u>", and, collectively, as the "<u>Parties</u>".

#### RECITALS

**WHEREAS**, NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an affiliate of Buyer ("<u>NAR</u>"), has agreed to acquire from CITGO Asphalt Refining Company ("<u>CARCO</u>") certain asphalt refineries located in Paulsboro, New Jersey and Savannah, Georgia ("<u>Refineries</u>") pursuant to that certain Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2007, between CARCO and NAR ("<u>SPA</u>");

**WHEREAS**, one of the conditions to NAR's proceeding to a closing of the transactions contemplated by the SPA is the execution and delivery by Seller of this Agreement to supply crude oil to the Refineries during the term;

**WHEREAS**, Seller desires to sell and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase and lift from Seller, crude oil for processing at the Refineries in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof;

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and undertakings hereinafter set forth or referred to in this Agreement, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

# PART I DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

### Article 1 Definitions

- 1.1 <u>Definitions</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms, when capitalized, shall have the meanings indicated below:
  - (a) "Affiliate" means with respect to another entity, any entity which, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, such other entity. For purposes of this definition, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with") means (i) the ownership, directly or indirectly, of at least 50% of the voting securities or other equity interests in such entity and/or

- (ii) the right to determine management direction and policies of such entity, whether through majority representation on the applicable governing board or by contract;
- (b) "Aggregate Deliveries" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 23.1;
- (c) "Aggregate Nominated Volume" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 23.1;
- (d) "Agreed Laydays" shall mean the three-Day range for the arrival of a vessel set forth in an Agreed Lifting Program determined pursuant to Article 10.1;
- (e) "Agreed Lifting Program" shall mean a final lifting program for a Month determined pursuant to Article 10.1;
- (f) "Agreement" shall mean this Crude Oil Sales Agreement, including this Part I, the Special Terms contained in Part II hereof, the Standard Terms contained in Part III hereof, and all Exhibits attached hereto, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time;
- (g) "All Fast" shall mean such time as a vessel is completely moored at the cargo transfer point with gangway down and secured;
- (h) "Allowed Laytime" shall mean the period of time which Seller shall be allowed, in accordance with Article 11.3, to complete the loading of a vessel without incurring demurrage;
- (i) "Annual Accounting" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 23.1;
- (j) "Annual Contract Quantity" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 3.1;
- (k) "API" shall mean the American Petroleum Institute;
- (l) "API-MPMS" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 12;
- (m) "ASBA" shall mean the Association of Ship Brokers and Agents;
- (n) "Asphalt Season" shall mean the period comprised of the Asphalt Season Months of any Year;
- (o) "Asphalt Season Months" shall mean the calendar months of March, April, May, June, July, August and September;
- (p) "ASTM" shall mean the American Society for Testing and Materials;
- (q) "Barrel" shall mean a quantity of crude oil equal to forty-two (42) Gallons;

- (r) "Banking Day" shall mean any Day other than Saturday, Sunday or a Day on which banking institutions in New York, New York, United States are authorized or required by law to close;
- (s) "BCF 13" shall mean crude oil of the Bachaquero BCF-13 type, typically having characteristics within the ranges specified in Exhibit 1;
- (t) "Boscán" shall mean crude oil of the Boscán type, typically having characteristics within the ranges specified in Exhibit 1;
- (u) "Business Day" shall mean any Day other than Saturday, Sunday or any national holiday in Venezuela;
- (v) "Buyer" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement;
- (w) "CARCO" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement;
- (x) "Cargo" shall mean a cargo of Oil to be sold by Seller and loaded by Buyer into one of its vessels during any Lifting Month;
- (y) "Contract Year" shall mean, except with respect to the First Contract Year and the Final Contract Year, a Year;
- (z) "Credit" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 6.1(c);
- (aa) "Cumulative Net Surplus" means the sum of all Quarterly Surpluses less the sum of all Quarterly Deficits since the commencement date of the Agreement;
- (bb) This paragraph (bb) is intentionally left blank;
- (cc) "Day" shall mean a calendar day;
- (dd) "Deliveries" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 23.1;
- (ee) "Defaulting Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 17.4;
- (ff) "ETA" shall mean estimated time of arrival;
- (gg) "Final Contract Year" shall mean the period commencing on January 1 of the Year in which the later of the expiration of the Initial Term or the last Renewal Term of this Agreement occurs and ending on the anniversary date of this Agreement occurring in such Year;
- (hh) "First Contract Year" shall mean the period commencing on the date of this Agreement and ending on December 31, 2008;

- (ii) "FOB" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Incoterms (2000 edition), published by the International Chamber of Commerce; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, in the event of any conflict between the provisions of the Incoterms definition and this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply;
- (jj) Formula Price" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 6.2(a);
- (kk) "Force Majeure" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 20.1;
- (ll) "Gallon" shall mean a unit of volume, measured at 60°F (equivalent to 15.56°C), equal to 231 cubic inches or 3.7853 liters;
- (mm) "General Terms and Conditions" shall mean the Ministry's General Terms and Conditions for PDVSA FOB Crude Oil Sales (November 2006) attached hereto as <u>Exhibit 6</u>, as the same may be modified as provided herein;
- (nn) "ICC Rules" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 21.1;
- (oo) "Investment Grade" shall mean a rating of (i) BBB- or higher by Standard and Poor's Rating Services, (ii) Baa3 or higher by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and (iii) BBB- or higher by Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (or, if any such agency changes its rating system, the equivalent successor rating applied by such agency at the time in question);
- (pp) "Governmental Mandate" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 20.1;
- (qq) "Initial Term" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 9.1;
- (ii) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or admits in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due; (iii) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors; (iv) (A) institutes a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it, or (B) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation and such proceeding either (1) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (2) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within sixty (60) Days of the institution or presentation thereof; (v) passes a resolution for its winding-up or liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or

merger); (vi) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of a receiver, bankruptcy trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; or (vii) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied or enforced on or against all or substantially all its assets; provided that such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within thirty (30) Days thereafter;

- (ss) "ISPS Code" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 10.5.2(d);
- (tt) "Letter of Credit" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 8.4;
- (uu) "Lifting Month" shall mean the Month for which a Cargo is programmed for lifting;
- (vv) "Limited Market Adjustment" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 6.1(a);
- (ww) "Loading Point" (either standing alone or as part of another defined term) shall mean a terminal, berth, jetty, buoy, dock, anchorage, sea terminal, mooring, submarine loading line, or any other place, including alongside lighters or other vessels, where a vessel can be loaded;
- (xx) "Loading Port" shall mean any of Seller's Loading Points located at Puerto Miranda, La Salina and Bajo Grande;
- (yy) "MBD" shall mean a thousand Barrels per Day;
- (zz) "Ministry" shall mean the Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Energía y Petróleo of Venezuela;
- (aaa) "Month" shall mean a calendar month;
- (bbb) "Monthly Contract Quantity" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 3.2;
- (ccc) "NAR" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement;
- (ddd) "Nominated Volume" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 23.1;
- (eee) "Non-Affiliated Buyer Purchases" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 6.2(a);
- (fff) "Non-Defaulting Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 17.4;
- (ggg) "NOR" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 10.4;

- (hhh) "Oil" shall mean Venezuelan crude oil of the types specified in Exhibit 1;
- (iii) "P&I Club" shall mean a maritime protection and indemnity mutual insurance company;
- (jjj) "Parties" shall mean Seller and Buyer, which may sometimes hereinafter be referred to individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties";
- (kkk) "Quarter" means any period of three consecutive Months commencing January 1, April 1, July 1 or October 1 of any Year;
- (lll) "Quarterly Deficit" means, with respect to any Quarter, the amount, if any, by which the Formula Price is less than the Maya parity price calculated in accordance with Exhibit 4;
- (mmm) "Quarterly Surplus" means, with respect to any Quarter, the amount, if any, by which the Formula Price exceeds the Maya parity price calculated in accordance with Exhibit 4;
- (nnn) "Ratings Agencies" shall mean Standard and Poor's Rating Services, Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and Fitch Ratings, Ltd.;
- (000) "Refineries" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement;
- (ppp) "Renewal Term" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 9.2;
- (qqq) "S & W" shall mean sediments and water;
- (rrr) "Security Regulations" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 10.5.2(d);
- (sss) "Seller" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement;
- (ttt) "Specified Loading Port" shall mean a Loading Port specified in an Agreed Lifting Program;
- (uuu) "SPA" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement;
- (vvv) "Storage Facility" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 6.1(b);
- (www) "United States" or "U.S." shall mean the United States of America;
- (xxx) "U.S. Dollars" or "U.S.\$" and "cents" shall mean the lawful currency of the United States of America;
- (yyy) "Venezuela" shall mean the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela;

- "Worldscale" shall mean, at any relevant time under this Agreement, the applicable standard freight rate stated in the most recent edition of the New Worldwide Tanker Nominal Freight Scale jointly published by Worldscale Association (London) Limited and Worldscale Association (NYC) Inc., expressed in U.S. dollars per metric ton for the route specified;
- (aaaa) "Worldscale Assessment" shall mean, at any relevant time under this Agreement, the current assessment published in the most recent edition of Platt's Oilgram Price Report, under the table representing "Dirty" cargoes of 50,000 metric ton size for Caribbean to U.S. Gulf Coast routes, in the column labeled "WS"; and
- (bbbb) "Year" shall mean a calendar year.
- 1.2 <u>Construction</u>. Terms defined in the singular have the corresponding meanings in the plural, and vice versa. All headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to Parts, Articles and Exhibits are to the Parts, Articles and Exhibits of this Agreement. The terms "hereof," "herein," "hereunder" and words of similar import shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to the particular Part, Article or Exhibit in which such term appears.

# PART II SPECIAL TERMS

# Article 2 Purchase and Sale

Subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Seller shall sell and deliver, and Buyer shall purchase and lift, Oil of the Boscán type and the Bachaquero BCF-13 type, each having the typical characteristics set forth on <u>Exhibit 1</u> and in the quantities set forth on <u>Exhibit 2</u>.

# Article 3 **Quantity**

- 3.1 <u>Annual Contract Quantity.</u> Except as performance may be expressly excused in accordance with this Agreement, in each Contract Year Seller shall sell and deliver, and Buyer shall purchase and lift, an aggregate quantity of Oil equal to seventy-five thousand (75,000) Barrels times the number of Days in such Contract Year, apportioned between Barrels of Oil of the Boscán type and the BCF-13 type as set forth in <u>Exhibit 2</u> (the "<u>Annual Contract Quantity</u>"), subject to an annual tolerance of three hundred twenty-five thousand (325,000) Barrels for each such grade of Oil; provided that, with respect to the First Contract Year and the Final Contract Year, the annual tolerance shall not be prorated for such partial Year periods.
- 3.2 <u>Monthly Contract Quantity</u>. In satisfaction of Buyer's obligation to purchase and lift, and Seller's obligation to sell and deliver, the Annual Contract Quantity (except as performance

may be expressly excused in accordance with this Agreement) during each Month of each Contract Year, Seller shall sell and deliver, and Buyer shall purchase and lift, such number of Barrels of Oil of the Boscán and BCF-13 type as set forth in <a href="Exhibit 2">Exhibit 2</a> in respect of such Month (the "Monthly Contract Quantity"), subject to the following exceptions:

- (a) an operational tolerance of five percent (5%) on each Cargo of Oil Buyer is scheduled to lift due to conditions at the Loading Port or affecting the vessel utilized by Buyer;
- (b) notwithstanding Buyer's obligations under Article 10.1.5 to minimize deadfreight in developing the Agreed Lifting Program for any Month and solely for the purpose of eliminating deadfreight, Seller shall at its option:
  - (i) permit Buyer to overlift the amount required to accept all vessels as proposed by Buyer in its Lifting Program for such Month; it being understood that Seller shall have no obligation to permit an overlifting in any Month greater than 250,000 Barrels of Boscán and 325,000 Barrels of BCF-13; or
  - (ii) defer lifting for the last vessel to the first ten (10) Days of the immediately subsequent Month; or
  - (iii) specify a short load for the last vessel of either or both types of Oil to limit deliveries in such Month to a level at or above the Monthly Contract Quantity;

provided that: (A) if Seller selects clause (i) above, the resulting quantity overlifted shall be subtracted from the Monthly Contract Quantity for the immediately subsequent Month; (B) if Seller selects clauses (ii) or (iii) above, the resulting quantity underlifted shall be added to the Monthly Contract Quantity for the immediately subsequent Month; and (C) if Seller selects clause (iii) above, Buyer shall present a claim for reimbursement to Seller, and notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, Seller shall reimburse Buyer for the allocable portion of deadfreight cost based on the unit cost of freight for the subject vessel and Buyer's proposed lifting volume applied to the short-loaded volume;

(c) notwithstanding the foregoing clauses (a) and (b) to the contrary, solely in respect of the first Month of the First Contract Year, Buyer shall have the option to nominate a Monthly Contract Quantity with a tolerance of thirty percent (30%) for each grade of Oil to enable Buyer to offset any Oil inventory surplus or shortfall at the Refineries.

In the event Buyer overlifts or underlifts the Monthly Contract Quantity in a given Month as a result of any of the exceptions set forth in clauses (a) or (b) above, Buyer shall accumulate and apply the net amount of such overlifted or underlifted quantity toward the Monthly Contract Quantity to be lifted in any subsequent Month.

# Article 4 Destination; No Resale to Third Parties

- 4.1 <u>Utilization at the Refineries</u>. The Oil to be sold by Seller to Buyer is intended to be utilized by Buyer at the Refineries. No Cargo purchased by Buyer under this Agreement may be shipped to any other facility except:
  - (a) a facility utilized by Buyer for storage of Oil;
  - (b) a facility with which Buyer has an arrangement to process such Cargo and receive all refined products produced therefrom;
- (c) any other U.S. refinery owned by Buyer or its Affiliates; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, any delivery to such other U.S. refinery shall not relieve Buyer or its Affiliates from any of its obligations to lift, or receive delivery of, the full quantity of crude oil required to be lifted or received from Seller under any other long-term supply arrangement for such refinery. In the event that Buyer shall deliver any Cargo of Oil purchased from Seller hereunder to any other refinery within Buyer's or its Affiliate's U.S. refining system which is located in a geographic market other than that in which the Refineries are located, the prices determined pursuant to the provisions of <u>Exhibit 3</u> shall be the Seller's prices applicable for deliveries in such other geographic market; or
- (d) with respect to any Cargo lifted by Buyer, any facility with the express written consent of Seller having been first obtained, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld if it is requested in connection with an event described in Article 20.1.

Buyer shall not resell any Oil purchased under this Agreement to any Person not an Affiliate of Buyer.

4.2 <u>Discharge Documentation</u>. Upon Seller's request, Buyer shall provide, for any Cargo of Oil delivered hereunder, a discharge certificate, which may consist of: (a) an independent inspector's certificate of discharge, (b) a customs fees receipt or other government document evidencing the port in which the Cargo of Oil was discharged, (c) the exemption from customs fees at the port of discharge or (d) any other document that Seller deems an appropriate substitute for the foregoing.

# Article 5 Price; Adjustment of Price Mechanism

- 5.1 <u>Price</u>. The price for each type of Oil to be sold by Seller and purchased by Buyer hereunder shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of <u>Exhibit 3</u>, as adjusted by the Limited Market Adjustment determined in accordance with the provisions of Article 6 and <u>Exhibit 4</u>.
- 5.2 <u>Adjustment of Price Mechanism</u>. Seller shall have the right at any time and from time to time, based on (i) discontinuance of the published market markers in the pricing formulas set forth in <u>Exhibit 3</u> or the Limited Market Adjustment set forth in <u>Exhibit 4</u>, (ii) changes in circumstances which make the applicability of the published market markers in the pricing

formula or the Limited Market Adjustment inconsistent with a competitive market-based pricing formula, or (iii) changes in the quality of one or more types of Oil, to notify Buyer that it wishes to adjust or amend the pricing provisions of Exhibit 3 and/or the Limited Market Adjustment in Exhibit 4 with the objective of ensuring that the price of Oil reflects market conditions for similar crude oils. Seller's notice shall state the proposed effective date thereof, which shall be no earlier than thirty (30) Days after the date of its notice; provided, however, that the succeeding provisions of this Article 5.2 shall only apply if such proposed adjustment or amendment is applicable to Seller's publicly announced pricing formula for deliveries of Oil destined for ports in the United States and that the new price shall not apply to Oil already nominated by Buyer. Buyer shall then have thirty (30) Days in which to accept or reject such proposed changes. If Buyer accepts Seller's proposal or does not notify Seller within such thirty (30) Day period that it rejects Seller's proposal, then the provisions of Exhibit 3 and/or Exhibit 4 shall be deemed amended in accordance with Seller's proposal as of the effective date specified in Seller's notice. If Buyer rejects Seller's proposal, then the provisions of Exhibit 3 and/or Exhibit 4 shall remain in effect and unchanged; provided, however, that Seller shall have the right to submit the matter to arbitration pursuant to Article 21.1. In such arbitration, each Party shall submit its proposed alternative pricing mechanism, and the arbitration panel shall determine the appropriate adjustments, if any, to be made to the pricing formulas and/or the Limited Market Adjustment as of the effective date specified in Seller's notice.

# Article 6 <u>Limited Market Adjustment</u>

#### 6.1 Calculation of Limited Market Adjustment.

- (a) For each Quarter during the Initial Term, Seller shall set off and deduct, and Buyer shall receive a credit and reduction for, an amount equal to (a) the difference, if any, between (i) the price per Barrel of Oil charged by Seller with respect to each Cargo of Oil lifted during such Quarter calculated in accordance with Exhibit 3 and (ii) the price per Barrel of Oil calculated in accordance with Exhibit 4, multiplied by (b) the respective quantities of Boscán Oil and BCF-13 Oil delivered to the Refineries with respect to each such Cargo of Oil. Such setoff, deduction, credit and reduction is referred to herein as the "Limited Market Adjustment," and each Limited Market Adjustment shall be determined and applied in accordance with clause (b) below; it being understood that any Cargo of Oil not delivered to either of the Refineries shall be disregarded for purposes of the Limited Market Adjustment.
- (b) In the event that Buyer shall deliver any Cargo of Oil to any storage facility ("Storage Facility") for subsequent redelivery to a Refinery, upon the redelivery of such Cargo to a Refinery, such Cargo shall, for purposes of calculating the Limited Market Adjustment, if any, applicable to such Quarter, be deemed to have been delivered to a Refinery in the Quarter within which such redelivery occurs and the prices to be used shall be the prices applicable at the time of the original purchase.
- (c) To the extent that, at any time, the sum of all Quarterly Surpluses exceeds the sum of all Quarterly Deficits less any previous Credits (as defined below) by more than U.S.\$10 Million, Buyer shall receive a credit (each, a "Credit") against the purchase price of Boscán Oil or BCF-13 Oil delivered to the Refineries or any Storage Facility in the succeeding Quarter equal

to the amount by which the Cumulative Net Surplus, less previous Credits, exceeds U.S.\$10 Million, applied at the rate of U.S.\$5.00 per Barrel beginning with the first Barrel delivered in such succeeding Quarter.

- (d) Within ten (10) Days after each Quarter during the Initial Term, Buyer shall provide to Seller a detailed report including (i) the calculation of the Limited Market Adjustment for the preceding Quarter in accordance with Exhibit 4, and (ii) the calculation of any Credit for such Quarter. Within ten (10) Days after receipt of such report, Seller shall notify Buyer of any claimed discrepancy therein and any proposed amendment thereto; it being understood that the Parties shall, in such event, undertake in good faith to resolve such discrepancy promptly and in any event prior to the issuance of the first invoice for Oil delivered in such Quarter.
- (e) For purposes of calculating any Limited Market Adjustment as well as for purposes of applying any Credit, Oil shall be considered to have been delivered to a Refinery or a Storage Facility on the Day on which the bill of lading for the Cargo in question was issued at the Loading Port, as reflected in such bill of lading.
- (f) To the extent that, at the expiration of the Initial Term, the sum of all Quarterly Surpluses exceeds the sum of all Quarterly Deficits less any previous Credits (irrespective of the U.S.\$10 Million threshold specified in clause (b) above), such difference, if any, shall be paid in cash by Seller to Buyer or delivered in Oil at the price provided under this Agreement, at the option of Seller, in either case within thirty (30) Days after expiration of the Initial Term.
- (g) Any outstanding Credit owing to Buyer shall accrue interest at a per annum rate equal to one percent (1%) above the prime rate in effect from time to time as announced by Citibank, N.A. at its principal office in New York, New York, United States, calculated from the last Day of the Quarter in which such Credit arises until the bill of lading date for the Cargo of Oil to which such Credit is applied.

#### 6.2 Expiration of Limited Market Adjustment.

(a) The Limited Market Adjustment clauses set out above will be deemed to have lapsed once the average volume of Seller's export sales of heavy crude oils (i.e., crude oils with an API gravity less than 13 degrees and a sulfur content greater than 2.5% by weight) subject to the formula price for each of Boscán Oil or BCF-13 Oil set forth in Exhibit 3 ("Formula Price") for deliveries into the US Gulf Coast, the US East Coast and the Caribbean to non-Affiliated buyers other than Buyer exceeds 60,000 BPD for a period of fourteen (14) consecutive Asphalt Season Months, based on contracts with an average of two (2) or more different customers during the same period provided that (i) such non-Affiliated buyers purchase crude oil from Seller at the Formula Price on a spot basis or pursuant to contracts under which they have the right to terminate upon prior notice of ninety (90) Days or less, (ii) the Formula Price applicable to such non-Affiliated buyers does not include a price protection clause and (iii) any purchases of crude oil by Buyer from Seller pursuant to spot or term agreements in excess of the Annual Contract Quantity shall be deemed to be purchases by non-Affiliated buyers for purpose of (i) and (ii) above ("Non-Affiliated Buyer Purchases"). Seller shall report periodically to Buyer on the average volume of crude oil sold under the Formula Price to such non-Affiliated buyers and shall

provide written confirmation to Buyer when such average daily volume conditions have been met.

(b) In the event that, after the Limited Market Adjustment mechanism is deemed to have lapsed, (i) during any six (6) month period, the average volume of Seller's export sales of heavy crude oils (i.e., crude oils with an API gravity less than 13 degrees and a sulfur content greater than 2.5% by weight) for deliveries into the US Gulf Coast, the US East Coast and the Caribbean to non-Affiliated buyers (including Non-Affiliated Buyer Purchases) other than Buyer at the Formula Price on a spot basis or pursuant to term supply contracts under which such buyers have the right to terminate upon prior notice of ninety (90) Days or less is less than 20,000 BPD, or (ii) the average number of such non-Affiliated buyers of crude oil at the Formula Price (other than Buyer) has been less than two (2) per Asphalt Season, then Seller and Buyer will agree on such alternative pricing mechanism as may be necessary to meet the objective that the price of Oil be market-related in parity with crude oil of the Maya type.

### Article 7 <u>Underlifting</u>

Buyer acknowledges that its commitment to purchase the Annual Contract Quantity in each Year is an essential term of this Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement and subject to the provisions of Article 20, if, in any Lifting Month, Buyer fails to lift any Cargo scheduled to be lifted during such Lifting Month, Seller shall have the right to recover its damages for Buyer's breach of its lifting obligation. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 7, Buyer shall not be required to lift, nor be subject to any liability for lifting less than, the Monthly Contract Quantity in any Month if and to the extent that:

- (a) such underlifting is due to demonstrated operational reasons concerning only the Loading Ports or the vessels involved and does not in any event exceed ten percent (10%) of the Monthly Contract Quantity for such Month;
- (b) such underlifting comes as a consequence of Buyer performing remedial work (whether planned or unplanned) or an annual turnaround at the Refineries, or either of them, provided that Buyer notifies Seller of any planned turnaround at least ninety (90) Days prior to the Month in which the turnaround is planned and of any planned remedial work as soon as reasonably possible;
- (c) such underlifting is the result of Buyer decreasing inventories of Oil at the Refineries, or either of them, having previously increased such inventories by lifting in excess of the Monthly Contract Quantity due to increased risk of weather-related interruption of supply; or
  - (d) such underlifting is due to an underdelivery by Seller.

# Article 8 Payment Terms

8.1 <u>Currency, Time and Place of Payment; Overdue Payments</u>. Buyer shall make all payments required to be made by it under this Agreement in immediately available U.S. Dollars, without any discount or deduction whatsoever, by wire transfer to such account at such bank as

may be designated by Seller from time to time. Payments in respect of Oil sold and delivered shall be made within thirty (30) Days after the date of the bill of lading therefor (bill of lading date excluded). All other payments to Seller shall be made fifteen (15) Days after presentation by Seller of a written demand setting forth the provisions of this Agreement giving rise to the payment obligation, the nature of such obligation, and the amount thereof. If any payment hereunder is due on a Day which is not a Banking Day, such payment shall be due on the immediately following Banking Day. In the event that Buyer fails to make any payment when due, then, to the extent permitted by applicable law and without prejudice to the application of any other provision hereof or to any other remedy provided to Seller under this Agreement or otherwise (including, without limitation, Articles 8.4 and 8.5), interest shall accrue daily on the amount of the overdue payment, commencing on the date such payment was due, at a rate per annum equal to one percent (1%) above the prime rate in effect from time to time as announced by Citibank, N.A. at its principal office in New York, New York, United States; it being understood and agreed that each change in the prime rate shall take effect on the Day on which such change is announced by Citibank, N.A. Interest shall be computed for the actual number of Days elapsed on the basis of a year consisting of three hundred sixty (360) Days, payable on demand.

- 8.2 <u>Contents of Invoices</u>; <u>Substantiating Documentation</u>. Each invoice shall set forth at least the following information: (a) the date(s) of delivery in respect of which the invoice is rendered; (b) the Loading Point(s) for such delivery; (c) the volume of the delivery stated in Barrels; and (d) the purchase price for each type of Oil comprising the delivery, and the terms of payment. Upon request, each Party shall furnish to the other Party all available substantiating documents incident to the delivery, including a satisfactory source document for each volume delivered during any Month. The source documents shall state at least the volume, type and quality of Oil delivered and method of measurement, the corrected API gravity, temperature, and S & W content.
- 8.3 <u>Payment Expenses</u>. Buyer shall bear all expenses and bank charges in connection with any payments made to Seller under this Agreement, including, without limitation, any costs of establishing and obtaining confirmation of a Letter of Credit referred to in Article 8.4.
- 8.4 <u>Security for Payment</u>. If at any time (i) Buyer fails to make any payment required to be made by it hereunder when and as the same shall become due and payable, (ii) Buyer defaults in any of its material obligations under this Agreement, or (iii) the senior unsecured long-term debt securities of Buyer for which there is no recourse to or credit enhancement from any party other than NuStar Energy L.P. or its subsidiaries is rated below Investment Grade by at least two of the three Ratings Agencies, then Seller shall have the right to require Buyer (at Buyer's option) to purchase Oil or make other payments required hereunder by advance payment of immediately available funds or by posting of an irrevocable documentary or standby letter of credit ("<u>Letter of Credit</u>"); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that any such advance payment or Letter of Credit shall no longer be required, and if outstanding, it shall be promptly returned by Seller, when and if such debt securities are rated Investment Grade or better by at least two of the three Ratings Agencies. The amount of the advance payment or Letter of Credit shall be equal to Seller's reasonable estimate of the value of Oil, calculated in accordance with <u>Exhibit 3</u>, for which the advance payment or a Letter of Credit is provided (which may be, at Seller's discretion, for a particular shipment or for some or all shipments in a Month, plus ten percent (10%)), and paid or

posted not later than seven (7) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays. Any such Letter of Credit shall be opened or confirmed by an international bank having a net asset value of not less than Two Hundred Fifty Million U.S. Dollars (U.S.\$250,000,000) and such Letter of Credit shall be otherwise satisfactory in form and substance to Seller.

8.5 <u>Suspension of Deliveries</u>. Without prejudice and in addition to any of Seller's rights under Article 17 or otherwise, if Buyer fails to make any undisputed payment required to be made by it hereunder when the same shall become due and payable or fails to make an advance payment or post a Letter of Credit as required in accordance with Article 8.4, then Seller shall have the right at its sole discretion to suspend further deliveries of Oil until Buyer makes the required payment, together with any accrued interest thereon, or posts a Letter of Credit as required by Seller in accordance with Article 8.4.

# Article 9 **Duration**

- 9.1 <u>Term</u>. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date hereof and shall continue in full force and effect until the seventh (7th) anniversary date of this Agreement, ("Initial Term").
- 9.2 <u>Renewal</u>. This Agreement shall be renewed for successive two (2) Year terms after the Initial Term (each, a "<u>Renewal Term</u>"), unless earlier terminated by a Party in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Either Party may terminate the Agreement at the end of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term by delivering written notice of termination at least one (1) year prior to the last Day of the Initial Term or to the Renewal Term in question.

#### PART III STANDARD TERMS

# Article 10 Arrival Procedures and Lifting

- 10.1 Lifting Program.
- 10.1.1 Not later than thirty five (35) Days prior to the beginning of the next programmed Lifting Month, Buyer shall furnish Seller with a proposed lifting program for such Lifting Month, specifying the following:
  - (a) a Specified Loading Port for each delivery requested for such Lifting Month;
  - (b) a three-Day period for the arrival of each vessel;
  - (c) each type of Oil to be lifted by Buyer's vessels;
  - (d) the number of Cargos to be lifted and the quantity and type of Oil comprising each Cargo;
  - (e) the port of discharge of each Cargo;

(f) in respect of the lifting program for the previously programmed Lifting Month, (i) the name, size and dimensions of each vessel designated for lifting during such Lifting Month, together with the completed vetting information required by Seller for each such vessel; (ii) the names of the vessel's agent and Buyer's representative, and the vessel's P&I Club, which shall be a member of the International Group of P&I Clubs; (iii) documentation instructions; (iv) the time required for deballasting (if any, but which, in any event, shall not exceed six hours); (v) the distribution of the Oil to be loaded (e.g., commingled or segregated); (vi) the name of the proposed independent inspector; and (vii) for at least the last ten (10) loading operations for crude oil for each nominated vessel, the volume loaded as measured on shore in shore tanks or by flow meters and the corresponding volume loaded as measured on board, such volume to be evidenced by documentation (including ullage and innage reports and onboard quantity and slop certificates) satisfactory to Seller; and

(g) an estimate of the volumes of the types of Oil that Buyer desires to purchase during the three (3) Lifting Months following such Lifting Month.

If Buyer does not furnish Seller with a proposed lifting program complying with the requirements of this Article 10.1.1 for the following Lifting Month within the period specified above, Buyer shall be required to accept the lifting program for such Lifting Month established by Seller.

Not later than thirty-five (35) Days prior to the beginning of the first programmed Lifting Month of each Contract Year, Seller shall provide Buyer with a list of objective vetting criteria in respect of vessels acceptable to Seller during such Contract Year. Buyer shall obtain completed vetting information for each vessel nominated by Buyer and submit the same to Seller in accordance with Article 10.1.1(f). Seller shall have the absolute right to reject any vessel nominated by Buyer that does not satisfy Seller's objective vetting criteria.

10.1.2 If the name of a vessel is not known at the time the proposed lifting program for the following Lifting Month is furnished to Seller, Buyer shall notify Seller of such name and other data referred to in Article 10.1.1(f) as soon as possible, but in any event not later than seven (7) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays for the unspecified vessel. Seller may reject Buyer's vessel nomination in the event such vessel does not satisfy Seller's objective vetting criteria, in which case Buyer shall take immediate action to nominate another vessel acceptable to Seller. If the Parties do not reach agreement on nomination of another vessel at least five (5) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays, Seller shall have the right to cancel that lifting without prejudice to any and all other rights Seller has under this Agreement and without prejudice to Seller's claim for any losses or expenses caused by Buyer's failure to nominate an acceptable vessel. If Seller, at its sole option, elects nevertheless to load a vessel agreed on less than five (5) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays, the loading of the vessel shall be subject to berth, jetty, buoy, loading platform and loading system availability, as applicable. In no event shall laytime or time on demurrage be charged to Seller for delays incurred because the Parties have not agreed on a vessel within five (5) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays.

10.1.3 Seller shall be deemed to have accepted Buyer's proposed lifting program for the following Lifting Month unless Seller has notified Buyer of alterations thereto at least fifteen

(15) Days prior to the beginning of such Lifting Month. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, so long as Buyer's proposed lifting program for such Lifting Month nominates a quantity of Oil conforming to the Monthly Contract Quantity, as such quantity may be adjusted pursuant to Article 7 and Article 20, and subject to the exceptions set forth in Article 3.2, Seller shall not alter the quantities of Oil described in Buyer's proposed lifting program. Seller shall in any event notify Buyer within such time period of the Specified Loading Port to be used by Buyer's vessels, to be narrowed to a specific Loading Point not less than five (5) Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays (subject to adjustment as provided in Article 10.1.4) and the name(s) of the independent inspector(s) proposed by Buyer and accepted by Seller for purposes of Article 12 and Article 13. If Seller timely notifies Buyer of alterations to the lifting program, Buyer shall be deemed to have agreed to those alterations unless, within five (5) Days after Buyer's receipt of Seller's notice, Buyer requests Seller to reconsider such alterations. Seller's decision following any such reconsideration shall be final and binding on both Parties. If Seller notifies Buyer that it objects to an independent inspector nominated by Buyer, the Parties shall designate another independent inspector by mutual agreement. The lifting program as finally determined pursuant to the provisions of Article 10.1 for any Lifting Month is referred to herein as the "Agreed Lifting Program" for such Lifting Month, and the three (3) Day range for the arrival of any vessel contained in any Agreed Lifting Program is referred to herein as the "Agreed Laydays" for such vessel.

10.1.4 Seller may notify Buyer that any vessel scheduled in an Agreed Lifting Program shall load the Oil at a Loading Point in the Specified Loading Port different from the Loading Point previously specified pursuant to Article 10.1.3 or shall load the Oil at two (2) Loading Ports, provided that such notice is given by Seller (a) at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the ETA of such vessel, if Buyer has notified Seller of an ETA falling within or after its Agreed Laydays, or (b) at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays, if Buyer has notified Seller of an ETA which is earlier than the first Day of the Agreed Laydays. Seller shall not be liable for any charges or expenses incurred by Buyer, including, but not limited to, deviation, as a result of a shift from one Loading Point to another, or the specification of two (2) Loading Ports; provided, however, if Seller exercises its option to change a previously declared Loading Point or to load at two (2) Loading Ports, (i) Buyer shall be compensated by Seller for any time by which the steaming time to the Loading Port(s) or Point(s) to which a vessel is finally ordered exceeds that which would have been taken if vessel had been ordered to proceed to such Port(s) or Point(s) in the first instance at the deviation rate per running Day and pro rata for a part thereof; and (ii) Seller shall pay for extra bunkers consumed during excess time at documented actual replacement cost at the port where bunkers are next taken, less a credit for daily in port fuel consumption during any period of waiting.

10.1.5 Buyer, taking into account Loading Port constraints, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to nominate vessels and schedule liftings so as to avoid deadfreight. Any deadfreight incurred as a result of Buyer's nomination of a vessel whose dimensions are larger than those required to transport the Cargo it is scheduled to lift pursuant to Article 10.1.1 shall be for the sole account of Buyer, and Seller shall have no liability therefor by reason of its acceptance of Buyer's nomination. In the event that Buyer has a claim against Seller for deadfreight expenses incurred as a result of an underdelivery by Seller, subject to the operational tolerance set forth in Article 3.2 and any event of Force Majeure under Article 20 Buyer shall present such claim in accordance with Article 16.

10.1.6 In working toward each Agreed Lifting Program, the Parties shall cooperate with one another and exercise commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the objective that Oil be nominated, delivered and lifted on a ratable basis, taking into consideration turnarounds, planned and unplanned maintenance, and other operational considerations at the Loading Ports and the Refineries. In the event of scheduled maintenance turnarounds at the Refineries, Buyer will give Seller not less than ninety (90) Days prior written notice of such scheduled maintenance turnaround, and will use commercially reasonable efforts to re-route the volumes affected by the reduced processing capacity of the Refineries to other refineries within Buyer's U.S. domestic refining system or otherwise redirect such volumes in accordance with Article 4.1 of this Agreement. The Parties will cooperate in good faith to make up for any deliveries of Oil not purchased by Buyer during the turnaround period; provided, however, that Seller shall have no obligation to make up for the volumes of Oil not purchased and delivered during such turnaround period.

10.2 <u>Substitution of Vessels</u>. Buyer shall be entitled to substitute another vessel for any vessel designated in an Agreed Lifting Program; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the substitute vessel shall have substantially the same characteristics (including carrying capacity) as the vessel previously nominated and accepted pursuant to Article 10.1 and shall meet the requirements for vessels loading at the particular Loading Port involved; and provided, further, that Buyer shall give Seller notice of the substitution not less than ninety-six (96) hours prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays for the substituted vessel and shall then provide all of the information specified in Article 10.1.1(e). In the event that Buyer substitutes a vessel other than in accordance with the provisions of this Article 10.2, Seller may in its sole discretion refuse to load such vessel, or it may load such vessel at any Loading Port on any Day it may specify, whether or not within the Agreed Laydays for such vessel, and Seller shall in no event be liable for demurrage, deadfreight or any other charges with respect to the loading of any such vessel.

- 10.3 <u>Advice of ETA</u>. Buyer shall arrange for each vessel to advise the Loading Port operator and the vessel agent (with a copy to Seller delivered by e-mail or facsimile) of its ETA at each of the following times:
  - (a) immediately upon the vessel's leaving its last port of call before the Loading Port or ninety-six (96) hours before ETA, whichever is later;
  - (b) seventy-two (72) hours before ETA;
  - (c) forty-eight (48) hours before ETA;
  - (d) twenty-four (24) hours before ETA; and
  - (e) immediately upon learning of any material change in its ETA.

Seller shall not be liable for demurrage, deadfreight or any other charges in respect of any delay in loading attributable to the failure of a vessel to give notice of its ETA at any of the times enumerated above.

10.4 Notice of Readiness. The Buyer, its representative or the master of the vessel (who shall be deemed to be acting on Buyer's behalf) shall give notice of readiness of the vessel

to load ("NOR") to the vessel agent and the Loading Port operator (with a copy to Seller delivered by e-mail or facsimile). NOR shall not be given until the vessel (a) has anchored at the customary anchorage area at the Loading Port, (b) has been granted free pratique, (c) has received the necessary clearance by customs and all other governmental authorities and (d) is ready in all other respects to load; provided, however, that NOR may be given before the conditions specified in clauses (b) and (c) above have been satisfied if, in accordance with the practice at the Loading Port, such conditions may be satisfied only after the vessel has been brought to the Loading Point. If, notwithstanding having tendered NOR, the vessel is found not to be ready to load, such NOR will be disregarded and Buyer shall be obligated to give a new NOR when it is in fact ready to load.

- 10.5 Vessel Requirements; Security Regulations.
- 10.5.1 Loading Port(s):
- (a) Seller shall accept only vessels having the following measurements:

		PUERTO	
	BAJO GRANDE	MIRANDA	LA SALINA
LENGTH, feet (maximum)	751	900	900
DRAFT, feet (maximum)	35	38	39.6
WIDTH	no limit	no limit	no limit
DWT (maximum)	42,000 long tons	115,000	100,000

- (b) Should there be a material change in the configurations specified herein, Seller shall promptly advise Buyer in writing of said change.
- (c) Where a different Loading Port other than those shown in this Article 10.5 is to be used, Seller shall promptly advise the Buyer in writing of the corresponding restrictions.
  - 10.5.2 Buyer represents, warrants, and covenants, that each vessel used for loading Oil under this Agreement:
- (a) shall be owned or demised-chartered by a member in good standing of the International Vessel Owners Pollution Federation Limited, carry on board a certificate of insurance as described in the Civil Liability Convention for Oil Pollution Damage, issued to it by a signatory state, and comply with the International Safety Management (ISM) code;
- (b) shall be covered, without expense by Seller, by insurance protecting against any and all liabilities from pollution issued by a protection and indemnity club that is a member of the International Group of P & I Clubs and internationally recognized insurers in an amount not less than one billion U.S. Dollars (U.S.\$1,000,000,000), or such greater amounts as may become available in the insurance market and generally obtained by prudent owners of similar vessels;
- (c) shall have a policy on drug and alcohol abuse which meets or exceeds the standards in the Oil Company International Marine Forum Guidelines, dated June 1995, and take proper measures to ensure compliance therewith; and

- (d) shall comply with the International Code for Security of Ships and of Port Facilities ("<u>ISPS Code</u>") and relevant amendments to Chapter XI of the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea, and similar laws and regulations pertaining to the security of ports, terminals and facilities ("<u>Security Regulations</u>"), and provide to Seller, prior to loading, a copy of the vessel's International Ship Security Certificate according to the ISPS Code.
- 10.5.3 Buyer shall be responsible for any costs or expenses in respect of the vessel (including any demurrage, retention, delay or other charges, fees or duties) imposed at the Loading Port resulting from the vessel agent's or vessel's failure to comply with the Security Regulations or the imposition of special security measures, inspections or other actions by authorities at the Loading Port based on the vessel's ten (10) prior ports of call, as established in the ISPS Code, and shall reimburse Seller for any such costs or expenses actually incurred by Seller. Notwithstanding any prior acceptance of the vessel by Seller, if at any time the vessel ceases to comply with the requirements of the ISPS Code, (a) Seller shall have the right not to berth the nominated vessel and any demurrage and all other expenses and losses of whatsoever nature arising from the vessel's lack of compliance shall be for the account of Buyer, and (b) Buyer shall be obligated to substitute a vessel in compliance with the ISPS Code.
- 10.5.4 Seller shall procure that the Loading Port complies with the requirements of the Security Regulations. Prior to loading of the vessel, Seller shall provide Buyer with a copy of the International Port Security Certificate in accordance to the ISPS Code. Seller shall be responsible for any costs or expenses in respect of the vessel (including any demurrage, retention, delay or other charges, fees or duties) resulting from the failure of the Loading Port to comply with the Security Regulations, and shall reimburse Buyer for any such costs or expenses actually incurred by Buyer.
- 10.5.5 If the maritime security is affected by any event or circumstance, as defined in the ISPS Code, which is not imputable to either Party, and special security measures or actions are required to be taken by the port authorities or the vessel, any cost or expense for demurrage, retention or delay shall be shared equally by Buyer and Seller.

# Article 11 <u>Loading Conditions; Demurrage</u>

#### 11.1 Berthing of Vessels; Commencement of Laytime.

11.1.1 Subject to the provisions of Articles 11.1.2 and 11.1.3, Seller shall provide a safe Loading Point at the Loading Port for each vessel designated in accordance with the provisions of Article 10, which Loading Point may be a berth, dock, anchorage, sea terminal, sea buoy mooring, submarine loading line or other place, including alongside lighters, or other vessels, at which the vessel may at all times lie safely afloat. In the event that a vessel arrives within its Agreed Laydays, then laytime and time on demurrage shall commence at the earlier of (a) six (6) hours after NOR or (b) when the vessel is All Fast; provided, however, that any NOR given within the last two (2) hours in which the Loading Port is open shall be deemed given when the Loading Port next opens.

- 11.1.2 Seller shall not be obligated to provide a Loading Point for any vessel arriving after the last Day of its Agreed Laydays. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall make reasonable efforts to receive the vessel as soon as possible taking into account operational requirements and constraints. Regardless of whether such vessel is permitted to berth, Seller shall in no event be liable for demurrage, deadfreight or other charges in connection with the loading thereof. If such vessel is permitted to berth, laytime and time on demurrage shall commence at the commencement of loading.
- 11.1.3 Seller shall not be obligated to provide any vessel arriving prior to its Agreed Laydays with a Loading Point until the first Day of its Agreed Laydays. If Seller does provide a Loading Point prior to the first Day of its Agreed Laydays, then laytime and time on demurrage shall commence at the earlier of (a) six (6) hours after the Loading Port opens on the first Day of the Agreed Laydays for such vessel and (b) when the vessel is All Fast.
- 11.2 Shifting Loading Point of Vessels. Seller shall have the right to shift vessels at the Loading Point from one berth to another, provided that all expenses incurred in connection therewith shall be borne by Seller and all time expended in such shifting of vessels shall count as used laytime and time on demurrage. Notwithstanding the provisions of the preceding sentence, the expenses incurred in connection with a shifting of any vessel which is attributable to one of the events referred to in Article 11.4 shall be borne by Buyer, the time consumed during such shifting shall not count as used laytime or time on demurrage, and Seller shall not be obligated to provide such vessel with a Loading Point until a Loading Point becomes available, taking into account the priority of other vessels.
- 11.3 <u>Allowed Laytime</u>. Except as otherwise agreed in writing, Seller shall have an Allowed Laytime of thirty-six (36) hours to complete the loading of the quantity of Oil nominated and accepted. In the event that an Agreed Lifting Program provides for loading of Buyer's vessel at two (2) Loading Ports or Seller notifies Buyer pursuant to Article 10.1.4 that loading shall be at two (2) Loading Points within the Specified Loading Port, the Allowed Laytime at each Loading Port shall be determined by reference to the quantity of Oil to be loaded at each Loading Port in accordance with <u>Exhibit 2</u>. Used laytime or time on demurrage shall not commence at any Loading Port until six (6) hours after NOR is tendered at such Loading Port or when the vessel is All Fast, whichever occurs first. Used laytime and/or time on demurrage shall cease upon the disconnection of delivery hoses after the completion of loading at the relevant Loading Port; it being understood that the time consumed from the time at which delivery hoses are disconnected at the first Loading Port until the time that laytime and time on demurrage would commence at the second Loading Port pursuant to the provisions of Article 11.1 shall not be counted as used laytime or time on demurrage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that used laytime and time on demurrage shall restart if Cargo documentation has not been delivered to the Buyer's vessel within four (4) hours after disconnection of hoses.
- 11.4 <u>Adjustments to Laytime and Time on Demurrage</u>. In the event that the loading of any vessel is delayed, directly or indirectly, for any of the following reasons, whether occurring prior to, during or after the berthing or commencement of loading of the vessel:
  - (a) lightering at Buyer's request;

- (b) delay or suspension in loading attributable to Buyer, vessel's agents, master, officers, crew, vessel owner or operator, or due to the failure of Buyer to comply with any provision of this Agreement;
  - (c) more than one stoppage in loading as a result of instructions given by, or on behalf of, Buyer as to distribution of the Oil in the vessel;
- (d) any delay in loading as a result of the vessel not being in a seaworthy or cargoworthy condition or otherwise caused by the condition or facilities of the vessel, or any other reason attributable to or within the reasonable control of Buyer or the vessel;
  - (e) failure of the vessel to have required documentation aboard;
  - (f) bunkering (including time to connect or disconnect the bunkering hose) unless concurrent with loading so that no loss of time is involved;
- (g) restraint or interference in the vessel's operation by any governmental authority in connection with the ownership, registration or obligations of the Buyer or the vessel, or in connection with stowaways or with smuggling or other prohibited activities;
- (h) time spent by the vessel shifting from a lightering or waiting area to the customary anchorage point or berth, even if lightering has taken place; or proceeding from the customary anchorage to the designated berth or Loading Point after it tenders NOR, calculated from the earlier of anchor aweigh or pilot on board and ending at All Fast;
- (i) regulations of the Loading Port operator, port authorities or the government (or any political subdivision or agency thereof) having jurisdiction over the Loading Port, including, but not limited to, regulations or decisions closing the Loading Port, prohibiting night traffic or berth maneuvering or prohibiting or restricting loading for any reason;
  - (j) time required for a vessel to be granted free pratique or to receive customs, immigration or sanitary clearance;
  - (k) inspection, gauging and measurement of vessel tanks or valves before, during and after loading;
  - (l) bad weather, rough seas, fires or explosions; or
  - (m) any of the events listed in Article 20.1 and not specifically listed above, or any other event of Force Majeure;

then the amount of time during which the loading of such vessel is so delayed shall not count as laytime or time on demurrage; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in the event the loading of any vessel is delayed due to bad weather or rough seas, then one-half the period of delay shall count as laytime or time on demurrage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller will make reasonable efforts to berth vessels in their order of arrival in case of delay due to bad weather or Force Majeure.

#### 11.5 Demurrage.

- 11.5.1 Seller shall pay Buyer demurrage for any hour or part of an hour of laytime in excess of the Allowed Laytime for the vessel involved, at a rate equal to: (a) if the vessel is voyage-chartered, the rate specified in the charter party for the vessel (it being understood that Seller shall in no event be obligated to pay Buyer more demurrage than the amount of demurrage Buyer can demonstrate has actually been paid to the vessel owner in accordance with the terms of the charter party), or (b) if the vessel is owned by Buyer (or one of its Affiliates) or is under time charter, the demurrage assessment of a member of ASBA utilizing the nominated quantity, the route taken and the first Day of the Agreed Laydays. Buyer shall select the member of the ASBA to make such assessment and shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses associated therewith. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to avoid administrative time and expenses, Buyer shall not make, and Seller shall not be obligated to pay, any claim for demurrage of less than one thousand U.S. Dollars (U.S.\$1,000). The right of Buyer to demurrage pursuant to this Article 11.5 shall constitute Buyer's exclusive remedy with respect to any failure of Seller to complete the loading of any vessel within the Allowed Laytime.
- 11.5.2 Buyer shall submit any claim for demurrage to Seller together with all pertinent supporting documentation within ninety (90) Days of the bill of lading date. The claim shall be submitted in the same manner as notices are required to be sent pursuant to Article 27, and shall consist of the following information and supporting documentation:
  - (a) Buyer's calculations of demurrage and the amount claimed in U.S. Dollars;
  - (b) copies of the notices of ETA as stipulated in this Agreement and as advised by the vessel directly to Seller or by the vessel agent based upon vessel instructions to the agent;
  - (c) copies of the NORs at the Loading Port(s);
  - (d) copies of the statement of facts/time log of the port agent, the terminal representative attending the vessel at the Loading Port or the inspection company;
  - (e) copies of all letters of protest issued by or to the master of the vessel;
  - (f) if the vessel was voyage-chartered by Buyer, a copy of the fixture recap of the broker's fixture advice which reflects the demurrage rate, and a copy of the vessel owner's demurrage invoice; and
  - (g) if the vessel was owned or time-chartered by the Buyer, a copy of the demurrage assessment obtained pursuant to Article 11.5.1.

Seller shall not be liable to Buyer in respect of (and Buyer shall be deemed to have waived) any claim for demurrage which is not made in accordance with this Article 11.5.2 within ninety (90) Days after the bill of lading date.

#### 11.6 Buyer's Liability for Delay and Damage.

- 11.6.1 Buyer shall pay Seller its actual costs, expenses or damages (including demurrage charges payable to third parties) incurred for each hour or part thereof that loading is delayed due to any of the reasons specified in (a) through (h) of Article 11.4.
- 11.6.2 Each vessel shall clear berth as soon as loading is completed and the delivery hoses are disconnected. Buyer shall pay Seller its actual costs, expenses or damages (including demurrage charges payable to third parties) incurred for each hour or part thereof in excess of two (2) hours that the vessel remains in berth subsequent to completion of loading and disconnection of the delivery hoses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall not be liable for the costs set forth above for all time in excess of two (2) hours after hoses have been disconnected, if (a) the reason for Buyer's vessel not vacating the berth is Seller's failure to deliver Cargo documents to Buyer's vessel within such two (2) hour time period, or (b) such delay is the result of a Force Majeure event at the Loading Port or the berthing facilities. Notwithstanding the foregoing and the provisions of Article 19, if such delay is a result of the circumstances set forth in Article 11.4(1), then Buyer shall be liable for one-half of the expenses described above.
- 11.6.3 In the event that for any reason Buyer's vessel causes damage to any facilities at the Loading Point and Seller is not timely compensated by the vessel causing the damage, then (a) Buyer shall reimburse Seller for the full cost of repair or replacement of such facilities without taking into account the depreciated value of such facilities, (b) any delay in loading the vessel as a result of such damage shall not be counted as used laytime or time on demurrage for such vessel, and (c) Buyer shall pay Seller its actual costs, expenses or damages (including demurrage charges to third parties) incurred for each hour or part thereof that any Loading Point may not be used as a result of such damage. Should any such damage occur, Buyer shall post such security for the payments provided in the preceding sentence as Seller may request; it being understood that Seller may detain the vessel at the Loading Port until such security shall have been posted.
- 11.6.4 Subsequent to the completion of loading and disconnection of the delivery hoses, and subject to the provisions set forth in Article 11.6.2 above, Buyer's vessel shall be permitted to clear berth if and only if Seller has delivered a full set of Cargo documents for the vessel; it being understood that early departure procedures (i.e., procedures allowing a vessel to clear berth while in possession of incomplete Cargo documents) shall not be allowed without the mutual consent of Buyer and Seller.

### Article 12 Quantity Measurements

12.1 <u>Determination of Quantity</u>. The volume of each loading of Oil shall be determined by an independent inspector selected as provided in Article 10.1.3, whose fees shall be shared equally by the Parties. Measuring and gauging shall be performed in accordance with one of the following measurement systems in decreasing order of preference, depending on the operational conditions prevailing at the Loading Port involved. Seller and Buyer or their respective representatives may witness the taking of the measurements.

- (a) Flow meters installed on loading lines: Such meter measurements shall be taken immediately before, during and after loading. When measurements are made with positive displacement meters, the meters and associated measurement testers will be installed, maintained and calibrated according to the latest revision of API-Manual of Petroleum Measurement Standards ("<u>API-MPMS</u>"), Chapter 6.5, "Metering Systems for Loading and Unloading Marine Bulk Carriers"; Chapter 4.2, "Conventional Pipe Provers"; Chapter 4.8, "Operation of Proving Systems"; Chapter 7, "Temperature Determination"; and Chapter 5.2, "Measurement of Liquid Hydrocarbons by Displacement Meters". If turbine meters are used, gauging will follow the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 5.3, "Measurement of Liquid Hydrocarbons by Turbine Meters", for the meters and measurement testers. Calculation of metered quantity shall follow API-MPMS, Chapter 12.2, "Calculation of Liquid Petroleum Quantities measured by Turbine or Displacement Meters".
- (b) Shore tanks: Seller shall calibrate, or cause to be calibrated, the shore tanks on a periodic basis according to the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 2. The measurement of tank contents shall be performed according to the latest revisions of API-MPMS, Chapter 3, "Tank Gauging", and Chapter 7, "Temperature Determination". The independent inspector shall ensure that all equipment used in the performance of this work is calibrated and in good working order. Volume calculations shall follow the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 12.1, "Calculation of Static Petroleum Quantities", Part 1, "Upright Cylindrical Tanks and Marine Vessels". In the absence of methods contained in Article 12.1(a) or (b), discharge flow meters, or static shore tank measurements shall be utilized to measure the quantity of the Cargo. If neither of these methods is available, the quantity of the Cargo shall be determined by utilizing the methodology for "Volume Measured on Board" specified below in Article 12.1(c).
- (c) Volume measured on board: Volume measurements on board the vessel shall be made in accordance with the latest edition of the API-MPMS, Chapter 17, "Marine Measurement" and its subparts. The onboard quantity (including free water) measured prior to loading shall be deducted from the total observed volume measured after loading. Volume corrections in respect of temperature shall then be effected at 60°F (equivalent to 15.56°C) in accordance with the latest revision of ASTM D1250-80 or API-MPMS, Chapter 11.1, "Volume Correction Factors" at Seller's choice, thereby arriving at the gross standard volume. Such gross standard volume shall then be further corrected by dividing it by the current vessel experience factor, determined in accordance with the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 17.9, "Vessel Experience Factors". S & W, determined in the manner provided in Article 13.2, together with any increase in free water shall then be deducted from the volume determined above in order to arrive at the volume for purposes of the bill of lading and the invoice.
- 12.2 <u>Volume Corrections for Temperature</u>. Except in the case that quantity measurements are made pursuant to the provisions of Article 12.1(c), in which case temperature corrections shall be made in the manner and at the time specified in that Article, temperature readings shall be taken in accordance with the methods listed below in decreasing order of preference, depending on operational conditions prevailing at the Loading Port involved: (a) the flow-weighted average temperature taken at regular times during loading by Seller or its agents at flow meters; and (b) the temperature taken in shore tanks by Seller or its agent. Temperature corrections at 60°F (equivalent to 15.56°C) will then be effected for all volume determinations in accordance with ASTM-1250 or API MPMS, Chapter 11.1, at Seller's choice, provided that

temperature corrections shall not be made in the case that volume is determined by way of flow meters pursuant to Article 12.1(a) and temperature compensators at 60°F (equivalent to 15.56°C) are integrated into the meter system. S & W, determined in the manner provided in Article 13.1(a), (b) or (c), as the case may be, and Article 13.2, shall be deducted from the volume corrected for temperature as provided above in order to arrive at the volume for purposes of the bill of lading and invoice.

12.3 <u>Conclusiveness of Measurements</u>. Quantity and temperature measurements witnessed by the independent inspector as provided in this Article 12 shall be final and binding on the Parties, except in the case of manifest error or fraud. In any event, without prejudice to the right of either Party to pursue a claim in accordance with Article 16, the determination of the independent inspector shall govern for purposes of the quantity stated in the bill of lading and the obligation of Buyer to make payment in accordance with the provisions of Article 8.

#### Article 13 Quality

13.1 <u>Determination of Quality</u>. Sampling for quality of the Oil loaded in each shipment shall be witnessed by the independent inspector in accordance with the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 8.2, "Standard Practice for Automatic Sampling of Liquid Petroleum and Petroleum Products", or ASTM D-4177, at Seller's choice, where Oil is measured by flow metering, and API-MPMS, Chapter 8.1, "Standard Practice for Manual Sampling of Petroleum and Petroleum Products", or ASTM D-4057, at Seller's choice, where Oil is measured by tank gauging. When the Oil is sampled at a tank, samples shall be taken and analyzed of the material in pipelines from the tank to the dock loading arms. Buyer and Seller or their representatives may witness the taking and testing of samples. Quality shall be determined by using the methods listed below in decreasing order of preference, depending on the operational conditions prevailing at the Loading Port involved: (a) from samples drawn from automatic samplers installed in the loading lines of each tank; (b) from samples drawn from the isolated storage shore tanks delivering the Oil; or (c) from a composite sample obtained in proportional parts from the vessel's tanks. In all cases, equal quantities of Oil from each tank shall be drawn and mixed and equally filled in seven (7) containers of one Gallon each and finally sealed. Three (3) of such sealed containers shall be delivered to the local office of the Ministry at the Loading Port (or to the address notified by the Ministry), one shall be handed over to the master of the vessel and one (1) to the independent inspector, and two (2) shall be kept by Seller for ninety (90) Days after the date of the bill of lading.

13.2 <u>Analysis of Samples</u>. The independent inspector shall witness quality tests for sulfur, salt and Reid vapor pressure on the samples according to the latest revision of ASTM or API-MPMS procedures, at Seller's choice. Gravity tests on all Oil shall be made in accordance with the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 9.1, or ASTM D1298-80, at Seller's choice. S & W shall be established in each case pursuant to the latest revision of ASTM D-4377 or API Chapter 10-3, at Seller's choice, in tests witnessed by the independent inspector; it being understood that if the Oil is reconstituted crude oil, deduction for S & W shall be made only to the crude oil component of such Oil. Quality tests conducted in accordance with the above provisions shall be final and binding upon the Parties for invoicing purposes, but without prejudice to the right of either Party to pursue a claim.

13.3 No Warranties. Seller makes no warranties regarding Oil and does not guarantee or warrant the suitability of Oil for any purpose whatsoever except that Seller warrants that (a) each grade of Oil sold and delivered under this Agreement shall meet the definition and typical specifications of each grade of Oil as set forth in Exhibit 1 to this Agreement and shall be typical of oil sold and delivered to Seller's other export customers, and (b) Seller has good and marketable title to all Oil sold to Buyer under this agreement. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, Buyer hereby releases Seller from any and all warranties whatsoever, including, without limitation, any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.

#### Article 14 <u>Delivery</u>

- 14.1 <u>Passage of Title</u>. Delivery of the Oil shall be made in bulk to Buyer FOB the applicable Loading Port to vessels to be provided by Buyer. Delivery shall be deemed completed when the Oil passes the permanent flange connection of the delivery hose at the Loading Port. At that point, Seller's responsibility with respect to the Oil shall cease, and title to and all risk of loss of or damage to, and deterioration or evaporation of, the Oil so delivered shall pass to, and be assumed by, Buyer. Any loss of or damage to Oil or any property of Seller or of any other person during loading which is in any way attributable to the vessel or its officers or crew shall be borne by Buyer.
- 14.2 Port and Loading Expenses. All expenses ashore pertaining to the pumping of the Oil from shore tanks to vessels shall be borne by Seller, including, but not limited to, wharfage, dockage and quay dues (if any) at the Loading Port. Seller shall pay all export taxes or duties imposed by the government (or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof) having jurisdiction over the Loading Port from which the Oil is deemed to have been exported. All other expenses pertaining to the loading of any vessel, including, without limitation, all vessel agency fees, anchorage, tonnage, towage, pilotage, customs, consular, entrance, clearance and quarantine fees, port dues and all charges and expenses relating to berthing and unberthing of vessels, shall be borne by Buyer.
- 14.3 <u>Loading Port Regulations</u>. All laws, rules and regulations now or hereafter in existence relating to operations at the Loading Ports shall apply to all vessels provided by Buyer, including, without limitation, any regulations relating to (a) the prevention and control of fires and water pollution and (b) lead-free and segregated or clean ballast. Buyer shall reimburse Seller or its agent for any expenses they may incur as a result of the noncompliance by any such vessel with any such applicable law, rule or regulation, including, without limitation, any expenses incurred by Seller or its agent in connection with the extinguishing of fires, the repair of damage caused thereby, the cleaning-up of water pollution and the payment of any charges assessed by the government (or any political subdivision or agency thereof) having jurisdiction over the Loading Port in question.
  - 14.4 Buyer's Knowledge of Loading Port Facilities; Standard Procedures.
- 14.4.1 Buyer hereby acknowledges that it is fully familiar with the facilities and conditions at the Loading Ports, including the loading conditions and procedures and the

facilities for the storage and delivery of the Oil. The facilities and conditions at the Loading Ports may be changed at any time. Buyer also acknowledges that standard procedures in effect at the Loading Ports from time to time relating, inter alia, to quality and quantity measurements, safety in loading, and inspection of vessel tanks, shall supplement (but not conflict with) the procedures specified herein. Seller shall supply Buyer with a copy of such procedures upon Buyer's request.

14.4.2 Seller makes no representations, express or implied, concerning navigational conditions in public channels or waterways to be utilized by the vessel in order to reach or depart the Loading Point which may require the exercise of special precautions or safety measures; it being understood that the operator of the vessel shall be responsible for making a thorough check of any navigational conditions as are likely to exist at the approaches of the Loading Port about the time of its arrival so as to prevent and avoid any hazards or controllable risks.

#### 14.5 Hazardous Warning Responsibility.

Seller shall provide Buyer with a Material Safety Data Sheet for each type of Oil sold hereunder. Buyer acknowledges that there may be hazards associated with the loading, unloading, transporting, handling or use of the Oil sold hereunder, which may require that warnings be communicated to or other precautionary action taken with all persons handling, coming into contact with, or in any way concerned with the Oil sold hereunder. Buyer assumes as to its employees, independent contractors and any subsequent purchaser of the Oil sold hereunder all responsibility for all such necessary warnings or other precautionary measures relating to hazards to person and property associated with such Oil. Buyer, at its own expense, shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates and its and their respective agents, officers, directors, employees, representatives, successors and assigns from and against any and all liabilities; losses; damages; demands; claims; penalties; fines; actions; suits; legal, administrative or arbitration proceedings; judgments, orders, directives, injunctions, decrees or awards of any jurisdictions; costs and expenses (including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees, expert witness fees, and related litigation costs) arising out of or in any manner related to Buyer's failure to provide necessary warnings or other precautionary measures in connection with the Oil sold hereunder as provided above.

#### Article 15 No Set-Off

Without prejudice to Buyer's right subsequently to assert claims it may have under this Agreement by notices pursuant to Article 16 or in arbitration proceedings pursuant to Article 21, all payments required to be made by Buyer under this Agreement shall be made punctually and without set-off or deduction whatsoever for any claims which Buyer or any other party may now have or hereafter acquire against Seller. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyer shall not be entitled to reduce or delay payment of the amount invoiced by Seller for any Oil on the basis that a dispute exists as to the quality or quantity of Oil recorded as having been delivered on the applicable certificate.

## Article 16 Notice of Claims

Any claim which Buyer may have arising out of or relating to this Agreement must be notified to Seller: (a) within ninety (90) Days after the date of the bill of lading for the shipment involved, if a claim is for demurrage (any such claim must be accompanied by the documentation required by Article 11.5.2); (b) within ninety (90) Days after the date on which the loading of any shipment is completed, if a claim relates to the quantity or quality of Oil in such shipment; or (c) within ninety (90) Days after the occurrence of the events giving rise to such claim, if a claim involves any other matter relating to this Agreement. Seller shall not be liable to Buyer in respect of, and Buyer shall be deemed to have waived, any claim which is not so notified to Seller, and Buyer shall reimburse Seller for any expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by Seller in connection with the defense of any such claim not so notified to Seller.

#### Article 17 Termination

- 17.1 Termination. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be terminated at any time:
- (a) by written agreement of Seller and Buyer; or
- (b) by Seller, upon written notice to Buyer, if one or more of the following shall have occurred and be continuing:
  - (i) Buyer defaults in any of its material obligations under this Agreement (including its obligation to lift Oil), and, except as set forth in Article 17.1(b)(iii), such default continues unremedied for a period of sixty (60) Days after notice thereof by Seller;
  - (ii) Buyer fails to pay any undisputed amount owed to Seller as required by Article 8 or any arrangement securing payment hereunder has become impaired;
  - (iii) there occurs an Insolvency Event with respect to Buyer; or
  - (iv) any representation or warranty made by Buyer to Seller hereunder proves to be false or incorrect in any material respect.
- (c) by Buyer, upon written notice to Seller, if one or more of the following shall have occurred and be continuing:
  - (i) Seller defaults in any of its material obligations under this Agreement (including its obligation to deliver Oil), and such default continues unremedied for a period of sixty (60) Days after notice thereof by Buyer;
  - (ii) there occurs an Insolvency Event with respect to Seller;

- (iii) any representation or warranty made by Seller to Buyer hereunder proves to be false or incorrect in any material respect; or
- (iv) Seller suspends its performance obligations hereunder due to a Governmental Mandate.
- 17.2 <u>Termination Not to Relieve Buyer of Obligations</u>. No termination of this Agreement, whether pursuant to this Article 17 or any other provision of this Agreement, shall relieve Buyer of any of its obligations to make any payment required of it hereunder that accrued prior to such termination.
- 17.3 <u>Acceleration</u>. In the event that (a) Buyer fails to make any payment required to be made by it under this Agreement when and as the same shall become due and payable or (b) Seller exercises its right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to any provision hereof, then, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any obligation of Buyer to make any payment under the terms of this Agreement shall be accelerated and such payment shall become immediately due and payable.
- 17.4 <u>Termination for an Insolvency Event</u>. Each Party acknowledges that this Agreement is a "Forward Contract" as defined in United States Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C. Sec. 101(25)). If a Party (the "<u>Non-Defaulting Party</u>") terminates this Agreement pursuant to Article 17.1(b)(iii) or Article 17.1(c)(ii), as applicable, by reason of an Insolvency Event of the other Party (the "<u>Defaulting Party</u>"), (i) the Defaulting Party shall have no right to recover damages or other compensation from the Non-Defaulting Party and (ii) the Non-Defaulting Party, in addition to any rights or remedies it may have under this Agreement or otherwise, shall have the right to recover damages or other compensation from the Defaulting Party in respect of the quantities of Oil that would have been sold or purchased, as the case may be, hereunder in the absence of a termination.
- 17.5 No Gifts. Neither Party shall, nor shall it permit its agents, representatives or personnel, to grant or offer the agents, representatives or personnel of the other, either directly or indirectly, any gifts, loans, gratifications, commissions or fees, personally benefiting said agents, representatives or personnel or any member of their families, or any company in which they hold a substantial interest, except for such small scale institutional gifts as are customary and permissible in accordance with best oil industry practices in the Western Hemisphere. If either Party shall breach this obligation, then this Agreement shall immediately terminate without prejudice to any other remedies or actions as may be prescribed by applicable law. Where either Party receives any requests from the agents, representatives or personnel of the other Party (or from third parties purporting to act on their behalf) for the granting of any gifts, loans, gratification, commissions or fees precluded by the preceding provisions of this Article 17.5, it shall promptly notify the other of such request together with such other information as may be required to investigate the relevant facts and circumstances.
- 17.6 Other Rights and Remedies. The right of either Party to terminate under this Article 17 shall be in addition to any other rights or remedies (including, but not limited to, the right to seek damages) provided to such Party under this Agreement or otherwise.

## Article 18 Confidentiality

Buyer agrees that all information obtained in connection with this Agreement from Seller by any officer, director, employee, agent or other representative of Buyer shall be treated as the confidential and proprietary information of Seller, and such information shall not be disclosed without the prior written consent of Seller; provided, however, that Buyer may disclose such information, including the contents of this Agreement, (a) pursuant to governmental, judicial and regulatory requirements to which Buyer is subject if such disclosure by Buyer is judicially mandated or otherwise required by law or regulation (including without limitation, disclosures required by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission) and the failure to so disclose would subject Buyer to civil or criminal action or other penalties, and (b) Buyer's financial advisors, attorneys, accountants and potential financing sources who agree to keep such information confidential as required hereby. When such disclosure is required pursuant to a subpoena, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts (including, but not limited to, seeking judicial appeal of such requirement) to have the information maintained as confidential and shall disclose the minimum information necessary to satisfy such requirements. In the event that Buyer becomes legally compelled to disclose any of such information pursuant to a subpoena, Buyer shall provide Seller with notice of such event promptly upon its obtaining knowledge thereof (provided that Buyer is not otherwise prohibited by law, regulation or legal process from giving such notice) so that Seller may seek a protective order or other appropriate remedy. When information is requested pursuant to a subpoena, in the event that such protective order or other remedy is not obtained or is not otherwise available, Buyer shall furnish only that portion of such information that is legally required to be disclosed and in a manner reasonably designed to preserve its confidential nature. In the event that Buyer makes a disclosure contrary to the provisions of this Article 18, Seller shall have the right, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies it may have under this Agreement or otherwise, to obtain injunctive relief prohibiting Buyer from disclosing such confidential information, notwithstanding any monetary remedy which may be available to Seller. This obligation shall be of a continuing nature and shall terminate five years after the date of termination of this Agreement.

## Article 19 No Third-Party Beneficiaries; Assignment

Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give to any person or entity any rights as a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement or any part hereof. Buyer shall not assign to any person or entity any right or interest in this Agreement or delegate to any third party any of its obligations hereunder without the consent of Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; provided, however, any such assignment or delegation by Buyer to its Affiliates shall not require Seller's consent provided that such Affiliate demonstrates to Seller financial capacity at least equal to that of Buyer prior to the effective date of such assignment. In the event of any purported assignment or delegation by Buyer in contravention of the provisions of this Article 19, Seller shall have the right, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies it may have hereunder or otherwise, to terminate this Agreement effective immediately upon notice to Buyer. Seller may assign this Agreement to any of its Affiliates only with the consent of Buyer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or

delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller may freely assign its collection rights under this Agreement to any bank or financial institution.

#### Article 20 Force Majeure

- 20.1 Relief from Liability. Neither Party to this Agreement shall be liable for demurrage, loss, damage, claims or demands of any nature arising out of delays or defaults in performance under this Agreement, due to any cause reasonably beyond its control ("Force Majeure"). Force Majeure shall be deemed to include, but not be limited to: (a) wars, hostilities, terrorism, acts of the public enemy; sabotage, boycott, blockade, revolutions, insurrections, riots or commotions; (b) acts of God, fires, frost or ice, earthquakes, storms, lightning, weather or sea conditions, tidal wave or perils of the sea; (c) navigational accidents, vessel damages or breakdowns, loss of vessel due to sinking, belligerents or governmental confiscation, with or without formal requisition; (d) accidents or closing of ports, docks, dams, channels, river-beds and other maritime or navigational aids; (e) epidemics and quarantines; (f) strikes or agreements among workers, lockouts or other labor disturbances; (g) breakdowns, explosions or accidents caused by fire or other causes to: wells, pipelines, storage deposits, refinery facilities, machinery and other facilities; (h) faults or omissions caused or due to: expropriation, requisition, confiscation or nationalization; (i) embargoes, export or import restrictions, or restrictions of production, rationing or allocation of same, whether imposed by law, decree or regulation, or by insistence, request or instructions of any governmental authority or organization owned or controlled by any government or of which such governmental authority is a member, or by any Person purporting to represent a government, other than a Governmental Mandate; j) for Seller, export restrictions or restrictions on production, rationing or allocation of same, ordered by the Government of Venezuela and derived from accords or agreements reached by the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries. As well as any Government Measure ("Sovereign Acts").
- 20.2 <u>Notice</u>. A Party claiming Force Majeure shall promptly notify the other Party of the occurrence of the event of Force Majeure relied upon and the expected duration thereof. The Party claiming Force Majeure shall use commercially reasonable efforts to give the other Party notice of termination of the event of Force Majeure and the date when performance is expected to resume.
- 20.3 <u>Payment for Oil Sold and Delivered</u>. Nothing in this Article 20 shall relieve Buyer of its obligation to pay in full for Oil sold and delivered hereunder and for all other amounts due to Seller from Buyer under this Agreement.
- 20.4 Obligation to Apportion. If, as a result of Force Majeure, Seller at any time does not have available a sufficient amount of Oil for export to supply the aggregate amount of Oil to be sold by it hereunder to Buyer and under such commitments as Seller may have with its other customers, Seller shall endeavor to arrange an equitable pro-ration of Oil available from its own production for export among its existing contractual customers, including Buyer; it being understood that the occurrence of an event of Force Majeure shall not under any circumstances require Seller to purchase crude oil from any party to sell to Buyer.

- 20.5 No Makeup of Deliveries Excused by Force Majeure. Seller shall not be obligated to make up deliveries of Oil which have been prevented by an event of Force Majeure.
- 20.6 No Extension of Contract; Right to Terminate. The occurrence of an event of Force Majeure shall not operate to extend the period of this Agreement. Should Seller suspend its performance obligations hereunder for any period of time due to a Governmental Mandate, Buyer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without liability upon notice to Seller.

## Article 21 <u>Dispute Resolution; Governing Law</u>

- 21.1 Settlement by Arbitration. All disputes arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be finally settled by arbitration under the Rules of Arbitration ("ICC Rules") of the International Chamber of Commerce in effect at such time. The place of arbitration shall be Paris, France and the language of the arbitration shall be English. The number of arbitrators shall be three (3), and the arbitrators shall apply the substantive law of Venezuela to the merits of the dispute. Any arbitral award relating to the performance by either Party of its obligations under this Agreement shall be (i) reasoned in accordance with Article 25.2 of the ICC Rules, (ii) in writing, and (iii) final and binding on all parties to the arbitration. Any arbitral award may be confirmed or embodied in any order or judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction.
  - 21.2 Governing Law. The Parties agree that this Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of Venezuela.
- 21.3 <u>Buyer's Waiver</u>. To the extent the same may be applicable, Buyer hereby waives all causes of action and remedies to which Buyer is or may become entitled under the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices Act.

## Article 22 Representations and Warranties

- 22.1 Buyer Representations. Buyer represents and warrants to Seller that:
- (a) Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization;
- (b) this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or other action of Buyer; and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance with its terms;
  - (c) unless permitted as set forth herein or otherwise specifically agreed, Buyer is purchasing the Oil hereunder exclusively for its own use;
- (d) Buyer has not been contacted by or negotiated with any finder, broker or other intermediary for the purchase of the Oil and no such person is entitled to any compensation with respect to this Agreement or the sale of Oil hereunder; and

- (e) none of Buyer's directors, employees or agents has given or will give any commission, fee, rebate, gift or entertainment of significant value in connection with this Agreement, it being agreed that representatives of Seller may audit the applicable records of Buyer solely for the purpose of determining whether there has been compliance with this clause (e).
  - 22.2 Seller Representations. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that:
  - (a) Seller is a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of Venezuela having the legal capacity to enter into and perform this Agreement;
- (b) Seller has obtained all necessary authorizations from the competent governmental authorities for the execution of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations hereunder;
  - (c) the execution and performance by Seller of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action;
- (d) this Agreement has been duly executed by Seller and, assuming the due authorization and execution of this Agreement by Buyer, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller, enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms;
- (e) neither the execution of this Agreement by Seller nor the performance by Seller of its obligations hereunder will conflict with or result in any breach of, or constitute a violation of or default under, any applicable law, its charter or by-laws, or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, or other instrument or agreement (including, without limitation, any negative pledge or similar clause), to which Seller is a party, or by which it may be bound, or to which any of its property or assets may be subject;
- (f) no lawsuit or other proceeding is pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened against Seller which, if determined adversely to Seller, may materially and adversely affect its business or financial condition or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by, or the performance of its obligations under, this Agreement; and no action or proceeding has been instituted, and no order, decree, injunction or judgment of any kind from any court or other governmental authority has been issued, to avoid, restrain or in any other manner prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
- (g) Seller has not been contacted by or negotiated with any finder, broker or other intermediary for the sale of Oil hereunder, and no person or entity is entitled to any compensation with respect to this Agreement or the sale of Oil hereunder; and
- (h) no director, employee or agent of Seller has given or will give any commission, fee, rebate, gift or entertainment of significant value in connection with this Agreement, it being agreed that representatives of Buyer may audit the applicable records of Seller solely for the purpose of determining whether there has been compliance with this clause (h).

## Article 23 Liquidated Damages and Limitation of Liability

23.1 <u>Failure to Deliver Oil</u>. If in any Year during the term of this Agreement, Seller shall have failed to deliver any quantity of Oil and such failure to deliver Oil is not excused pursuant to Article 20, then Buyer shall furnish to Seller within thirty (30) Days after the end of such Year a calculation respecting nominations, deliveries and excused deliveries of Oil for such Year (said calculation being herein called the "<u>Annual Accounting</u>"). Specifically, the Annual Accounting shall contain a tabulation of the following formula for each grade of Oil for such Year:

Aggregate Nominated Volume minus Aggregate Deliveries where:

- "Aggregate Nominated Volume" means the sum of the Nominated Volumes of the grade of Oil included in the Agreed Lifting Program for each of the Months in the Year;
- "Nominated Volume" means, for each Month, the volume of that grade of Oil included in the Agreed Lifting Program for such Month as provided in Article 10 of this Agreement;
- "Aggregate Deliveries" means the sum of the Deliveries in each of the Months in the Year; and
- "<u>Deliveries</u>" means actual deliveries of Oil of such grade in a Month, plus deliveries not made because of the occurrence of any event described in Article 20.1 of this Agreement, to the extent that such event or condition was not taken into account in establishing the Agreed Lifting Program for such Month.

If the Annual Accounting for any such Year applicable to such grade of Oil shows that the Aggregate Nominated Volume exceeded the sum of the Aggregate Deliveries, then Seller shall pay to Buyer an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the costs incurred (or that would have been incurred) in excess of the costs of such undelivered shipment in obtaining and processing a cargo of oil in substitution for the undelivered Oil or (ii) the lost profits that would have been obtained if the Nominated Volumes of Oil had been delivered; it being understood that, if Seller disputes such amount, in which event Seller shall have the right to submit the matter to dispute resolution in accordance with the provisions of Article 21, and damages, if any, payable to Buyer shall be as determined by the dispute resolution panel.

23.2 <u>Limitation of Liability</u>. Except as set forth in Article 23.1, neither Party shall be liable for any consequential, indirect or special losses or damages of any kind arising out of or in any way connected with the performance of or failure to perform this Agreement, including, but not limited to, losses or damages resulting from shutdown of plants or inability to perform sales or any other contracts arising out of or in connection with the performance or nonperformance of this Agreement.

## Article 24 Compliance with Law

During the performance of this Agreement, each Party shall comply with all laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and requirements of federal, state and local governmental or regulatory bodies which are applicable to this Agreement.

## Article 25 No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies

Except as expressly provided for in this Agreement, no failure or delay on the part of either Party in exercising any right, power or remedy hereunder and no course of dealing between the Parties hereto shall operate as a waiver by either Party of any such right, power or remedy; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, power or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. Without prejudice to Article 23 and except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, all rights, powers and remedies provided hereunder are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, powers or remedies provided by law or otherwise. Except as required by this Agreement, no notice or demand upon either Party in any case shall entitle such Party to any other or future notice or demand in similar or other circumstances or constitute a waiver of the right of either Party to take any other or further action in any such circumstances without further notice or demand.

#### Article 26 Severability of Provisions

26.1 If any provision of this Agreement shall be found to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable by any court or administrative body of competent jurisdiction, then such provision shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such illegality, prohibition, or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof which shall remain in force and effect, and the finding of any such illegality, prohibition, or unenforceability shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.

26.2 The Parties agree, in the circumstances referred to in Article 26.1, to negotiate in good faith to agree on a legal, valid and enforceable provision to substitute for any illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision which achieves to the greatest extent possible the same effect as would have been achieved by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision.

#### Article 27 Notices

All notices and other communications given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested; internationally recognized courier service; or confirmed facsimile transmission, and, in each case, shall be deemed effective upon receipt by the addressee as provided below:

To Seller: PDVSA-Petróleo S.A.

Avenida Libertador

Edificio Petróleos de Venezuela

Torre Oeste Piso 7 La Campiña

Caracas 1060-A Venezuela

Att'n.

Facsimile

Copy to: PDVSA-Petróleo S.A.

Avenida Libertador

Edificio Petróleos de Venezuela

Torre Este Piso 10 La Campiña

Caracas 1060-A Venezuela

Att'n. General Counsel

Facsimile 58-212-708-4666

To Buyer: NuStar Marketing LLC

2330 North Loop 1604

West San Antonio, Texas 78248

Att'n. General Counsel Facsimile (210) 918-5500

or at such other address or facsimile as may be notified by either Party to the other Party in the manner above provided. Any change of a Party's address or facsimile shall be advised to the other Party by written notice delivered at least fifteen (15) Days prior to the effective date of the change.

## Article 28 <u>Satisfactory Documentation</u>

Each Party shall promptly provide to the other Party each of the following: (a) a list of those individuals authorized to represent such Party in its dealings with the other Party; (b) a certificate of the Secretary or other similar officer of such Party certifying as to the incumbency of each officer executing this Agreement on its behalf; and (c) documentation evidencing the authority of each person executing this Agreement on its behalf to act in such capacity. Each Party shall at all times keep current the list described in clause (a) of this Article 28. Buyer shall furnish to

Seller such information or documentation concerning the financial and corporate status of Buyer as Seller may from time to time reasonably request.

#### Article 29 Merger

- 29.1 Exclusive Agreement. This Agreement is a complete and exclusive statement of all terms and conditions governing the sale and delivery of Oil to Buyer and supersedes all prior agreements between Buyer and Seller, written or oral, relating to the sale and delivery of Oil to Buyer. No prior contract or course of dealing between the Parties, and no statement of any agent, employee or representative of Seller or Buyer made prior to the execution of this Agreement, shall be admissible in construing the terms of this Agreement.
- 29.2 <u>General Terms and Conditions</u>. Attached hereto as <u>Exhibit 6</u> are the General Terms and Conditions as in effect on the date hereof. In the event that this Agreement shall fail to address any relevant issue with respect to nominations, procedures at the Loading Port(s), quality or quantity measurement, or inspections, then the Parties shall apply the relevant provision of the General Terms and Conditions, as the same may be in effect from time to time; it being understood and agreed by the Parties that the Ministry has the right, from time to time and at any time, to modify any provision of the General Terms and Conditions in any manner as the Ministry shall see fit; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that any such modification shall be generally applicable to sales of crude oil by Seller and made generally known to the public. For the avoidance of doubt, should any provision of the General Terms and Conditions conflict with any provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail.

## Article 30 <u>Amendments and Waivers; Counterparts</u>

- 30.1 <u>Amendments and Waivers</u>. Except as provided for in Article 5.2, all amendments and modifications to this Agreement must be made upon the express written agreement of both Parties, and any waiver of any provision of this Agreement by either Party must be upon the express written agreement of such Party.
- 30.2 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective duly authorized officers or representatives on the date first above written and effective as of March 1, 2008.

### PDVSA-PETRÓLEO S.A.

By /s/ Fernando Valera

Name: Mr. Fernando Valera

Title: Executive Director of Supply and Commerce

#### NUSTAR MARKETING LLC

By /s/ Curtis V. Anastasio

Name: Mr. Curtis V. Anastasio

Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

### **SPECIFICATIONS**

The Oil to be sold by Seller and purchased by Buyer under the Agreement shall be crude oil of the "Boscán" and "Bachaquero BCF-13" types, whose typical characteristics are set forth below.

### TYPICAL ANALYSIS OF BOSCÁN CRUDE OIL

°API (Gravity)	10.6			
VISCOSITY (CST 100°F)	13,700			
WATER AND SEDIMENT (% Vol)	0.91			
SULFUR (% wgt)	5.28			
RVP (pound/in²)	0.25			
POUR POINT (°C)	59.0			
TYPICAL ANALYSIS OF BACHAQUERO BCF-13 CRUDE OIL				
°API (Gravity)	11.6			
	11.6 6,530			
°API (Gravity)				
°API (Gravity) VISCOSITY (CST 100°F)	6,530			
°API (Gravity) VISCOSITY (CST 100°F) WATER AND SEDIMENT (% Vol)	6,530 1.22			

THE FOREGOING TYPICAL ANALYSIS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE ANY REPRESENTATION OR OTHER ASSURANCE, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, BY SELLER AS TO THE MARKETABILITY, FITNESS OR SUITABILITY OF THE OIL FOR ANY PURPOSE OR USE BY BUYER.

### QUANTITY OF EACH TYPE OF OIL

The quantity of each type of Oil shall be 27,375,000 Barrels per Year, as follows:

Bachaquero BCF-13: 25,000 BPD multiplied by the number of Days in each Year.

Boscán: 50,000 BPD multiplied by the number of Days in each Year.

Month	Quantity of Boscán (BPD)	Quantity of Bachaquero BCF-13 (BPD)
January	40,000	20,000
February	40,000	20,000
March	50,000	25,000
April	50,000	25,000
May	60,000	30,000
June	60,000	30,000
July	60,000	30,000
August	60,000	30,000
September	50,000	25,000
October	50,000	25,000
November	40,000	20,000
December	40,000	20,000

#### **PRICE**

The price of the Boscán crude oil to be sold and purchased under the Agreement shall be calculated with respect to each delivery in accordance with the formula set forth below:

$$P_{B} = 0.65*WTS + 0.95*FO_{3} - 0.30*(WTI + FO_{1}) + K_{B}$$

The price of the Bachaquero BCF-13 crude oil to be sold and purchased under the Agreement shall be calculated with respect to each delivery on the basis and in accordance with the formula set forth below:

$$P_{BCF} = 0.65*WTS + 0.95*FO_3 - 0.30*(WTI + FO_1) + K_B + Quality Adjustment$$

Where:

- (1) "P<sub>B</sub>" means the price per Barrel of Boscán in U.S. Dollars, rounded to the nearest cent;
- (2) " $P_{BCF}$ " means the price per Barrel of BCF-13 in U.S. Dollars, rounded to the nearest cent;
- (3) "WTS" means the average of the Platt's prices for West Texas Sour crude oil (Midland) for the Five-Day Period;
- (4) "WTI" means the average of the Platt's prices for West Texas Intermediate crude oil, First month, at Cushing (Okla.) for the Five-Day Period;
- (5) "FO<sub>3</sub>" means the average of the Platt's prices for the Number 6 fuel oil having 3% Sulfur content for the Five-Day Period;
- (6) "FO<sub>1</sub>" means the average of the Platt's prices for the Number 6 fuel oil having 1% Sulfur content for the Five-Day Period;
- (7) "**K**<sub>B</sub>" means the constant term of the Boscán formula, expressed in U.S. Dollars per Barrel, which shall be determined by Seller from time to time, according to market conditions;
  - (8) "Quality Adjustment" means the quality adjustment for gravity and sulfur content, expressed in U.S. Dollars per Barrel;

And where, for purposes of (2) through (4) above:

(a) The "**Platt's Price**" for any Day means (i) in the case of West Texas Sour and West Texas Intermediate crude oils, the average of the high and low spot prices for such crude oils as quoted for such Day in Platt's Crude Oil Marketwire (Spot

Assessment Section); (ii) in the case of fuel oil having 3% and 1% Sulfur content, the average of the high and low spot prices for such fuel oil as quoted for such Day in Platt's Oilgram U.S. Marketscan (U.S. Gulf Section, Waterborne Column); and,

- (b) "Five-Day Period" means, with respect to the price determination for any delivery, the following five days:
  - (i) the day on which the bill of lading is issued in the case of vessels whose loading commences within the agreed laydays, or the middle day of the agreed laydays in the case of vessels whose loading commences before the first day of the agreed laydays and vessels whose loading commences after the last day of the agreed laydays; provided, however, that if any such day is a day for which the relevant quotations do not regularly appear in the publications referred to above, then in determining the day applicable pursuant to this clause (i), reference in each case shall be made to the succeeding day for which such quotations are regularly published, except that in the case of Saturdays or Fridays for which such quotations are not so published, reference shall be made to the preceding day for which such quotations are regularly published;
  - (ii) The two days (other than Saturdays, Sundays or other days for which the relevant quotations do not regularly appear in the publications referred to above) preceding the day determined pursuant to clause (i) above; and
  - (iii) The two days (other than Saturdays, Sundays or other days for which the relevant quotations do not regularly appear in the publications referred to above) succeeding the day determined pursuant to clause (i) above.

In the event that a regular quotation for a particular crude oil or the fuel oil referred to above is suspended or interrupted for any reason in the relevant publication for less than three of the days in any Five-Day Period, then such days for which such quotation is suspended or interrupted shall not be taken into account in calculating the average of the Platt's prices for such Five-Day Period for such crude oil or fuel oil, and such average shall be calculated for only the number of days in such Five-Day Period for which quotations were not suspended or interrupted. In the event that a regular quotation for a particular crude oil or the fuel oil referred to above is suspended or interrupted for any reason in the relevant publication for more than two of the days in any Five-Day Period, then the formula for the pricing of Oil shall be temporarily adjusted by Seller for the affected delivery or deliveries in such manner as to fairly reflect the assumptions underlying the formula or similar assumptions; it being understood that Buyer's obligation to purchase Oil under the Agreement shall not be suspended or interrupted pending such adjustment.

In order to determine the final price of Bachaquero BCF-13 (or any other type of Oil delivered by Seller to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement) a quality adjustment will be made to reflect the differences in gravity and sulfur content between Boscán and Bachaquero BCF-13. The adjustment shall be made on the basis of the differential values published during the first week of every month by the Ministry for crude oils with an API gravity less than 13 degrees and sulfur content greater than 2.5% by weight.

#### LIMITED MARKET ADJUSTMENT

The Limited Market Adjustment shall be calculated for each Cargo of Oil where the applicable contract price, as determined in accordance with Exhibit 3 (Boscán =  $P_B$  and Bachaquero BCF-13 =  $P_{BCFP}$ ), exceeds the following applicable Maya parity price (Boscán =  $P_{BP}$  and Bachaquero BCF-13 =  $P_{BCFP}$ ), for the identical Five-Day Period:

P<sub>BP</sub>= Maya (FOB) – (0.290\*LLS – 0.290\*FO<sub>3</sub>) + Maya Freight to USGC – Boscán Freight to USGC

P<sub>BCFP</sub> = Maya (FOB) – (0.290\*LLS – 0.290\*FO<sub>3</sub>) + Maya Freight to USGC – Bachaquero BCF-13 Freight to USGC + Quality Adjustment

#### Where:

- (1) "Maya (FOB)" means the average of calculated formula prices for Maya crude oil (Cayo Arcas) for the Five-Day Period using Platt's pricing for the formula components and the published formula constant for such Five-Day Period, as announced from time to time by P.M.I. Comercio Internacional, S.A. De C.V.;
- (2) "LLS" means the average of Platt's prices for Louisiana Light Sweet crude oil (St. James) for the Five-Day Period, where the Platt's price for any Day means the average of the high and low spot prices for the LLS (1st month) Assessment as quoted for such Day in Platt's Crude Oil Marketwire (US domestic spot crude assessments section);
- (3) "FO<sub>3</sub>" means the average of the Platt's prices for number 6 fuel oil having 3% sulfur content for the Five-Day Period, as set forth in Exhibit 3;
- (4) "Maya Freight to USGC" means the current spot tanker rate for Maya crude deliveries to the United States Gulf Coast, calculated by multiplying the current Worldscale rate for the Cayo Arcas to Houston, by the Worldscale Assessment for this route divided by 100, and dividing by a factor of 6.830 representing conversion of metric tons per Barrel for a crude with an API gravity of 22.0, for the Five-Day Period;
- (5) "Boscán Freight to USGC" means the current spot tanker rate for Boscán crude deliveries to the United States Gulf Coast, calculated by multiplying the current Worldscale rate for the Baja Grande to Houston, by the quantity obtained by adding 10 points to the Worldscale Assessment for this route and divided by 100, and dividing by a factor of 6.322 representing conversion of metric tons per Barrel for a crude with an API gravity of 10.6, for the Five-Day Period;

- (6) "BCF-13 Freight to USGC" means the current spot tanker rate for BCF-13 crude deliveries to the United States Gulf Coast, calculated by multiplying the current Worldscale rate for the La Salina to Houston, by the Worldscale Assessment for this route divided by 100, and dividing by a factor of 6.367 representing conversion of metric tons per Barrel for a crude with an API gravity of 11.6, for the Five-Day Period;
- (7) "Quality Adjustment" means the quality adjustment for gravity, sulfur content, and acid content expressed in U.S. Dollars per Barrel, determined in accordance with Exhibit 3; and
- (8) "**Five-Day Period**" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit 3.

For each such Cargo of Oil, the Limited Market Adjustment shall be the difference between the applicable contract price and the applicable Maya parity price multiplied by the quantity of Oil comprising such Cargo, determined according to the following formulas, as applicable:

$$LMAC_B = (P_B - P_{BP}) * Q_B$$

$$LMAC_{BCF} = (P_{BCF} - P_{BCFP}) * Q_{BCF}$$

#### Where:

- (1) "LMAC<sub>B</sub>" means the Limited Market Adjustment for the applicable Cargo of Boscán Oil;
- (2) "P<sub>B</sub>" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit 3 for the applicable Cargo of Boscán Oil;
- (3) "P<sub>BP</sub>" means the price per Barrel of Boscán in U.S. Dollars, rounded to the nearest cent, determined according to the Maya parity formula above, for the applicable Cargo of Boscán Oil;
- (4) "Q<sub>B</sub>" means the quantity in Barrels of the applicable Cargo of Boscán Oil;
- (5) "LMAC<sub>BCF</sub>" means the Limited Market Adjustment for the applicable Cargo of Bachaquero BCF-13 Oil;
- (6) " $P_{BCF}$ " has the meaning set forth in Exhibit 3 for the applicable Cargo of Bachaquero BCF-13 Oil;
- (7) "P<sub>BCFP</sub>" means the price per Barrel of Bachaquero BCF-13 in U.S. Dollars, rounded to the nearest cent, determined according to the Maya parity formula above, for the applicable Cargo of Bachaquero BCF-13 Oil;
- (8) "Q<sub>BCE</sub>" means the quantity in Barrels of the applicable Cargo of Bachaquero BCF-13 Oil.

# EXAMPLE OF THE OPERATION OF THE LIMITED MARKET ADJUSTMENT

All Figures in US\$ Millions Unless Noted Otherwise

Limited Market Adjustment Element	Qtr	1	Qtr 2	(	Qtr 3		Qtr 4		Qtr 5
A Quarterly payment for Crude Oil as Determined by Exhibit 3	\$337.	.500	\$370.000	\$3	20.000	\$3	90.000	\$35	50.000
B Quarterly payment for Crude Oil as Determined by Exhibit 4	\$340.	.000	\$355.000	\$3	23.500	\$3	79.000	\$35	52.000
C Quarterly Limited Market Adjustment (A - B)	\$ (2.	.500)	\$ 15.000	\$	(3.500)	\$	11.000	\$ (	(2.000)
D Aggregate Quarterly Surpluses (Cumulative Positive C)	\$	_	\$ 15.000	\$	15.000	\$	26.000	\$ 2	26.000
E Aggregate Quarterly Deficits (Cumulative Negative C)	\$ 2.	.500	\$ 2.500	\$	6.000	\$	6.000	\$	8.000
F Previous Credits (J for all previous quarters)	\$		\$ —	\$	2.500	\$	2.500	\$ 1	0.000
G Credit Prior to Threshold (D - E - F, if positive)	\$	—	\$ 12.500	\$	6.500	\$	17.500	\$	8.000
H Threshold (Minimum of G or \$10 million)	\$		\$ 10.000	\$	6.500	\$	10.000	\$	8.000
I Credit applied during succeeding Quarter (G - H)	\$	_	\$ 2.500	\$	_	\$	7.500	\$	_
K Amount of oil receiving \$5.00/barrel discount for current quarter (I for previous quarter divided by 5, million barrels)	\$	_	\$ —	\$	0.500	\$		\$	1.500

### GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

### MINISTRY OF ENERGY AND PETROLEUM

General Terms and Conditions for PDVSA FOB Crude Sales (November 2006)

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article 1.	Definitions	1
Article 2.	Construction, Headings and References	5
Article 3.	Quantity And Price	5
Article 4.	Arrival Procedures and Lifting	5
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Lifting Program. Substitution of Vessels. Advice of ETA. Notice of Readiness. Vessel Requirements; Security Regulations.	5 7 8 8 8
Article 5.	Loading Conditions; Demurrage	9
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6	Berthing of Vessels; Commencement of Laytime. Shifting Loading Point of Vessels. Allowed Laytime. Adiustments to Laytime and Time on Demurrage. Demurrage. Buyer's Liability for Delay and Damage.	9 10 10 11 12 13
Article 6.	Quantity Measurements	14
6.1 6.2 6.3	Determination of Quantity. Volume Corrections for Temperature. Conclusiveness of Measurements.	14 15 15
Article 7.	Quality	15
7.1 7.2 7.3	Determination of Quality. Analysis of Samples. NO WARRANTIES.	15 16 16
Article 8.	Passage of Title; Delivery	16
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5	Passage of Title. Port and Loading Expenses. Loading Port Regulations. Buyer's Knowledge of Loading Port Facilities; Standard Procedures. Hazardous Warning Responsibility.	16 17 17 17 17
Article 9.	No Set-Off	18
Article 10.	Payment Terms	18
10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4	Currency, Time and Place of Payment; Overdue Payments. Contents of Invoices; Other Substantiating Documentation. Payment Expenses. Security for Payment.	18 19 19 19

10.5	Suspension of Deliveries.	20
Article 11.	Claims	20
11.1 11.2	Notice of Claims. Payment in Full.	20 20
Article 12.	Force Majeure	20
12.1 12.2 12.3 12.4 12.5	Relief from Liability. Notice. Pavment for Oil Sold and Delivered. No Proration or Make-Up. No Extension of Contract; Right to Terminate.	20 21 21 21 21
Article 13.	Dispute Resolution; Governing Law	22
13.1 13.2	Settlement by Arbitration. Governing Law.	22 22
Article 14.	Representations and Warranties of Buyer	22
Article 15.	Limitation of Liability	23
Article 16.	Termination	23
16.1 16.2 16.3 16.4 16.5	Termination. Termination Not to Relieve Buyer of Obligations. Termination for an Insolvency Event. No Gifts. Other Rights and Remedies.	23 23 23 23 24
Article 17.	Confidentiality	24
Article 18.	Compliance With Law	25
Article 19.	No Third Party Beneficiaries; Assignment	25
Article 20.	No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies	25
Article 21.	Severability of Provisions	25
21.1 21.2	Illegality, Unenforceability or Invalidity. Conflict with Particular Conditions of Sale.	25 26
Article 22.	Notices	26

27

Article 23. Amendments and Waivers

#### ARTICLE 1.

#### **DEFINITIONS**

For purposes of these General Terms and Conditions for FOB Crude Oil Sales (November 2006) the following terms, when capitalized, shall have the respective meanings indicated below:

- a) "Agreed Laydays" shall mean the three-Day range for the arrival of a vessel set forth in an Agreed Lifting Program determined pursuant to Article 4.1;
  - b) "Agreed Lifting Program" shall mean a final lifting program for a Month determined pursuant to Article 4.1;
- c) "Agreement" shall mean the agreement between Buyer and Seller for the purchase and sale of Oil pursuant to the Particular Conditions of Sale (including all Exhibits and Schedules thereto) and these General Terms, as the same may hereafter be amended, modified or supplemented in accordance herewith;
  - d) "All Fast" shall mean such time as a vessel is completely moored at the cargo transfer point with gangway down and secured;
- e) "Allowed Laytime" shall mean the period of time which Seller shall be allowed, in accordance with Article 5.3, to complete the loading of a vessel without incurring demurrage;
  - f) "API" shall mean the American Petroleum Institute;
  - g) "API-MPMS" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 6.1(a);
  - h) "ASBA" shall mean the Association of Ship Brokers and Agents;
  - i) "ASTM" shall mean the American Society for Testing and Materials;
- j) "Bahamas Loading Port" shall mean the terminal facility located in Freeport, Bahamas, owned and operated by Bahamas Oil Refining Corporation;
  - k) "Barrel" shall mean a quantity of crude oil equal to forty-two (42) Gallons;
- l) "Banking Day" shall mean any Day other than Saturday, Sunday or a Day on which banking institutions in the location specified for payment in the Particular Conditions of Sale are authorized or required by law to close;

- m) "Bonaire Loading Port" shall mean the Bopec terminal facility located in Bonaire, Netherlands Antilles, owned and operated by Bonaire Petroleum Corporation, NV;
  - n) "Business Day" shall mean any Day other than Saturday, Sunday or any national holiday in Venezuela;
  - o) "Buyer" shall mean the entity designated in the Particular Conditions of Sale as the purchaser of the Oil from Seller under the Agreement;
  - p) "Cargo" shall mean a cargo of Oil to be sold by Seller and loaded by Buyer into one of its vessels during any Lifting Month;
  - q) "Contract Quantity" shall mean the amount specified as such in the Particular Conditions of Sale;
- r) "Curação Loading Port" shall mean Bullenbaai terminal facility located in Curação, Netherlands Antilles, leased and operated by Refinería Isla (Curazlo) S.A.;
  - s) "Day" shall mean a calendar day;
  - t) "Defaulting Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 16.3;
  - u) "ETA" shall mean estimated time of arrival;
  - v) "East Coast Loading Ports" shall mean El Palito, Jose (TAEJ), Guaraguao (Puerto La Cruz) and El Chaure (Puerto La Cruz);
  - w) "FOB" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Incoterms (2000 Edition);
  - x) "Force Majeure" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 12;
  - y) "Gallon" shall mean a unit of volume, measured at 60 °F (equivalent to 15.56°C), equal to 231 cubic inches or 3.7853 liters;
- z) "General Terms" shall mean these General Terms and Conditions for PDVSA FOB Crude Oil Sales (November 2006), including all Exhibits attached hereto;
  - aa) "ICC Rules" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 13.1;
  - bb) "Insolvency Event" shall mean that an entity (i) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (ii) becomes

insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due; (iii) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors; (iv)(A) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official, or (B) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in clause (A) above and either (1) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (2) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within fifteen (15) Days of the institution or presentation thereof, (v) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (vi) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; (vii) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within fifteen (15) Days thereafter; (viii) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in clauses (i) to (vii) above (inclusive); or (ix) takes any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the foregoing acts;

- cc) "ISPS Code" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 4.5.1(d);
- dd) "Letter of Credit" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 10.4;
- ee) "Lifting Month" shall mean the Month for which a Cargo is programmed for lifting;
- ff) "Loading Area" shall mean any of the following, (i) Seller's Loading Ports located within Lake Maracaibo; (ii) the East Coast Loading Ports; (iii) the West Coast Loading Ports; (iv) the Curaçao Loading Port; (v) the Bonaire Loading Port; (vi) the Bahamas Loading Port, and (vii) the Trinidad Loading Port;
- gg) "Loading Point," either standing alone or as part of another defined term, shall mean a terminal, berth, jetty, buoy, dock, anchorage, sea terminal, mooring, submarine loading line, or any other place, including alongside lighters or other vessels, where a vessel can be loaded;

- hh) "Loading Port," either standing alone or as part of another defined term, shall mean any of Seller's Loading Points for exports of Oil, including any area in which a vessel may be loaded by ship-to-ship transfer;
  - ii) "Ministry" shall mean the Ministry of Energy and Petroleum of Venezuela;
  - jj) "Month" shall mean a calendar month;
  - kk) "Non-Defaulting Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 16.3;
  - ll) "NOR' shall have the meaning set forth in Article 4.4;
  - mm) "Oil" shall mean Venezuelan crude oil of the type(s) specified in the Particular Conditions of Sale;
  - nn) "P&I Club" shall mean a maritime protection and indemnity mutual insurance company;
- oo) "Particular Conditions of Sale" shall mean the Particular Conditions of Sale to which these General Terms are attached and incorporated by reference therein;
  - pp) "Parties" shall mean Seller and Buyer, which may sometimes hereinafter be referred to individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties";
  - qq) "Purchase Price" shall mean the price per Barrel to be paid to Seller by Buyer and specified as such in the Particular Conditions of Sale;
  - rr) "S & W" shall mean sediments and water;
  - ss) "Security Regulations" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 4.5.1(d);
  - tt) "Seller" shall mean PDVSA Petroleo S.A., a corporation organized under the laws of Venezuela;
  - uu) "Specified Loading Area" shall mean a Loading Area specified in an Agreed Lifting Program;
  - vv) "Trinidad Loading Port" shall mean Seller's Loading Port at Pointe-a-Pierre, Trinidad;
  - ww) "United States" or "U.S." shall mean the United States of America;
  - xx) "U.S. Dollars" or "U.S.\$" and "cents" shall mean the lawful currency of the United States of America; and

- yy) "Venezuela" shall mean the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela; and
- zz) "West Coast Loading Ports" shall mean Amuay (Complejo Refinador de Paraguaná); Cardón (Complejo Refinador de Paraguaná); Bajo Grande; La Salina, and Puerto Miranda.

### ARTICLE 2. CONSTRUCTION, HEADINGS AND REFERENCES

Terms defined in the singular have the corresponding meanings in the plural, and vice versa. All headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of any of the terms hereof. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to Articles are to the Articles of these General Terms. The terms "hereof," "herein," and "hereunder," and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to the particular Article in which such term appears.

## ARTICLE 3. QUANTITY AND PRICE

The quantity of Oil to be purchased by Buyer during each year in the term of the Agreement shall be the Contract Quantity specified in the Particular Conditions of Sale and the purchase price for such Oil shall be the Purchase Price specified in the Particular Conditions of Sale.

## ARTICLE 4. ARRIVAL PROCEDURES AND LIFTING

#### 4.1 <u>Lifting Program</u>.

- 4.1.1 Not later than thirty-five (35) Days prior to the beginning of each Month, Buyer shall furnish Seller with a proposed lifting program for the following Month, specifying the following:
  - (a) a Specified Loading Area(s), and the Loading Points therein for each delivery requested for such Month;
  - (b) a three (3) Day period for the arrival of each vessel;
  - (c) each type of Oil to be lifted by Buyer's vessels;
  - (d) the number of Cargos to be lifted and the quantity and type of Oil comprising each Cargo;
  - (e) the port of discharge of each Cargo;
- (f) in the case of the lifting program for the following Month, (i) the name, size and dimensions of each vessel designated for lifting during such Month; (ii) the

names of the vessel's agent and Buyer's representative, and the vessel's P&I Club, which shall be a member of the International Group of P&I Clubs; (iii) documentation instructions; (iv) the time required for deballasting (if any, but which, in any event, shall not exceed six hours); (v) the distribution of the Oil to be loaded (e.g., commingled or segregated); (vi) the name of the proposed independent inspector; and (vii) for at least the last ten (10) loading operations for crude oil for each nominated vessel, the volume loaded as measured on shore in shore tanks or by flow meters and the corresponding volume loaded as measured on board, such volume to be evidenced by documentation (including ullage and innage reports and onboard quantity and slop certificates) satisfactory to Seller; and

(g) an estimate of the volumes of the types of Oil that Buyer desires to purchase during the three (3) Months following such Month.

If Buyer does not furnish Seller with a proposed lifting program complying with the requirements of this Article 4.1.1 for the following Month within the period specified above, Buyer shall be required to accept the lifting program for such Month established by Seller. Seller shall have an absolute right to reject any vessel nominated by Buyer.

4.1.2 If the name of a vessel is not known at the time the proposed lifting program for the following Month is furnished to Seller, Buyer shall notify Seller of such name and other data referred to in Article 4.1.1(e) as soon as possible, but in any event not later than seven (7) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays for the unspecified vessel. Seller shall have an absolute right to reject Buyer's vessel nomination, in which case Buyer shall take immediate action to nominate another vessel acceptable to Seller. If the Parties do not reach agreement on nomination of another vessel at least five (5) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays, Seller shall have the right to cancel that lifting without prejudice to any and all other rights Seller has under this Agreement and without prejudice to Seller's claim for any losses or expenses caused by Buyer's failure to nominate an acceptable vessel. If Seller, at its sole option, elects nevertheless to load a vessel agreed on less than five (5) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays, the loading of the vessel shall be subject to berth, jetty, buoy, loading platform and loading system availability, as applicable. In no event shall laytime or time on demurrage be charged to Seller for delays incurred because the Parties have not agreed on a vessel within five (5) Business Days prior to the first Day of the of the Agreed Laydays.

4.1.3 Seller shall be deemed to have accepted Buyer's proposed lifting program for the following Month unless Seller has notified Buyer of alterations thereto at least fifteen (15) Days prior to the beginning of such Month. Seller shall in any event notify Buyer within such time period of the Specified Loading Area to be used by Buyer's vessels, to be narrowed to a specific Loading Point not less than five (5) Days of the first Day of the Agreed Laydays (subject to adjustment as provided in Article 4.1.4) and the name(s) of the independent inspector(s) proposed by Buyer and accepted by Seller for purposes of Article 6 and Article 7. If Seller timely notifies Buyer of alterations to the lifting program, Buyer shall be deemed to have agreed to those alterations unless, within five (5) Days after Buyer's receipt of Seller's notice, Buyer requests Seller to reconsider such alterations. Seller's decision following any such reconsideration shall be final and binding on both Parties. If Seller notifies Buyer that it objects to an independent inspector nominated by Buyer, the Parties shall designate another independent

inspector by mutual agreement. The lifting program as finally determined pursuant to the provisions of Article 4.1 for any Lifting Month is referred to herein as the "<u>Agreed Lifting Program</u>" for such Lifting Month, and the three (3) Day range for the arrival of any vessel contained in any Agreed Lifting Program is referred to herein as the "<u>Agreed Laydays</u>" for such vessel.

- 4.1.4 Seller may notify Buyer that any vessel scheduled in an Agreed Lifting Program shall load the Oil at a Loading Port in the Specified Loading Area different from the Loading Port previously specified pursuant to Article 4.1.3 or shall load the Oil at two (2) Loading Points within the Specified Loading Area, provided that such notice is given by Seller (a) at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the ETA of such vessel, if Buyer has notified Seller of an ETA falling within or after its Agreed Laydays, or (b) at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays, if Buyer has notified Seller of an ETA which is earlier than the first Day of the Agreed Laydays. Seller shall not be liable for any charges or expenses incurred by Buyer, including, but not limited to, deviation, as a result of a shift from one Loading Point to another, or the specification of two (2) Loading Ports within the Specified Loading Area.
- 4.1.5 Any deadfreight incurred as a result of Buyer's nomination of a vessel whose dimensions are larger than those required to transport the Cargo it is scheduled to lift shall be for the sole account of Buyer, and Seller shall have no liability therefor by reason of its acceptance of Buyer's nomination.
- 4.1.6 In working toward each Agreed Lifting Program, the Parties shall cooperate with one another and exercise commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the objective that Oil be nominated, delivered and lifted on a ratable basis, taking into consideration turnarounds, planned and unplanned maintenance, and other operational considerations at the Loading Ports and Buyer's discharge points. In the event of scheduled maintenance turnarounds at Buyer's discharge points, Buyer will give Seller not less than ninety (90) Days prior written notice of such scheduled maintenance turnaround, and will make its best efforts to mitigate the reduction. The Parties will cooperate in good faith to make up for any deliveries of Oil not purchased by Buyer during the turnaround period; provided, however, that Seller shall have no obligation to make up for the volumes of Oil not purchased and delivered during such turnaround period.

#### 4.2 <u>Substitution of Vessels</u>.

Buyer shall be entitled to substitute another vessel for any vessel designated in an Agreed Lifting Program; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the substitute vessel shall have substantially the same characteristics (including carrying capacity) as the vessel previously nominated and accepted pursuant to Article 4.1 and shall meet the requirements for vessels loading at the particular Loading Port involved; and provided, further, that Buyer shall give Seller notice of the substitution not less than ninety-six (96) hours prior to the first Day of the Agreed Laydays for the substituted vessel and shall then provide all of the information specified in Article 4.1.1(f). In the event that Buyer substitutes a vessel other than in accordance with the provisions of this Article 4.2, Seller may in its sole discretion refuse to load such vessel, or it may load such vessel at any Loading Port on any Day it may specify, whether or not within the Agreed Laydays for

such vessel, and Seller shall in no event be liable for demurrage, deadfreight or any other charges with respect to the loading of any such vessel.

#### 4.3 Advice of ETA.

Buyer shall arrange for each vessel to advise the Loading Port operator and the vessel agent (with a copy to Seller delivered by e-mail or facsimile) of its ETA at each of the following times:

- (a) immediately upon the vessel's leaving its last port of call before the Loading Port or ninety-six (96) hours before ETA, whichever is later;
- (b) seventy-two (72) hours before ETA;
- (c) forty-eight (48) hours before ETA;
- (d) twenty-four (24) hours before ETA; and
- (e) immediately upon learning of any material change in its ETA.

Seller shall not be liable for demurrage, deadfreight or any other charges in respect of any delay in loading attributable to the failure of a vessel to give notice of its ETA at any of the times enumerated above.

#### 4.4 Notice of Readiness.

The Buyer, its representative or the master of the vessel (who shall be deemed to be acting on Buyer's behalf) shall give notice of readiness of the vessel to load ("NOR") to the vessel agent and the Loading Port operator (with a copy to Seller delivered by e-mail or facsimile). NOR shall not be given until the vessel (a) has anchored at the customary anchorage area at the Loading Port; (b) has been granted free pratique; (c) has received the necessary clearance by customs and all other governmental authorities, and (d) is ready in all other respects to load; provided, however, that NOR may be given before the conditions specified in clauses (b) and (c) above have been satisfied if, in accordance with the practice at the Loading Port, such conditions may be satisfied only after the vessel has been brought to the loading point. If, notwithstanding having tendered NOR, the vessel is found not to be ready to load, such NOR will be disregarded and Buyer shall be obligated to give a new NOR when it is in fact ready to load.

#### 4.5 Vessel Requirements; Security Regulations.

- 4.5.1 Buyer represents, warrants, and covenants, that each vessel used for loading Oil under the Agreement:
- (a) shall be owned or demised-chartered by a member in good standing of the International Vessel Owners Pollution Federation Limited, carry on board a certificate of insurance as described in the Civil Liability Convention for Oil Pollution Damage, issued to it by a signatory state, and comply with the International Safety Management (ISM) code;

- (b) shall be covered, without expense by Seller, by insurance protecting against any and all liabilities from pollution issued by a protection and indemnity club that is a member of the International Group of P & I Clubs and internationally recognized insurers in an amount not less than one billion U.S. Dollars (U.S.\$1,000,000,000), or such greater amounts as may become available in the insurance market and generally obtained by prudent owners of similar vessels;
- (c) shall have a policy on drug and alcohol abuse which meets or exceeds the standards in the Oil Company International Marine Forum Guidelines, dated June 1995, and take proper measures to ensure compliance therewith; and
- (d) shall comply with the International Code for Security of Ships and of Port Facilities ("ISPS Code") and relevant amendments to Chapter XI of the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea, and similar laws and regulations pertaining to the security of ports, terminals and facilities ("Security Regulations"), and provide to Seller, prior to loading, a copy of the vessel's International Ship Security Certificate according to the ISPS Code.
- 4.5.2 Buyer shall be responsible for any costs or expenses in respect of the vessel (including any demurrage, retention, delay or other charges, fees or duties) imposed at the Loading Port resulting from the vessel agent's or vessel's failure to comply with the Security Regulations or the imposition of special security measures, inspections or other actions by authorities at the Loading Port based on the vessel's ten (10) prior ports of call, as established in the ISPS Code, and shall reimburse Seller for any such costs or expenses actually incurred by Seller. Notwithstanding any prior acceptance of the vessel by Seller, if at any time the vessel ceases to comply with the requirements of the ISPS Code, (a) Seller shall have the right not to berth the nominated vessel and any demurrage and all other expenses and losses of whatsoever nature arising from the vessel's lack of compliance shall be for the account of Buyer, and (b) Buyer shall be obligated to substitute a vessel in compliance with the ISPS Code.
- 4.5.3 Seller shall procure that the Loading Port complies with the requirements of the Security Regulations. Prior to loading of the vessel, Seller shall provide Buyer with a copy of the International Port Security Certificate in accordance to the ISPS Code. Seller shall be responsible for any costs or expenses in respect of the vessel (including any demurrage, retention, delay or other charges, fees or duties) resulting from the failure of the Loading Port to comply with the Security Regulations, and shall reimburse Buyer for any such costs or expenses actually incurred by Buyer.
- 4.5.4 If the maritime security is affected by any event or circumstance, as defined in the ISPS Code, which is not imputable to either Party, and special security measures or actions are required to be taken by the port authorities or the vessel, any cost or expense for demurrage, retention or delay shall be shared equally by Buyer and Seller.

### ARTICLE 5. LOADING CONDITIONS; DEMURRAGE

5.1 Berthing of Vessels; Commencement of Laytime.

- 5.1.1 Subject to the provisions of Articles 5.1.2 and 5.1.3, Seller shall provide a safe loading point at the Loading Port for each vessel designated in accordance with the provisions of Article 4, which loading point may be a berth, dock, anchorage, sea terminal, sea buoy mooring, submarine loading line or other place, including alongside lighters, or other vessels, at which the vessel may at all times lie safely afloat. In the event that a vessel arrives within its Agreed Laydays, then laytime and time on demurrage shall commence at the earlier of (a) six (6) hours after NOR or (b) when the vessel is All Fast; provided, however, that any NOR given within the last two (2) hours in which the Loading Port is open shall be deemed given when the Loading Port next opens.
- 5.1.2 Seller shall not be obligated to provide a loading point for any vessel arriving after the last Day of its Agreed Laydays. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall make reasonable efforts to receive the vessel as soon as possible taking into account operational requirements and constraints. Regardless of whether such vessel is permitted to berth, Seller shall in no event be liable for demurrage, deadfreight or other charges in connection with the loading thereof. If such vessel is permitted to berth, laytime and time on demurrage shall commence at the commencement of loading.
- 5.1.3 Seller shall not be obligated to provide any vessel arriving prior to its Agreed Laydays with a Loading Point until the first Day of its Agreed Laydays. If Seller does provide a loading point prior to the first Day of its Agreed Laydays, then laytime and time on demurrage shall commence at the earlier of (a) six (6) hours after the Loading Port opens on the first Day of the Agreed Laydays for such vessel and (b) commencement of loading.

#### 5.2 Shifting Loading Point of Vessels.

Seller shall have the right to shift vessels at the Loading Point from one berth to another, provided that all expenses incurred in connection therewith shall be borne by Seller and all time expended in such shifting of vessels shall count as used laytime and time on demurrage. Notwithstanding the provisions of the preceding sentence, the expenses incurred in connection with a shifting of any vessel which is attributable to one of the events referred to in Article 5.4 shall be borne by Buyer, the time consumed during such shifting shall not count as used laytime or time on demurrage, and Seller shall not be obligated to provide such vessel with a Loading Point until a Loading Point becomes available, taking into account the priority of other vessels.

#### 5.3 Allowed Laytime.

Except as otherwise specified in the Particular Conditions of Sale, Seller shall have an Allowed Laytime of thirty-six (36) hours to complete the loading of the quantity of Oil nominated and accepted. In the event that an Agreed Lifting Program provides for loading of Buyer's vessel at two (2) Loading Ports within the Specified Loading Area, or Seller notifies Buyer pursuant to Article 4.1.4 that loading shall be at two (2) Loading Points within the Specified Loading Area, the Allowed Laytime at each Loading Port shall be determined by reference to the quantity of Oil to be loaded at each Loading Port in accordance with the Particular Conditions of Sale. Used laytime or time on demurrage shall not commence at any Loading Port until six (6) hours after NOR is tendered at such Loading Port or when the vessel is All Fast, whichever occurs first. Used laytime and/or time on demurrage shall cease upon the

disconnection of delivery hoses after the completion of loading at the relevant Loading Port; it being understood that the time consumed from the time at which delivery hoses are disconnected at the first Loading Port until the time that laytime and time on demurrage would commence at the second Loading Port pursuant to the provisions of Article 5.1.1 shall not be counted as used laytime or time on demurrage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that used laytime and time on demurrage shall restart if Cargo documentation has not been delivered to the Buyer's vessel within four (4) hours after disconnection of hoses.

### 5.4 Adiustments to Laytime and Time on Demurrage.

In the event that the loading of any vessel is delayed, directly or indirectly, for any of the following reasons, whether occurring prior to, during or after the berthing or commencement of loading of the vessel:

- (a) lightering at Buyer's request;
- (b) delay or suspension in loading attributable to Buyer, vessel's agents, master, officers, crew, vessel owner or operator, or due to the failure of Buyer to comply with any provision of the Agreement;
  - (c) more than one stoppage in loading as a result instructions given by, or on behalf of, Buyer as to distribution of the Oil in the vessel;
- (d) any delay in loading as a result of the vessel not being in a seaworthy or cargoworthy condition or otherwise caused by the condition or facilities of the vessel, or any other reason attributable to or within the reasonable control of Buyer or the vessel;
  - (e) failure of the vessel to have required documentation aboard;
  - (f) bunkering (including time to connect or disconnect the bunkering hose) unless concurrent with loading so that no loss of time is involved;
- (g) restraint or interference in the vessel's operation by any governmental authority in connection with the ownership, registration or obligations of the Buyer or the vessel, or in connection with stowaways or with smuggling or other prohibited activities;
- (h) regulations of the Loading Port operator, port authorities or the government (or any political subdivision or agency thereof) having jurisdiction over the Loading Port, including, but not limited to, regulations or decisions closing the Loading Port, prohibiting night traffic or berth maneuvering or prohibiting or restricting loading for any reason;
- (i) time spent by the vessel shifting from a lightering or waiting area to the customary anchorage point or berth, even if lightering has taken place; or proceeding from the customary anchorage to the designated berth or Loading Point after it tenders NOR, calculated from the earlier of anchor aweigh or pilot on board and ending at All Fast;
  - (j) time required for a vessel to be granted free pratique or to receive customs, immigration or sanitary clearance;

- (k) inspection, gauging and measurement of vessel tanks or valves before, during and after loading;
- (l) bad weather, rough seas, fires or explosions; or
- (m) any of the events listed in Article 12.1 and not specifically listed above, or any other event of Force Majeure;

then the amount of time during which the loading of such vessel is so delayed shall not count as laytime or time on demurrage; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in the event the loading of any vessel is delayed due to bad weather or rough seas, then one-half the period of delay shall count as laytime or time on demurrage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller will make reasonable efforts to berth vessels in their order of arrival in case of delay due to bad weather or Force Majeure.

#### 5.5 <u>Demurrage</u>.

5.5.1 Seller shall pay Buyer demurrage for any hour or part of an hour of laytime at the Loading Port(s) in excess of the Allowed Laytime for the vessel involved, at the rate specified in the Particular Conditions of Sale. If the Particular Conditions of Sale do not specify a rate then the demurrage rate shall be equal to: (a) if the vessel is voyage-chartered, the rate specified in the charter party for the vessel (it being understood that Seller shall in no event be obligated to pay Buyer more demurrage than the amount of demurrage Buyer can demonstrate has actually been paid to the vessel owner in accordance with the terms of the charter party), or (b) if the vessel is owned by Buyer (or one of its affiliates) or is under time charter, the demurrage assessment of a member of ASBA utilizing the nominated quantity, the route taken and the first Day of the Agreed Loading Range. Buyer shall select the member of the ASBA to make such assessment and shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses associated therewith. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to avoid administrative time and expenses, Buyer shall not make, and Seller shall not be obligated to pay, any claim for demurrage of less than one thousand five hundred U.S. Dollars (U.S.\$1,500). The right of Buyer to demurrage pursuant to this Article 5.5 shall constitute Buyer's exclusive remedy with respect to any failure of Seller to complete the loading of any vessel within the Allowed Laytime.

- 5.5.2 Buyer shall submit any claim for demurrage to Seller together with all pertinent supporting documentation within ninety (90) Days of the bill of lading date. The claim shall be submitted in the same manner as notices are required to be sent pursuant to Article 21, and shall consist of the following information and supporting documentation:
  - (a) Buyer's calculations of demurrage and the amount claimed in U.S. Dollars;
- (b) copies of the notices of ETA as stipulated in the Agreement and as advised by the vessel directly to Seller or by the vessel agent based upon vessel instructions to the agent;
  - (c) copies of the NORs at the Loading Port(s);

- (d) copies of the statement of facts/time log of the port agent, the terminal representative attending the vessel at the Loading Port, or the inspection company;
  - (e) copies of all letters of protest issued by or to the master of the vessel;
- (f) if the vessel was voyage-chartered by Buyer, a copy of the fixture recap of the broker's fixture advice which reflects the demurrage rate, and a copy of the vessel owner's demurrage invoice; and
  - (g) if the vessel was owned or time-chartered by the Buyer, a copy of the demurrage assessment obtained pursuant to Article 5.5.1.

Seller shall not be liable to Buyer in respect of (and Buyer shall be deemed to have waived) any claim for demurrage which is not made in accordance with this Article 5.5.2 within ninety (90) Days after the bill of lading date.

# 5.6 <u>Buyer's Liability for Delay and Damage</u>.

5.6.1 Buyer shall pay Seller its actual costs, expenses or damages (including demurrage charges payable to third parties) incurred for each hour or part thereof that loading is delayed due to any of the reasons specified in (a) through (j) of Article 5.4.

5.6.2 Each vessel shall clear berth as soon as loading is completed and the delivery hoses are disconnected. Buyer shall pay Seller its actual costs, expenses or damages (including demurrage charges payable to third parties) incurred for each hour or part thereof in excess of two (2) hours that the vessel remains in berth subsequent to completion of loading and disconnection of the delivery hoses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall not be liable for the costs set forth above for all time in excess of four (4) hours after hoses have been disconnected, if (a) the reason for Buyer's vessel not vacating the berth is Seller's failure to deliver Cargo documents to Buyer's vessel within such four (4) hour time period, or (b) such delay is the result of a Force Majeure event at the Loading Port or the berthing facilities. Notwithstanding the foregoing and the provisions of Article 12, if such delay is a result of the circumstances set forth in Article 5.4(l), then Buyer shall be liable for one-half of the expenses described above.

5.6.3 In the event that for any reason Buyer's vessel causes damage to any facilities at the Loading Point and Seller is not timely compensated by the vessel causing the damage, then (a) Buyer shall reimburse Seller for the full cost of repair or replacement of such facilities without taking into account the depreciated value of such facilities; (b) any delay in loading the vessel as a result of such damage shall not be counted as used laytime or time on demurrage for such vessel, and (c) Buyer shall pay Seller its actual costs, expenses or damages (including demurrage charges to third parties) incurred for each hour or part thereof that any Loading Point may not be used as a result of such damage. Should any such damage occur, Buyer shall post such security for the payments provided in the preceding sentence as Seller may request; it being understood that Seller may detain the vessel at the Loading Port until such security shall have been posted.

# ARTICLE 6. QUANTITY MEASUREMENTS

# 6.1 <u>Determination of Quantity</u>.

The volume of each loading of Oil shall be determined by an independent inspector selected as provided in Article 4.1.3, whose fees shall be shared equally by the Parties. Measuring and gauging shall be performed in accordance with one of the following measurement systems in decreasing order of preference, depending on the operational conditions prevailing at the Loading Port involved. Seller and Buyer or their respective representatives may witness the taking of the measurements.

- (a) Flow meters installed on loading lines: Such meter measurements shall be taken immediately before, during and after loading. When measurements are made with positive displacement meters, the meters and associated measurement testers will be installed, maintained and calibrated according to the latest revision of API-Manual of Petroleum Measurement Standards ("API-MPMS"), Chapter 6.5, "Metering Systems for Loading and Unloading Marine Bulk Carriers"; Chapter 4.2, "Conventional Pipe Provers"; Chapter 4.8, "Operation of Proving Systems"; Chapter 7, "Temperature Determination"; and Chapter 5.2, "Measurement of Liquid Hydrocarbons by Displacement Meters". If turbine meters are used, gauging will follow the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 5.3, "Measurement of Liquid Hydrocarbons by Turbine Meters", for the meters and measurement testers. Calculation of metered quantity shall follow API-MPMS, Chapter 12.2, "Calculation of Liquid Petroleum Quantities measured by Turbine or Displacement Meters".
- (b) Shore tanks: Seller shall calibrate, or cause to be calibrated, the shore tanks on a periodic basis according to the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 2. The measurement of tank contents shall be performed according to the latest revisions of API-MPMS, Chapter 3, "Tank Gauging", and Chapter 7, "Temperature Determination". The independent inspector shall ensure that all equipment used in the performance of this work is calibrated and in good working order. Volume calculations shall follow the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 12.1, "Calculation of Static Petroleum Quantities", Part 1, "Upright Cylindrical Tanks and Marine Vessels". In the absence of methods contained in Article 6.1(a) or (b), discharge flow meters, or static shore tank measurements shall be utilized to measure the quantity of the Cargo. If neither of these methods are available, the quantity of the Cargo shall be determined by utilizing the methodology for "Volume Measured on Board" specified below in Article 6.1(c).
- (c) Volume measured on board: Volume measurements on board the vessel shall be made in accordance with the latest edition of the API-MPMS, Chapter 17, "Marine Measurement" and its subparts. The onboard quantity (including free water) measured prior to loading shall be deducted from the total observed volume measured after loading. Volume corrections in respect of temperature shall then be effected at 60°F (equivalent to 15.56°C) in accordance with the latest revision of ASTM D1250-80 or API-MPMS, Chapter 11.1, "Volume Correction Factors" at Seller's choice, thereby arriving at the gross standard volume. Such gross standard volume shall then be further corrected by dividing it by the current vessel experience factor, determined in accordance with the latest revision of API-MPMS,

Chapter 17.9, "Vessel Experience Factors". S & W, determined in the manner provided in Article 7.2, together with any increase in free water shall then be deducted from the volume determined above in order to arrive at the volume for purposes of the bill of lading and the invoice.

#### 6.2 Volume Corrections for Temperature.

Except in the case that quantity measurements are made pursuant to the provisions of Article 6.1(c), in which case temperature corrections shall be made in the manner and at the time specified in that Article, temperature readings shall be taken in accordance with the methods listed below in decreasing order of preference, depending on operational conditions prevailing at the Loading Port involved: (a) the flow-weighted average temperature taken at regular times during loading by Seller or its agents at flow meters; and (b) the temperature taken in shore tanks by Seller or its agent. Temperature corrections at 60°F (equivalent to 15.56°C) will then be effected for all volume determinations in accordance with ASTM-1250 or API-MPMS, Chapter 11.1, at Seller's choice, provided that temperature corrections shall not be made in the case that volume is determined by way of flow meters pursuant to Article 6.1(a) and temperature compensators at 60°F (equivalent to 15.56°C) are integrated into the meter system. S & W, determined in the manner provided in Article 7.1(a), (b) or (c), as the case may be, and Article 7.2, shall be deducted from the volume corrected for temperature as provided above in order to arrive at the volume for purposes of the bill of lading and invoice.

#### 6.3 <u>Conclusiveness of Measurements</u>.

Quantity and temperature measurements witnessed by the independent inspector as provided in this Article 6 shall be final and binding on the Parties, except in the case of manifest error or fraud. In any event, without prejudice to the right of either Party to pursue a claim in accordance with Article 11, the determination of the independent inspector shall govern for purposes of the quantity stated in the bill of lading and the obligation of Buyer to make payment in accordance with the provisions of Article 10.

# ARTICLE 7. QUALITY

#### 7.1 <u>Determination of Quality</u>.

Sampling for quality of the Oil loaded in each shipment shall be witnessed by the independent inspector in accordance with the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 8.2, "Standard Practice for Automatic Sampling of Liquid Petroleum and Petroleum Products", or ASTM D-4177, at Seller's choice, where Oil is measured by flow metering, and API-MPMS, Chapter 8.1, "Standard Practice for Manual Sampling of Petroleum and Petroleum Products", or ASTM D-4057, at Seller's choice, where Oil is measured by tank gauging. When the Oil is sampled at a tank, samples shall be taken and analyzed of the material in pipelines from the tank to the dock loading arms. Buyer and Seller or their representatives may witness the taking and testing of samples. Quality shall be determined by using the methods listed below in decreasing order of preference, depending on the operational conditions prevailing at the Loading Port involved: (a) from samples drawn from automatic samplers installed in the loading lines of each

tank; (b) from samples drawn from the isolated storage shore tanks delivering the Oil; or (c) from a composite sample obtained in proportional parts from the vessel's tanks. In all cases, equal quantities of Oil from each tank shall be drawn and mixed and equally filled in seven (7) containers of one Gallon each and finally sealed. Three (3) of such sealed containers shall be delivered to the local office of the Ministry at the Loading Port (or to the address notified by the Ministry), one shall be handed over to the master of the vessel and one (1) to the independent inspector, and two (2) shall be kept by Seller for ninety (90) Days after the date of the bill of lading.

# 7.2 Analysis of Samples.

The independent inspector shall witness quality tests for sulfur, salt and Reid vapor pressure on the samples according to the latest revision of ASTM or API-MPMS procedures, at Seller's choice. Gravity tests on all Oil shall be made in accordance with the latest revision of API-MPMS, Chapter 9.1, or ASTM D1298-80, at Seller's choice. S & W shall be established in each case pursuant to the latest revision of ASTM D-4007 or API Chapter 10-3, at Seller's choice, in tests witnessed by the independent inspector; it being understood that if the Oil is reconstituted crude oil, deduction for S & W shall be made only to the crude oil component of such Oil. Quality tests conducted in accordance with the above provisions shall be final and binding upon the Parties for invoicing purposes, but without prejudice to the right of either Party to pursue a claim.

## 7.3 **NO WARRANTIES.**

SELLER MAKES NO WARRANTIES REGARDING OIL AND DOES NOT GUARANTEE OR WARRANT THE SUITABILITY OF OIL FOR ANY PURPOSE WHATSOEVER EXCEPT THAT SELLER WARRANTS THAT (A) EACH GRADE OF OIL SOLD AND DELIVERED UNDER THE AGREEMENT SHALL MEET THE DEFINITION AND TYPICAL SPECIFICATIONS OF EACH GRADE OF OIL AS SET FORTH IN THE PARTICULAR CONDITIONS OF SALE AND SHALL BE TYPICAL OF OIL SOLD AND DELIVERED TO SELLER'S OTHER EXPORT CUSTOMERS, AND (B) SELLER HAS GOOD AND MARKETABLE TITLE TO ALL OIL SOLD TO BUYER UNDER THE AGREEMENT. EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN THE PRECEDING SENTENCE, BUYER HEREBY RELEASES SELLER FROM ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

# ARTICLE 8. PASSAGE OF TITLE; DELIVERY

#### 8.1 Passage of Title.

Delivery of the Oil shall be made in bulk to Buyer FOB the applicable Loading Port to vessels to be provided by Buyer. Delivery shall be deemed completed when the Oil passes the permanent flange connection of the delivery hose at the Loading Port. At that point, Seller's responsibility with respect to the Oil shall cease, and title to and all risk of loss of or damage to, and deterioration or evaporation of, the Oil so delivered shall pass to, and be assumed

by, Buyer. Any loss of or damage to Oil or any property of Seller or of any other person during loading which is in any way attributable to the vessel or its officers or crew shall be borne by Buyer.

#### 8.2 Port and Loading Expenses.

All expenses ashore pertaining to the pumping of the Oil from shore tanks to vessels shall be borne by Seller, including, but not limited to, wharfage, dockage and quay dues (if any) at the Loading Port. Seller shall pay all export taxes imposed by the government (or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof) having jurisdiction over the Loading Port from which the Oil is deemed to have been exported. All other expenses pertaining to the loading of any vessel, including, without limitation, all vessel agency fees, anchorage, tonnage, towage, pilotage, customs, consular, entrance, clearance and quarantine fees, port dues and all charges and expenses relating to berthing and unberthing of vessels, shall be borne by Buyer.

#### 8.3 Loading Port Regulations.

All laws, rules and regulations now or hereafter in existence relating to operations at the Loading Ports shall apply to all vessels provided by Buyer, including, without limitation, any regulations relating to (a) the prevention and control of fires and water pollution and (b) lead-free and segregated or clean ballast. Buyer shall reimburse Seller or its agent for any expenses they may incur as a result of the noncompliance by any such vessel with any such applicable law, rule or regulation, including, without limitation, any expenses incurred by Seller or its agent in connection with the extinguishing of fires, the repair of damage caused thereby, the cleaning-up of water pollution and the payment of any charges assessed by the government (or any political subdivision or agency thereof) having jurisdiction over the Loading Port in question.

## 8.4 Buyer's Knowledge of Loading Port Facilities; Standard Procedures.

8.4.1 Buyer hereby acknowledges that it is fully familiar with the facilities and conditions at the Loading Ports, including the loading conditions and procedures and the facilities for the storage and delivery of the Oil. The facilities and conditions at the Loading Ports may be changed at any time. Buyer also acknowledges that standard procedures in effect at the Loading Ports from time to time relating, *inter alia*, to quality and quantity measurements, safety in loading, and inspection of vessel tanks, shall supplement (but not conflict with) the procedures specified herein. Seller shall supply Buyer with a copy of such procedures upon Buyer's request.

8.4.2 Seller makes no representations, express or implied, concerning navigational conditions in public channels or waterways to be utilized by the vessel in order to reach or depart the Loading Point which may require the exercise of special precautions or safety measures; it being understood that the operator of the vessel shall be responsible for making a thorough check of any navigational conditions as are likely to exist at the approaches of the Loading Port about the time of its arrival so as to prevent and avoid any hazards or controllable risks.

## 8.5 Hazardous Warning Responsibility.

Seller shall provide Buyer with a Material Safety Data Sheet for each type of Oil sold hereunder. Buyer acknowledges that there may be hazards associated with the loading, unloading, transporting, handling or use of the Oil sold hereunder, which may require that warnings be communicated to or other precautionary action taken with all persons handling, coming into contact with, or in any way concerned with the Oil sold hereunder. Buyer assumes as to its employees, independent contractors and any subsequent purchaser of the Oil sold hereunder all responsibility for all such necessary warnings or other precautionary measures relating to hazards to person and property associated with such Oil. Buyer, at its own expense, shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its parents, subsidiaries and affiliates and its and their respective agents, officers, directors, employees, representatives, successors and assigns from and against any and all liabilities; losses; damages; demands; claims; penalties; fines; actions; suits; legal, administrative or arbitration proceedings; judgments, orders, directives, injunctions, decrees or awards of any jurisdictions; costs and expenses (including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees, expert witness fees, and related litigation costs) arising out of or in any manner related to Buyer's failure to provide necessary warnings or other precautionary measures in connection with the Oil sold hereunder as provided above.

# ARTICLE 9. NO SET-OFF

Without prejudice to Buyer's right subsequently to assert claims it may have under the Agreement by notices pursuant to Article 11 or in arbitration proceedings pursuant to Article 13, all payments required to be made by Buyer under the Agreement shall be made punctually and without set-off or deduction whatsoever for any claims which Buyer or any other party may now have or hereafter acquire against Seller. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyer shall not be entitled to reduce or delay payment of the amount invoiced by Seller for any Oil on the basis that a dispute exists as to the quality or quantity of Oil recorded as having been delivered on the applicable certificate.

# ARTICLE 10. PAYMENT TERMS

## 10.1 Currency, Time and Place of Payment; Overdue Payments.

Buyer shall make all payments required to be made by it under the Agreement in immediately available U.S. Dollars, without any discount or deduction whatsoever, by wire transfer to such account at such bank as may be designated by Seller from time to time. Payments in respect of Oil sold and delivered shall be made within thirty (30) Days of the date of the bill of lading therefor (bill of lading date excluded) specified in the Particular Conditions of Sale. All other payments to Seller shall be made five (5) Days after presentation by Seller of a written demand setting forth the provisions of the Agreement giving rise to the payment obligation, the nature of such obligation, and the amount thereof. If any payment hereunder is due on a Day which is not a Banking Day, such payment shall be due on the immediately preceding Banking Day. In the event that Buyer fails to make any payment when due, then, to the extent permitted by applicable law and without prejudice to the application of any other provision hereof or to any other remedy provided to Seller under the Agreement or otherwise (including, without limitation, Articles 10.4 and 10.5), interest shall accrue daily on the amount

of the overdue payment, commencing on the date such payment was due, at a rate per annum equal to three percent (3%) above the prime rate in effect from time to time as announced by Citibank, N.A. at its principal office in New York, New York, United States; it being understood and agreed that each change in the prime rate shall take effect on the Day on which such change is announced by Citibank, N.A. Interest shall be computed for the actual number of Days elapsed on the basis of a year consisting of three hundred sixty (360) Days, payable on demand.

#### 10.2 Contents of Invoices; Other Substantiating Documentation.

Each invoice shall set forth at least the following information: (a) the date(s) of delivery in respect of which the invoice is rendered; (b) the Loading Point(s) for such delivery; (c) the volume of the delivery stated in Barrels; and (d) the purchase price for each type of Oil comprising the delivery, and the terms of payment. Upon request, each Party shall furnish to the other Party all available such substantiating documents incident to the delivery, including a satisfactory source document for each volume delivered during any Month. The source documents shall state at least the type and quality of Oil delivered and method of measurement, the corrected API gravity, temperature, and S & W content.

#### 10.3 Payment Expenses.

Buyer shall bear all expenses and bank charges in connection with any payments made to Seller under the Agreement, including, without limitation, any costs of establishing and obtaining confirmation of a Letter of Credit referred to in Article 10.4.

#### 10.4 Security for Payment.

Without prejudice and in addition to any of Seller's rights under Article 16 of these General Terms or otherwise, if at any time (a) Buyer fails to make any payment required to be made by it contemplated by the Agreement when and as the same shall become due and payable; (b) any guarantor of Buyer's obligations under the Agreement fails to make any payment required to be made by it under the guaranty when and as the same shall become due and payable; (c) Buyer defaults in any of its material obligations hereunder and under the Agreement; (d) any guarantor of Buyer's obligations under the Agreement defaults in any of its material obligations under the guaranty; (e) in Seller's judgment, the financial condition of Buyer or any guarantor of Buyer's obligations under the Agreement warrants a change in credit terms, or (f) the amount payable by Buyer exceeds the credit limits established by Seller, then Seller shall have the right to require Buyer to make all payments required under the Agreement (whether due in respect of the purchase of Oil or otherwise) in advance in immediately available funds or, at Buyer's option, by posting of an irrevocable documentary or standby letter of credit ("Letter of Credit"). The amount of the advance payment or Letter of Credit shall be equal to Seller's estimate of the value of Oil for which the advance payment or a Letter of Credit is provided (which may be, at Seller's discretion, for a particular shipment or for some or all shipments in a Month, plus ten percent (10%)), and such other outstanding obligations owed by Buyer to Seller as Seller shall determine, and paid or posted not later than seven (7) Business Days prior to the first Day of the Agreed Loading Range. Any such Letter of Credit shall be opened or confirmed by a first-class international bank satisfactory to Seller and shall be otherwise satisfactory in form and substance to Seller. In addition to the foregoing, if Seller, at

any time, has reasonable grounds to believe that Buyer will not be able to perform its obligations under the Agreement, Seller shall have the right to demand reasonable assurances of performance from Buyer. If such assurances are not reasonably satisfactory to Seller, Seller, in addition to any other rights or remedies that it may have, shall have the right to suspend performance of the Agreement or cancel the Agreement.

#### 10.5 <u>Suspension of Deliveries</u>.

Without prejudice and in addition to any of Seller's rights under Article 16 or otherwise, if (a) Buyer fails to make any payment required to be made by it hereunder or under the Agreement when and as the same shall become due and payable, or to make an advance payment or post a Letter of Credit as required in accordance with Article 10.4; or (b) any guarantor of Buyer's obligations under the Agreement fails to make any payment required to be made by it under the guaranty when and as the same shall become due and payable, then Seller shall have the right at its sole discretion to suspend further deliveries of Oil until Buyer makes the required payment, together with any accrued interest thereon, or posts a Letter of Credit as required by Seller in accordance with Article 10.4.

# ARTICLE 11. CLAIMS

#### 11.1 Notice of Claims.

Any claim which Buyer may have arising out of or relating to the Agreement must be notified to Seller: (a) within ninety (90) Days after the date of the bill of lading for the shipment involved, if a claim is for demurrage (any such claim must be accompanied by the documentation required by Article 5.5.2); (b) within ninety (90) Days after the date on which the loading of any shipment is completed, if a claim relates to the quantity or quality of Oil in such shipment, or (c) within thirty (30) Days after the occurrence of the events giving rise to such claim, if a claim involves any other matter relating to the Agreement. Seller shall not be liable to Buyer in respect of, and Buyer shall be deemed to have waived, any claim which is not so notified to Seller, and Buyer shall reimburse Seller for any expenses, including attorneys' fees, which Seller incurs in connection with the defense of any such claim.

#### 11.2 Payment in Full.

In no event shall Buyer be entitled to reduce or postpone payment of the full Purchase Price owed in respect of any Cargo on the grounds that a dispute exists concerning the quality or quantity of Oil so delivered.

# ARTICLE 12. FORCE MAJEURE

#### 12.1 Relief from Liability.

Neither Party to the Agreement shall be liable for demurrage, loss, damage, claims or demands of any nature arising out of delays or defaults in performance under the Agreement due to any cause reasonably beyond its control despite the due diligence of the Party

affected ("Force Majeure"). Force Majeure shall be deemed to include, but not be limited to, wars, hostilities, terrorism, acts of the public enemy; sabotage, boycott, blockade, revolutions, insurrections, riots or commotions, acts of God, fires, frost or ice, earthquakes, storms, lightning, weather or sea conditions, tidal wave or perils of the sea, navigational accidents, vessel damages or breakdowns, loss of vessel due to sinking, belligerents or governmental confiscation, with or without formal requisition; accidents or closing of ports, docks, dams, channels, river-beds and other maritime or navigational aids; epidemics and quarantines: strikes or agreements among workers, lockouts or other labor disturbances; explosions or accidents caused by fire or other causes to: wells, pipelines, storage deposits, refinery facilities, machinery and other facilities; faults or omissions caused or due to: expropriation, requisition, confiscation or nationalization; embargoes; export or import restrictions, or restrictions of production, rationing or allocation of same, whether imposed by law, decree or regulation, or by insistence, request or instructions of any governmental authority, or organization owned or controlled by any government or of which such governmental authority is a member, or by any person purporting to represent a government; interference, restriction or onerous regulations, imposed by any government authority to whose jurisdiction any of the Parties is subject to, whether civil or military, legal or de facto, or which purports to act under any constitution, decree, act or otherwise.

#### 12.2 **Notice**.

A Party claiming Force Majeure shall promptly notify the other Party of the occurrence of the event of Force Majeure relied upon and the expected duration thereof. The Party claiming Force Majeure shall use commercially reasonable efforts to give the other Party notice of termination of the event of Force Majeure and the date when performance is expected to resume.

## 12.3 Payment for Oil Sold and Delivered.

Nothing in this Article 12 shall relieve Buyer of its obligation to pay in full for Oil sold and delivered hereunder and for all other amounts due to Seller from Buyer under the Agreement.

#### 12.4 No Proration or Make-Up.

12.4.1 If, as a result of Force Majeure, Seller at any time does not have available a sufficient amount of Oil for export to supply the aggregate amount of Oil to be sold by it hereunder to Buyer and under such commitments as Seller may have with its other customers, Seller shall not be obligated to prorate the Oil available to it for export among its customers, including Buyer, and shall allocate such available Oil in a commercially reasonable manner determined by Seller. If an event of Force Majeure affecting Seller shall occur, Seller shall have no obligation to purchase crude oil from any party on the open market for sale to Buyer or to supply Oil to Buyer from any of Seller's other facilities or supply other types of crude oil that are not specified in the Particular Conditions of Sale.

12.4.2 Seller shall not be obligated to make up deliveries of Oil which have been prevented by an event of Force Majeure.

## 12.5 No Extension of Contract; Right to Terminate.

The occurrence of an event of Force Majeure shall not operate to extend the period of the Agreement. Should any such event curtail or suspend the performance of either Party hereunder for a period in excess of sixty (60) Days, either Party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement upon notice to the other Party.

# ARTICLE 13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION; GOVERNING LAW

## 13.1 Settlement by Arbitration.

All disputes arising under or in connection with the Agreement shall be finally settled by arbitration under the Rules of Arbitration ("ICC Rules") of the International Chamber of Commerce in effect at such time. The place of arbitration shall be Caracas, Venezuela and the language of the arbitration shall be English, unless otherwise stipulated in the Particular Conditions of Sale. The number of arbitrators shall be three (3), and the arbitrators shall apply the substantive law of Venezuela to the merits of the dispute. Any arbitral award relating to the performance by either Party of its obligations under the Agreement shall be (a) reasoned in accordance with Article 25.2 of the ICC Rules, (b) in writing, and (c) final and binding on all parties to the arbitration. Any arbitral award may be confirmed or embodied in any order or judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction.

#### 13.2 Governing Law.

The Parties agree that the Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Venezuela, without giving any effect to any principle of conflicts of law which would require the application of the law of another jurisdiction.

# ARTICLE 14. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer represents and warrants to Seller that:

- (a) it is a legal entity duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization;
- (b) the Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary governance action of Buyer and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance with its terms;
- (c) unless otherwise specifically agreed, Buyer is purchasing the Oil hereunder exclusively for its own use;
- (d) Buyer has not been contacted by or negotiated with any finder, broker or other intermediary for the purchase of the Oil and no such person is entitled to any compensation with respect to the Agreement or the sale of Oil hereunder; and

(e) none of Buyer's directors, employees or agents has given or will give any commission, fee, rebate, gift or entertainment of significant value in connection with the Agreement, it being agreed that representatives of Seller may audit the applicable records of Buyer solely for the purpose of determining whether there has been compliance with this clause (e).

## ARTICLE 15. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

Except as expressly provided herein or in the Particular Conditions of Sale, neither Party shall be liable for any consequential, indirect, exemplary or special losses or damages of any kind arising out of or in any way connected with the performance of or failure to perform the Agreement, including, but not limited to, losses or damages resulting from shutdown of plants or inability to perform sales or any other contracts arising out of or in connection with the performance or nonperformance of the Agreement.

# ARTICLE 16. TERMINATION

#### 16.1 Termination.

The Agreement may not be terminated except in accordance with these General Terms as well as in accordance with the terms and conditions of in the Particular Conditions of Sale.

#### 16.2 Termination Not to Relieve Buyer of Obligations.

Notwithstanding any termination of the Agreement, Buyer shall not be relieved of any of its obligations to make any payment required of it under the Agreement.

#### 16.3 Termination for an Insolvency Event.

Each Party acknowledges that the Agreement is a "Forward Contract" as defined in United States Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C. Sec. 101(25)). If a Party (the "Non-Defaulting Party") terminates the Agreement by reason of one or more events of default of the other Party (the "Defaulting Party"), (a) the Defaulting Party shall have no right to recover damages or other compensation from the Non-Defaulting Party and (b) the Non-Defaulting Party, in addition to any rights or remedies it may have under the Agreement or otherwise, shall have the right to recover damages or other compensation from the Defaulting Party in respect of the quantities of Oil that would have been sold or purchased, as the case may be, under the Agreement in the absence of a termination.

## 16.4 No Gifts.

Neither Party shall, nor shall it permit its agents, representatives or personnel, to grant or offer the agents, representatives or personnel of the other, either directly or indirectly, any gifts, loans, gratifications, commissions or fees, personally benefiting said agents,

representatives or personnel or any member of their families, or any company in which they hold a substantial interest, except for such small scale institutional gifts as are customary and permissible in accordance with best oil industry practices in the Western Hemisphere. If either Party shall breach this obligation, then the Agreement shall immediately terminate without prejudice to any other remedies or actions as may be prescribed by applicable law. Where either Party receives any requests from the agents, representatives or personnel of the other Party (or from third parties purporting to act on their behalf) for the granting of any gifts, loans, gratification, commissions or fees precluded by the preceding provisions of this Article 16.4, it shall promptly notify the other of such request together with such other information as may be required to investigate the relevant facts and circumstances.

#### 16.5 Other Rights and Remedies.

The right of either Party to terminate the Agreement shall be in addition to any other rights or remedies (including, but not limited to, the right to seek damages) provided to such Party under the Agreement, applicable law or otherwise.

## ARTICLE 17. CONFIDENTIALITY

Buyer agrees that all information obtained in connection with the Agreement from Seller by any officer, director, employee, agent or other representative of Buyer shall be treated as the confidential and proprietary information of Seller, and such information shall not be disclosed without the prior written consent of Seller; provided, however, that Buyer may disclose such information, including the contents of the Agreement, (a) pursuant to governmental, judicial and regulatory requirements to which Buyer is subject if such disclosure by Buyer is judicially mandated or otherwise required by law or regulation and the failure to so disclose could subject Buyer to civil or criminal action or penalties, and (b) Buyer's financial advisors, attorneys, accountants and potential financing sources who agree to keep such information confidential as required hereby. When such disclosure is required pursuant to a subpoena, Buyer shall use its best efforts (including, but not limited to, seeking judicial appeal of such requirement) to have the information maintained as confidential and shall disclose the minimum information necessary to satisfy such requirements. In the event that Buyer becomes legally compelled to disclose any of such information pursuant to a subpoena, Buyer shall provide Seller with notice of such event promptly upon its obtaining knowledge thereof (provided that Buyer is not otherwise prohibited by law, regulation or legal process from giving such notice) so that Seller may seek a protective order or other appropriate remedy. When information is requested pursuant to a subpoena, in the event that such protective order or other remedy is not obtained or is not otherwise available, Buyer shall furnish only that portion of such information that is legally required to be disclosed and in a manner reasonably designed to preserve its confidential nature. In the event that Buyer makes a disclosure contrary to the provisions of this Article 17, Seller shall have the right, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies it may have under the Agreement or otherwise, to obtain injunctive relief prohibiting Buyer from disclosing such confidential information, notwithstanding any monetary remedy which may be available to Seller. This obligation shall be of a continuing nature and shall not be cancelled by the expiration, suspension or termination of the Agreement.

# ARTICLE 18. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

During the performance of this Agreement, each Party shall comply with all laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and requirements of federal, state and local governmental or regulatory bodies which are applicable to this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 19. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES; ASSIGNMENT

Nothing in the Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give to any person or entity any rights as a third-party beneficiary of the Agreement or any part hereof. Buyer shall not assign to any person or entity any right or interest in the Agreement or delegate to any third party any of its obligations hereunder without the consent of Seller. Buyer shall not assign to any party any right or interest in the Agreement or delegate to any party any obligation thereunder without the prior written consent of Seller. In the event of any purported assignment or delegation by Buyer in contravention of the provisions of this Article 19, Seller shall have the right, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies it may have hereunder or otherwise, to terminate the Agreement effective immediately upon notice to Buyer. Seller may freely assign the Agreement to any of its subsidiaries or affiliates and Seller's collection rights under this Agreement and rights to enforce any guarantee of Buyer's payment obligations under the Agreement to any bank or financial institution.

# ARTICLE 20. NO WAIVER; CUMULATIVE REMEDIES

Except as specifically provided in the Particular Conditions of Sale, no failure or delay on the part of either Party in exercising any right, power or remedy hereunder and no course of dealing between the Parties shall operate as a waiver by either Party of any such right, power or remedy; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, power or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. Without prejudice to Article 15 and except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in the Particular Conditions of Sale, all rights, powers and remedies provided hereunder are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, powers or remedies provided by law or otherwise. Except as required by the Particular Conditions of Sale, no notice or demand upon either Party in any case shall entitle such Party to any other or future notice or demand in similar or other circumstances or constitute a waiver of the right of either Party to take any other or further action in any such circumstances without further notice or demand.

# ARTICLE 21. SEVERABILITY OF PROVISIONS

#### 21.1 Illegality, Unenforceability or Invalidity.

21.1.1 If any provision of the Agreement shall be found to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable by any court or administrative body of competent jurisdiction, then such provision shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such illegality, prohibition, or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof which shall remain in

force and effect, and the finding of any such illegality, prohibition, or unenforceability shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.

- 21.1.2 If any provision of the Agreement is so found to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable but would be legal, valid or enforceable if some part of the provision were modified, the provision in question shall apply with such modification(s) as may be necessary to make it legal, valid and enforceable.
- 21.1.3 The Parties agree, in the circumstances referred to in Article 21.1.1, to negotiate in good faith to agree on a legal, valid and enforceable provision to substitute for any illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision which achieves to the greatest extent possible the same effect as would have been achieved by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision.
- 21.1.4 If the Parties are unable to reach an agreement regarding a substitute provision within a period of thirty (30) Days of the commencement of the negotiations referred to in Article 21.1.3, then either Party shall be entitled to refer the matter to arbitration under Article 13.

## 21.2 Conflict with Particular Conditions of Sale.

In the event of any conflict between any of the terms and conditions of these General Terms and any of the terms and conditions set forth in the Particular Conditions of Sale, the terms and conditions contained in the Particular Conditions of Sale shall prevail.

# ARTICLE 22. NOTICES

All notices and other communications given under the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by first class mail; internationally recognized courier service; electronic mail or facsimile transmission, and, in each case, shall be deemed effective upon receipt by the addressee as provided below:

To Seller: PDVSA-PETRÓLEO S.A.

AVENIDA LIBERTADOR

EDIFICIO PETRÓLEOS DE VENEZUELA

TORRE OESTE PISO 7

LA CAMPIÑA

CARACAS 1060-A VENEZUELA
DIRECTOR, SUPPLY AND MARKETING

FACSIMILE:

ELECTRONIC MAIL:

or at such other address or electronic mail address as may be notified by Seller to Buyer from time to time in the manner provided in this Article 22.

To Buyer: At the address or electronic mail address of its principal office or any office dealing with Seller with respect to the Agreement, or at any such other

address or

electronic mail address as may be notified by Buyer to Seller from time to time in the manner provided in this Article 22.

# ARTICLE 23. AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS

Any amendment or modification to the Agreement must be made upon the express written agreement of both Parties, and any waiver of any provision of the Agreement by either Party must be upon the express written agreement of such Party. Notwithstanding anything herein that may be to the contrary, Seller reserves the right, without the approval or consent of Buyer, to change or modify these General Terms for reasons related to (a) health, safety and environmental matters; (b) issues relating to operations of the Loading Port, and (c) compliance with the requirements of any change in applicable law; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in each case any such change or modification shall apply equally to all similarly situated customers of Seller.

# TERM LOAN CREDIT AGREEMENT

dated as of February 1, 2008

among

**NUSTAR LOGISTICS, L.P.** 

NUSTAR ENERGY L.P.

**The Lenders Party Hereto** 

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,

as Administrative Agent

SUNTRUST BANK,

as Syndication Agent

and

BARCLAYS BANK PLC,

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as Co-Documentation Agents

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC.,

as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I D		1
Section 1.01	Defined Terms	1
Section 1.02	Classification of Loans and Tranches	19
Section 1.03	Terms Generally	19
Section 1.04	Accounting Terms; GAAP	19
ARTICLE II T	The Term Loans	20
Section 2.01	Commitments	20
Section 2.02	Loans and Tranches	20
Section 2.03	Requests for the Loans	20
Section 2.04	Funding of the Loans	21
Section 2.05	Interest Elections	22
Section 2.06	Termination of Commitments	23
Section 2.07	Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt.	23
Section 2.08	Optional Prepayment of Loans	24
Section 2.09	Mandatory Prepayment of Loans.	24
Section 2.10	Fees	25
Section 2.11	Interest	25
Section 2.12	Alternate Rate of Interest	26
Section 2.13	Increased Costs	26
Section 2.14	Break Funding Payments	27
Section 2.15	Taxes	27
Section 2.16	Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Set-offs	28
Section 2.17	Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders	30
ARTICLE III	Representations and Warranties	30
Section 3.01	Organization; Powers	30
Section 3.02	Authorization; Enforceability	31
Section 3.03	Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts	31
Section 3.04	Financial Condition; No Material Adverse Change	31
Section 3.05	Properties	31
Section 3.06	Litigation and Environmental Matters	32
Section 3.07	Compliance with Laws and Agreements	32
Section 3.08	Investment Company Status	32
Section 3.09	Taxes	32
Section 3.10	ERISA	32
Section 3.11	Disclosure	33
Section 3.12	Subsidiaries	33
ARTICLE IV	Conditions	33
Section 4.01	Effective Date	33
Section 4.02	Additional Conditions Precedent	34

35

**ARTICLE V Affirmative Covenants** 

Section 5.01	Financial Statements and Other Information	35
Section 5.02	Notices of Material Events	37
Section 5.03	Existence; Conduct of Business	38
Section 5.04	Payment of Obligations	38
Section 5.05	Maintenance of Properties; Insurance	38
Section 5.06	Books and Records; Inspection Rights	39
Section 5.07	Compliance with Laws	39
Section 5.08	Use of Proceeds	39
Section 5.09	Environmental Laws	39
Section 5.10	Unrestricted Subsidiaries	39
Section 5.11	Subsidiary Guaranty	40
Section 5.12	Acquisition Notice	40
	·	40
	legative Covenants	40
Section 6.01	Indebtedness	40
Section 6.02	Liens  Find demontal Changes	41
Section 6.03	Fundamental Changes  Investments Leans Advances Customers and Acquisitions	42
Section 6.04	Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions	42
Section 6.05	Swap Agreements Postricted Powersts	43
Section 6.06	Restricted Payments Transactions with Affiliates	
Section 6.07	Transactions with Affiliates	44 44
Section 6.08	Restrictive Agreements  Limitation on Medifications of Other Agreements	45
Section 6.09	Limitation on Modifications of Other Agreements	45
Castion C 10		
Section 6.10	Designation and Conversion of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries; Debt of Unrestricted Subsidiaries	
Section 6.11	Financial Condition Covenant	46
Section 6.11	=	
Section 6.11  ARTICLE VII	Financial Condition Covenant	46
Section 6.11  ARTICLE VII	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default	46 <b>46</b>
Section 6.11  ARTICLE VIII  ARTICLE VIII	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation	46 46 48 48 49
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations	46 46 48 48 49 50
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04	Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations  Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional	46 46 48 48 49 50 50
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations	46 46 48 48 49 50 50 51
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04	Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations  Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional	46 46 48 48 49 50 50
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations  Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional  Reinstatement	46 46 48 48 49 50 50 51
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX T	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations  Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional  Reinstatement  Payments  The Administrative Agent	46 48 48 49 50 51 51
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX TARTICLE X M	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations  Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional  Reinstatement  Payments  The Administrative Agent	46 48 48 49 50 51 51 52
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX TARTICLE X M Section 10.01	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations  Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional  Reinstatement Payments  The Administrative Agent  iscellaneous  Notices	46 46 48 48 49 50 51 51 52 54
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX TARTICLE X M Section 10.01 Section 10.02	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee Subrogation Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional Reinstatement Payments  The Administrative Agent  iscellaneous Notices Waivers; Amendments	46 48 48 49 50 51 51 52 54 54
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX TARTICLE X M Section 10.01	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations  Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional  Reinstatement Payments  The Administrative Agent  iscellaneous  Notices  Waivers; Amendments  Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver	46 48 48 49 50 50 51 51 52 54 54 54
ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX T ARTICLE X M Section 10.01 Section 10.02 Section 10.03	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee Subrogation Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional Reinstatement Payments  The Administrative Agent  iscellaneous Notices Waivers; Amendments	46 48 48 49 50 50 51 51 52 54 54 54 55 56
ARTICLE VIII ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX T ARTICLE X M Section 10.01 Section 10.02 Section 10.03 Section 10.04	Events of Default  MLP Guarantee MLP Guarantee Subrogation Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional Reinstatement Payments  The Administrative Agent iscellaneous Notices Waivers; Amendments Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver Successors and Assigns. Survival	46 48 48 49 50 50 51 51 52 54 54 54
ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX T ARTICLE X M Section 10.01 Section 10.02 Section 10.03 Section 10.04 Section 10.05	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee Subrogation Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional Reinstatement Payments  The Administrative Agent iscellaneous Notices Waivers; Amendments Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver Successors and Assigns.	46 48 48 49 50 51 51 52 54 54 54 55 56 59
ARTICLE VIII Section 8.01 Section 8.02 Section 8.03 Section 8.04 Section 8.05 Section 8.06 ARTICLE IX T ARTICLE X M Section 10.01 Section 10.02 Section 10.03 Section 10.04 Section 10.05 Section 10.06	Financial Condition Covenant  Events of Default  MLP Guarantee  MLP Guarantee  Subrogation  Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional Reinstatement Payments  The Administrative Agent  iscellaneous  Notices  Waivers; Amendments Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver  Successors and Assigns.  Survival  Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness	46 48 48 49 50 51 51 52 54 54 54 55 56 59

Section 10.10 Section 10.11 Section 10.12 Section 10.13	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL Headings Confidentiality Interest Rate Limitation	
Section 10.13	Limitation of Liability	
Section 10.15	USA PATRIOT Act	
EXHIBITS:		
Exhibit A – Form	n of Assignment and Assumption	
Exhibit B – Form of Borrowing Request		
Exhibit C – Form of Opinion of the Borrower's and the MLP's Counsel		
Exhibit D – Forr	m of Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement	
SCHEDULES:		
Schedule 2.01 –	Commitments	

Schedule 3.06 – Disclosed Matters

Schedule 3.12 – Subsidiaries

Schedule 6.01 – Existing Indebtedness Schedule 6.04 – Existing Investments Schedule 6.07 – Affiliate Agreements Schedule 6.08 – Existing Restrictions

**TERM LOAN CREDIT AGREEMENT** dated as of February 1, 2008 among NUSTAR LOGISTICS, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, NUSTAR ENERGY L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, the LENDERS party hereto, JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent, SUNTRUST BANK, as Syndication Agent, and BARCLAYS BANK PLC and WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Co-Documentation Agents.

The parties hereto agree as follows:

# ARTICLE I Definitions

Section 1.01 <u>Defined Terms</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

- "ABR", when used in reference to any Tranche, refers to whether such Tranche bears interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate.
- "Acquisition" means the purchase by NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC from CITGO Asphalt Refining Company of an asphalt refinery located near Paulsboro, New Jersey and an asphalt refinery located near Savannah, Georgia, together with related property more fully described in, and pursuant to the terms and conditions of, the Acquisition Document.
- "Acquisition Document" means the Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated November 5, 2007, between NuStar Asphalt Refining LLC and CITGO Asphalt Refining Company.
- "<u>Adjusted LIBO Rate</u>" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Tranche for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) equal to (a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate.
  - "Administrative Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders hereunder.
  - "Administrative Questionnaire" means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.
- "Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.
- "Agreement" means this Term Loan Credit Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time in accordance herewith.
- "<u>Alternate Base Rate</u>" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the higher of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day and (b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2 of 1%. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate, respectively.

"Applicable Percentage" means, with respect to any Lender, (a) at any time prior to the funding of the Loans, the percentage of the total Commitments represented by such Lender's Commitment and (b) at any time after the funding of the Loans, the percentage of the aggregate principal amount of all Loans represented by such Lender's Loan.

"Applicable Rate" means, for any day, with respect to any ABR Tranche, 0.000%; and with respect to any Eurodollar Tranche, for any day during the periods specified under the caption "Eurodollar Spread," the applicable rate per annum set forth below under such caption for such day, based upon the ratings by Moody's and/or S&P, respectively, applicable on such date to the Index Debt:

	Eurodollar Spread	
	For any day during the	
Index Debt Ratings	period from and including the Effective Date to and including March 31, 2008	For any day on or after April 1, 2008
Tier 1 Greater than BB+ or Ba1	0.750%	0.875%
Tier 2 BB+ or Ba1	1.000%	1.125%
Tier 3 Less than BB+ or Ba1	1.500%	1.625%

For purposes of the foregoing, (i) if either Moody's or S&P shall not have in effect a rating for the Index Debt (after having established such a rating and other than by reason of the circumstances referred to in the last sentence of this definition), then such rating agency shall be deemed to have established a rating in Tier 3; (ii) if both Moody's and S&P have established a rating for the Index Debt and such ratings established or deemed to have been established by Moody's and S&P shall fall within different Tiers, then (a) so long as either or both such ratings are Investment Grade or better, the Applicable Rate shall be based on the higher of the two ratings, unless one of the two ratings is two Tiers lower than the other, in which case the Applicable Rate shall be determined by reference to the Tier next below that of the higher of the two ratings; and (b) so long as both such ratings are below Investment Grade, the Applicable Rate shall be based on the lower of the two ratings, unless one of the two ratings is two Tiers lower than the other, in which case the Applicable Rate shall be determined by reference to the Tier next above that of the lower of the two ratings and (iii) if the ratings established or deemed to have been established by Moody's and S&P for the Index Debt shall be changed (other than as a result of a change in the rating system of Moody's or S&P), such change shall be effective as of the date on which it is first announced by the applicable rating agency, irrespective of when notice of such change shall have been furnished by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to Section 5.01 or otherwise. Each change in the Applicable Rate shall apply during the period commencing on the effective date of such change and ending on the date immediately preceding the effective date of the next such change. If the rating system of

Moody's or S&P shall change, or if either such rating agency shall cease to be in the business of rating corporate debt obligations, the Borrower and the Lenders shall negotiate in good faith to amend this definition to reflect such changed rating system or the unavailability of ratings from such rating agency and, pending the effectiveness of any such amendment, the Applicable Rate shall be determined by reference to the rating most recently in effect prior to such change or cessation.

"Approved Fund" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.04.

"Assessment Rate" means, for any day, the annual assessment rate in effect on such day that is payable by a member of the Bank Insurance Fund classified as "well-capitalized" and within supervisory subgroup "B" (or a comparable successor risk classification) within the meaning of 12 C.F.R. Part 327 (or any successor provision) to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation for insurance by such Corporation of time deposits made in dollars at the offices of such member in the United States; provided that if, as a result of any change in any law, rule or regulation, it is no longer possible to determine the Assessment Rate as aforesaid, then the Assessment Rate shall be such annual rate as shall be determined by the Administrative Agent to be representative of the cost of such insurance to the Lenders.

"Assignment and Assumption" means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 10.04), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative Agent.

"Beneficial Owner" has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that in calculating the beneficial ownership of any particular "person" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such "person" will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such "person" has the right to acquire by conversion or exercise of other securities, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent condition.

"Benefit Arrangement" means at any time an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA which is not a Plan or a Multiemployer Plan and which is maintained or otherwise contributed to by any ERISA Affiliate.

 $\label{eq:board} \begin{tabular}{ll} \bf ``Board'' means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America. \\ \end{tabular}$ 

"Borrower" means NuStar Logistics, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

"Borrower Obligations" means the collective reference to all amounts owing by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including, without limitation, the unpaid principal of and interest on the Loans and all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower (including, without limitation, interest accruing at the then applicable rate provided in this Agreement after the maturity of the Loans and interest accruing at the then applicable rate provided in this Agreement after the filing of any petition in

bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insolvency, reorganization or like proceeding, relating to the Borrower, whether or not a claim for post-petition interest is allowed in such proceeding) to the Guaranteed Creditors, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, or now existing or hereafter incurred, which may arise under, out of, or in connection with the Loan Documents, whether on account of principal, interest, reimbursement obligations, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses or otherwise (including, without limitation, all fees and disbursements of counsel to the Guaranteed Creditors that are required to be paid by the Borrower pursuant to the terms of any of the foregoing agreements).

"Borrowing Request" means a request by the Borrower to fund the Loans in accordance with Section 2.03.

"Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required by law to remain closed; provided that, when used in connection with a Eurodollar Tranche, the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank market.

"<u>Capital Lease Obligations</u>" of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP.

"Change in Control" means any of the following events:

- (a) 100% (and not less than 100%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interest of the general partner(s) of the Borrower shall cease to be owned, directly or indirectly, or the Borrower shall cease to be Controlled, by the MLP; or
- (b) 100% (and not less than 100%) of the limited partnership interests of the Borrower shall cease to be owned in the aggregate, directly or indirectly, by the MLP; or
- (c) the occurrence of any transaction that results in any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) other than a Permitted Holder becoming the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the general partner interests in the MLP.

"Change in Law" means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or regulation after the date of this Agreement, (b) any change in any law, rule or regulation or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the date of this Agreement or (c) compliance by any Lender (or, for purposes of Section 2.13(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such Lender's holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this Agreement.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Commitment" means, with respect to each Lender, the commitment of such Lender to make its Loan on the Effective Date hereunder. The amount of each Lender's Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01. The aggregate amount of the Lenders' Commitments is \$124,000,000.

"Consolidated Debt Coverage Ratio" means, for any day, the ratio of (a) all Indebtedness of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries (excluding the principal amount of Hybrid Equity Securities in an aggregate amount not to exceed 15% of Total Capitalization), on a consolidated basis, as of the last day of the then most recent Rolling Period over (b) Consolidated EBITDA for such Rolling Period.

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, without duplication, as to the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis for each Rolling Period, the amount equal to Consolidated Operating Income for such period (a) plus the following to the extent deducted from Consolidated Operating Income in such period: (i) depreciation, amortization and other non-cash charges for such period (including any non-cash losses or negative adjustments under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 133 (and any statements replacing, modifying or superseding such statement) as the result of changes in the fair market value of derivatives) and (ii) cash distributions received by the Borrower from Skelly-Belvieu Pipeline Company, and similar joint ventures, during such period; (b) minus all non-cash income added to Consolidated Operating Income in such period (including any non-cash gains or positive adjustments under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 133 (and any statements replacing, modifying or superseding such statement) as the result of changes in the fair market value of derivatives); and (c) plus any Material Project EBITDA Adjustments for such period; provided that Consolidated EBITDA shall be adjusted from time to time as necessary to give pro forma effect to permitted acquisitions or Investments (other than Joint Venture Interests) or sales of property by the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries.

"Consolidated Net Worth" means, at any time, an amount equal to the consolidated partners' equity of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries.

"Consolidated Operating Income" means, as to the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for each Rolling Period, the amount equal to gross margin (including any proceeds received from business interruption insurance; provided that such proceeds are received during any Rolling Period with respect to an event or events that occurred during such Rolling Period) minus operating expenses, general and administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization, and taxes other than income taxes, in each case for such period

"Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto.

- "Convertible Securities" means any debt or equity securities that are, by their terms, convertible (in whole or in part) into common stock of the issuer, or exchangeable for securities of another Person, in either case without the payment of any additional consideration upon conversion or exchange.
- "<u>Default</u>" means any event or condition which constitutes an Event of Default or which upon notice, lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.
  - "Disclosed Matters" means the actions, suits and proceedings and the environmental matters disclosed in Schedule 3.06.
  - "dollars" or "\$" refers to lawful money of the United States of America.
- "<u>Effective Date</u>" means the date on which the conditions specified in Section 4.01 and Section 4.02 are satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section 10.02).
  - "Environmental Approvals" means any Governmental Approvals required under applicable Environmental Laws.
- "Environmental Laws" means all laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgments, injunctions, notices or binding agreements issued, promulgated or entered into by any Governmental Authority, relating in any way to the environment, preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the management, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material or to health and safety matters.
- "Environmental Liability" means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for damages, costs of environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of the MLP or any Subsidiary directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.
- "Equity Interest" means any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock of a corporation, any member interests in a limited liability company, and general or limited partnership interests in a partnership, any and all equivalent ownership interests in a Person and any and all warrants, options or other rights to purchase any of the foregoing. In addition, "Equity Interest" shall include, without limitation, with respect to the Borrower, the limited partner interests of the Borrower and the General Partner Interests and, with respect to the MLP, the Units and the general partner interest of the MLP.
  - "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.
- "ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with the MLP, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code

or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code,

"ERISA Event" means (a) any "reportable event", as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) the existence with respect to any Plan of an "accumulated funding deficiency" (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(d) of the Code or Section 303(d) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by the MLP or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan; (e) the receipt by the MLP or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan; (f) the incurrence by the MLP or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (g) the receipt by the MLP or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from the MLP or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent or in reorganization, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA.

"Eurodollar", when used in reference to any Tranche, refers to whether such Tranche bears interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate.

"Event of Default" has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VII.

"Excepted Indebtedness" means Indebtedness of the type referred to in Section 6.01(b), Section 6.01(c) and Section 6.01(d).

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, and any statute successor thereto.

"Excluded Taxes" means, with respect to the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any other recipient of any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder, (a) income or franchise taxes imposed on (or measured by) its net income by the United States of America, or by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its principal office is located or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located, (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located and (c) in the case of a Foreign Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower under Section 2.17(b)), any withholding tax that is imposed on amounts payable to such Foreign Lender at the time such Foreign Lender becomes a party to this Agreement (or designates a new lending office) or is attributable to such Foreign Lender's failure to comply with Section 2.15(e), except to the extent that such Foreign Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new lending office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to such withholding tax pursuant to Section 2.15(a).

"Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it.

"Financial Officer" means with respect to any Person, the chief accounting officer, chief financial officer, treasurer or controller of such Person.

"<u>Foreign Lender</u>" means any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower is located. For purposes of this definition, the United States of America, each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

"General Partner" means NuStar GP, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"General Partner Interest" means all general partner interests in the Borrower.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States of America, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government.

"Guarantee" of or by any Person (the "guarantor") means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or obligation; provided, that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.

"Guaranteed Creditors" means the collective reference to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.

"Guarantor" means each of the MLP, KPOP, and each Subsidiary and other Person that from time to time executes and delivers a Subsidiary Guaranty (or becomes a party thereto by executing and delivering a supplement thereto or otherwise), other than any such Person that is released from such Subsidiary Guaranty in accordance with the terms thereof.

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.

"Hybrid Equity Securities" means, on any date (the "determination date"), any securities issued by the Borrower or a financing vehicle of the Borrower, other than common stock, that meet the following criteria: (a) (i) the Borrower demonstrates that such securities are classified, at the time they are issued, as possessing a minimum of "intermediate equity content" by S&P and "Basket C equity credit" by Moody's (or the equivalent classifications then in effect by such agencies) and (ii) on such determination date such securities are classified as possessing a minimum of "intermediate equity content" by S&P or "Basket C equity credit" by Moody's (or the equivalent classifications then in effect by such agencies) and (b) such securities require no repayments or prepayments and no mandatory redemptions or repurchases, in each case, prior to at least 91 days after the later of the termination of the Commitments and the repayment in full of the Borrower Obligations. As used in this definition, "mandatory redemption" shall not include conversion of a security into common stock.

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments or by any other securities providing for the mandatory payment of money (including, without limitation, preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption or sinking fund provisions), (c) all obligations of such Person upon which interest charges are customarily paid, (d) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property acquired by such Person, (e) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business), (f) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed, (g) all Guarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of others, (h) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (i) all non-contingent obligations of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty, (j) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances, (k) all obligations of such Person with respect to any arrangement, directly or indirectly, whereby such Person or its Subsidiaries shall sell or transfer any material asset, and whereby such Person or any of its Subsidiaries shall then or immediately thereafter rent or lease as lessee such asset or any part thereof, and (l) all recourse and support obligations of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to the sale or discount of any of its accounts receivable. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership

partner) to the extent such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person's ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.

- "Indemnified Taxes" means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes.
- "Indentures" means, collectively, the NuStar Logistics Indenture and the KPOP Indenture.
- "Index Debt" means senior, unsecured, long-term indebtedness for borrowed money of the Borrower that is not guaranteed by any other Person other than the Guarantors or subject to any other credit enhancement.
  - "Interest Election Request" means a request by the Borrower to convert or continue a Tranche in accordance with Section 2.05.
- "Interest Payment Date" means (a) with respect to any ABR Tranche, the last day of each March, June, September and December and (b) with respect to any Eurodollar Tranche, the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Tranche; and, in the case of a Eurodollar Tranche with an Interest Period of more than three months' duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest Period that occurs at intervals of three months' duration after the first day of such Interest Period.

"Interest Period" means (a) with respect to any Eurodollar Tranche, the period commencing on the date of such Eurodollar Tranche and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is one, two, three or six-months thereafter (or, with the consent of each Lender, such other period as the Lenders and the Borrower shall mutually agree upon), as the Borrower may elect; provided, that (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day and (ii) any Interest Period pertaining to a Eurodollar Tranche that commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. For purposes hereof, the date of a Eurodollar Tranche initially shall be the date on which such Eurodollar Tranche is funded and thereafter shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Eurodollar Tranche.

"Investment" means, as applied to any Person, (a) any direct or indirect purchase or other acquisition by such Person of any Equity Interests in any other Person, (b) any direct or indirect loan, advance or capital contribution by such Person to any other Person, including all Indebtedness and receivables from such other Person which are not current assets or did not arise from sales to such other Person in the ordinary course of business, (c) any Swap Agreement entered into by such Person other than Permitted Swap Agreements and (d) any direct or indirect purchase or other acquisition by such Person of all or substantially all of the property and assets or business of another Person or assets that constitute a business unit, line of business or division

of another Person. In addition, any letter of credit issued under the Revolving Credit Agreement on behalf or for the benefit of any Unrestricted Subsidiary shall constitute an "Investment" in such Unrestricted Subsidiary for the purposes hereof. The amount of any Investment described in clause (c) above shall be the maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that such Person would be required to pay if such Swap Agreement were terminated at such time.

"Investment Grade" means a rating for Index Debt of BBB- or higher by S&P and Baa3 or higher by Moody's.

"Joint Venture Interest" means an acquisition of or Investment in Equity Interests in another Person, held directly or indirectly by the MLP, that will not be a Subsidiary after giving effect to such acquisition or Investment.

"KPOP" means Kaneb Pipe Line Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

"KPOP Indenture" means that certain Indenture dated February 21, 2002, as amended and supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture dated February 21, 2002, the Second Supplemental Indenture dated August 9, 2002, the Third Supplemental Indenture dated May 16, 2003, and the Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 27, 2003, in each case, between KPOP and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as trustee (the "KPOP Trustee"), and as further amended and supplemented by the Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated July 1, 2005, by and among KPOP, the MLP, as affiliate guarantor, the Borrower, as affiliate guarantor, and the KPOP Trustee.

"KPOP Notes" means KPOP's \$250,000,000 7.750% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2012 and KPOP's \$250,000,000 5.875% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2013, in each case issued under the KPOP Indenture.

"<u>Lenders</u>" means the Persons listed on Schedule 2.01 and any other Person that shall have become a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption, other than any such Person that ceases to be a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption.

"LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Tranche for any Interest Period, the rate appearing on Page 3750 of the Dow Jones Market Service (or on any successor or substitute page of such Service, or any successor to or substitute for such Service, providing rate quotations comparable to those currently provided on such page of such Service, as determined by the Administrative Agent from time to time for purposes of providing quotations of interest rates applicable to dollar deposits in the London interbank market) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, as the rate for dollar deposits with a maturity comparable to such Interest Period. In the event that such rate is not available at such time for any reason, then the "LIBO Rate" with respect to such Eurodollar Tranche for such Interest Period shall be the rate at which dollar deposits of \$5,000,000 and for a maturity comparable to such Interest Period are offered to first class banks in the London interbank market by the principal London office of the Administrative Agent in

immediately available funds in the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period.

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset and (c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such securities.

"<u>Loan Documents</u>" means this Agreement, the Subsidiary Guaranty, and any notes issued pursuant to Section 2.07(e), as each such agreement may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time as permitted hereby, and any and all instruments, certificates, or other agreements delivered in connection with the foregoing.

"Loans" means the term loans made by the Lenders to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement.

"<u>Material Adverse Effect</u>" means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, assets, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries (including the Borrower) taken as a whole, (b) the ability of the MLP, the Borrower or any Guarantor to perform any of their obligations under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or (c) the rights of or benefits available to the Lenders under this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

"Material Indebtedness" means Indebtedness (other than the Loans and Letters of Credit), or obligations in respect of one or more Swap Agreements, of any one or more of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount exceeding \$50,000,000. For purposes of determining Material Indebtedness, the "principal amount" of the obligations of the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary in respect of any Swap Agreement at any time shall be the maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that such Person would be required to pay if such Swap Agreement were terminated at such time.

"<u>Material Project</u>" means each new pipeline, storage facility, processing plant or other capital expansion project wholly owned by the MLP or its Restricted Subsidiaries, the construction of which commenced after May 31, 2006 and which has a budgeted capital cost exceeding \$25,000,000.

"Material Project EBITDA Adjustments" means, with respect to each Material Project, (a) for any Rolling Period ending on or prior to the last day of the fiscal quarter during which the Material Project is completed, a percentage (based on the then-current completion percentage of the Material Project) of an amount determined by the Borrower as the projected Consolidated EBITDA attributable to such Material Project and designated in a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower as described in the next sentence of this definition (such amount to be determined by the Borrower in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner based on contracts relating to such Material Project, the creditworthiness of the other parties to such

contracts and projected revenues from such contracts, capital costs and expenses, scheduled completion, and other similar factors deemed appropriate by the Borrower) shall be added to actual Consolidated EBITDA for the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries for the fiscal quarter in which construction of such Material Project commences and for each fiscal quarter thereafter until completion of the Material Project (net of any actual Consolidated EBITDA attributable to such Material Project following its completion); provided that if construction of the Material Project is not completed by the scheduled completion date, then the foregoing amount shall be reduced by the following percentage amounts depending on the period of delay for completion (based on the period of actual delay or then-estimated delay, whichever is longer): (i) longer than 90 days, but not more than 180 days, 25%, (ii) longer than 180 days but not more than 270 days, 50%, and (iii) longer than 270 days, 100%; and (b) for each Rolling Period ending on the last day of the first, second and third fiscal quarters, respectively, immediately following the fiscal quarter during which the Material Project is completed, an amount equal to the projected Consolidated EBITDA attributable to the Material Project for the period from but excluding the end of such Rolling Period through and including the last day of the fourth fiscal quarter following the fiscal quarter during which the Material Project is completed shall be added to Consolidated EBITDA for such Rolling Period (net of any actual Consolidated EBITDA attributable to the Material Project for the period from and including the date of completion through and including the last day of the fiscal quarter during which the Material Project is completed). Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) no such additions shall be allowed with respect to any Material Project unless not later than 45 days prior to commencement of construction thereof, the Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower certifying as to the amount determined by the Borrower as the projected Consolidated EBITDA attributable to such Material Project, together with a reasonably detailed explanation of the basis therefor and such other information and documentation as the Administrative Agent or any Lender may reasonably request, such certificate, explanation and other information and documentation delivered by the Borrower shall be deemed in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders unless the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders object thereto within 10 Business Days after receipt thereof, and (ii) the aggregate amount of all Material Project EBITDA Adjustments during any period shall be limited to 20% of the total actual Consolidated EBITDA of the MLP and its Subsidiaries for such period (which total actual Consolidated EBITDA shall be determined without including any Material Project EBITDA Adjustments or any adjustments in respect of any acquisitions or dispositions as provided in the definition of Consolidated EBITDA).

"Material Subsidiary" means, with respect to the MLP, any Restricted Subsidiary that meets any of the following conditions: (i) the MLP's and its other Restricted Subsidiaries' equity in the income from continuing operations before interest expense and all income taxes of such Restricted Subsidiary exceeds 10% of such income of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries consolidated for the most recently completed fiscal year or (ii) the MLP's and its other Restricted Subsidiaries' proportionate share of the total assets (after intercompany eliminations) of such Restricted Subsidiary exceeds 10% of the total assets of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries consolidated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year.

"Maturity Date" means June 15, 2008.

"MLP" means NuStar Energy L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

"MLP Obligations" means the collective reference to (i) the Borrower Obligations and (ii) all obligations and liabilities of the MLP which may arise under or in connection with any Loan Document to which the MLP is a party, in each case whether on account of guarantee obligations, reimbursement obligations, loan obligations, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses or otherwise (including, without limitation, all fees and disbursements of counsel to any Guaranteed Creditor under any Loan Document).

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (or any successor rating organization).

"Multiemployer Plan" means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, to which the MLP or any ERISA Affiliate makes or is obligated to make contributions.

"Net Cash Proceeds" means in connection with any issuance, sale or private placement of any Equity Interests, Hybrid Equity Securities or Convertible Securities or the issuance, sale or incurrence of any Indebtedness, by the MLP or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, the cash proceeds of such issuance, sale, private placement or incurrence net of attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, underwriters' or placement agents' fees, investment banking fees, listing fees, discounts or commissions and brokerage, consultant and other fees and charges actually incurred in connection with such issuance, sale, private placement or incurrence.

"NuStar Logistics Indenture" means that certain Indenture dated as of July 15, 2002 among the MLP, the Borrower and The Bank of New York as Trustee (the "NuStar Logistics Trustee"), as amended and supplemented by a First Supplemental Indenture thereto dated as of July 15, 2002, a Second Supplemental Indenture thereto dated as of March 18, 2003, and a Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 1, 2005 by and among the Borrower, the MLP as guarantor, KPOP, as affiliate guarantor and the NuStar Logistics Trustee.

"Other Taxes" means any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies arising from any payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement.

"<u>Partnership Agreement (Borrower</u>)" means the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Borrower among the General Partner and the MLP in the form previously provided to the Lenders, as amended, modified and supplemented from time to time in accordance herewith.

"Partnership Agreement (MLP)" means the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the MLP dated as of March 18, 2003, as amended, modified and supplemented from time to time in accordance herewith.

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA and any successor entity performing similar functions.

"Permitted Encumbrances" means:

- (a) Liens imposed by law for Taxes that are not yet due or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.04;
- (b) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's and other like Liens imposed by law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not overdue by more than 30 days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.04;
- (c) pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security laws or regulations;
- (d) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
  - (e) judgment liens in respect of judgments that do not constitute an Event of Default under clause (j) of Article VII;
- (f) easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way, minor irregularities in title, boundaries, or other survey defects, servitudes, permits, reservations, exceptions, zoning regulations, conditions, covenants, mineral or royalty rights or reservations or oil, gas and mineral leases and rights of others in any property of the MLP or any Subsidiary for streets, roads, bridges, pipes, pipe lines, railroads, electric transmission and distribution lines, telegraph and telephone lines, the removal of oil, gas or other minerals or other similar purposes, flood control, water rights, rights of others with respect to navigable waters, sewage and drainage rights and similar encumbrances on real property imposed by law or arising in the ordinary course of business that do not secure any monetary obligations and do not materially detract from the value of the affected property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the MLP or any Subsidiary; provided that the term "Permitted Encumbrances" shall not include any Lien securing Indebtedness; and
- (g) Liens securing an obligation of a third party neither created, assumed nor Guaranteed by the MLP or any Subsidiary upon lands over which easements or similar rights are acquired by the MLP or any Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business of the MLP or any Subsidiary.
  - "Permitted Holder" means NuStar GP Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, or any successor to NuStar GP Holdings, LLC.

# "Permitted Investments" means:

(a) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America (or by any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America), in each case maturing within one year from the date of acquisition thereof;

- (b) investments in commercial paper maturing within 270 days from the date of acquisition thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, a short term deposit rating of no lower than A2 or P2, as such rating is set forth by S&P or Moody's, respectively;
- (c) investments in certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances and time deposits maturing within 180 days from the date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof which has a combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than \$500,000,000;
- (d) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than 30 days for securities described in clause (a) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause (c) above; and
- (e) investments in short term debt obligations of an issuer rated at least BBB by S&P's or Baa2 by Moody's, and maturing within 30 days from the date of acquisition, in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$50,000,000 at any time.
  - "Permitted Swap Agreements" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.05.
- "Person" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.
- "<u>Plan</u>" means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in respect of which the MLP or any ERISA Affiliate contributes or has an obligation to contribute and is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under Section 4069 of ERISA be deemed to be) an "employer" as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.
- "Prime Rate" means the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as its prime rate in effect at its principal office in New York City; each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced as being effective.
  - "Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.04.
- "Related Parties" means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person's Affiliates and the respective directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and such Person's Affiliates.
- "Required Lenders" means, at any time prior to the funding of the Loans, Lenders having Commitments representing greater than 50% of the sum of the total Commitments at such time, and at any time after the funding of the Loans, Lenders having Loans representing greater than 50% of the outstanding principal balance of all Loans at such time.
- "Responsible Officer" means, as to any Person, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, any Financial Officer or any Vice President of such Person. Unless otherwise

specified, all references to a Responsible Officer herein shall mean a Responsible Officer of the Borrower.

"Restricted Payment" means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property, with the exception of a Unit split, combination, or dividend, in each case so long as the only consideration paid in connection therewith is an in-kind payment of additional Units) with respect to any Equity Interest of the MLP or any Subsidiary, or any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property, with the exception of a Unit split, combination, or dividend, in each case so long as the only consideration paid in connection therewith is an in-kind payment of additional Units), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any such Equity Interest of the MLP or any option, warrant or other right to acquire any such Equity Interest of the MLP.

"Restricted Subsidiary." means any Subsidiary that is not an Unrestricted Subsidiary. For the avoidance of doubt, the Borrower is a Restricted Subsidiary of the MLP, the Borrower may not be an Unrestricted Subsidiary and each Subsidiary that is a Guarantor must be a Restricted Subsidiary.

"Revolving Credit Agreement" means that certain 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of December 10, 2007 among the Borrower, the MLP, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto, as amended.

"Rolling Period" means any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor Governmental Authority.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (or any successor rating organization).

"Standard Ratio" has the meaning given such term in Section 6.11.

"Statutory Reserve Rate" means a fraction (expressed as a decimal), the numerator of which is the number one and the denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentages (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimal established by the Board to which the Administrative Agent is subject with respect to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, for Eurodollar funding (currently referred to as "Eurodollar Liabilities" in Regulation D of the Board). Such reserve percentages shall include those imposed pursuant to Regulation D of the Board. Eurodollar Tranches shall be deemed to constitute Eurodollar funding and to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available from time to time to any Lender under such Regulation D or any comparable regulation. The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage.

"subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person (the "parent") at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts of

which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent's consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or (b) that is, as of such date, otherwise Controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the parent.

"Subsidiary" means: (a) with respect to the MLP, any subsidiary of the MLP (including the Borrower) and (b) with respect to the Borrower, any subsidiary of the Borrower.

"Subsidiary Guaranty" means any guaranty executed and delivered pursuant to Section 5.11, including the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit D, as from time to time amended, modified, or supplemented.

"Swap Agreement" means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, future or derivative transaction or option or similar agreement involving, or settled by reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or economic, financial or pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions; <u>provided</u> that no phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only on account of services provided by current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of the MLP or the Subsidiaries shall be a Swap Agreement.

"Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges or withholdings imposed by any Governmental Authority.

"<u>Total Capitalization</u>" means, at the date of any determination thereof, the sum of (a) all Indebtedness of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP <u>plus</u> (b) Consolidated Net Worth.

"<u>Tranche</u>" means that portion of the Loans of the same Type, made, converted or continued on the same date and, in the case of Eurodollar Tranches, as to which a single Interest Period is in effect.

"<u>Transactions</u>" means the execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower and the MLP of this Agreement, the borrowing of Loans, the use of the proceeds thereof, and the execution, delivery and performance of the Subsidiary Guaranty.

"Type", when used in reference to any Tranche, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Tranche is determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the Alternate Base Rate.

"<u>UK Credit Agreement</u>" means the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 11, 2007, between Kaneb Terminals Limited (formerly known as ST Services, Ltd.), the MLP, Kaneb Pipeline Operating Partnership, L.P. and SunTrust Bank, as the

same may from time to time be amended, restated, modified, supplemented, refinanced or replaced.

"Units" means the common units of limited partner interests in the MLP.

"<u>Unrestricted Subsidiary</u>" means any Subsidiary (other than the Borrower or any Guarantor) designated as such on Schedule 3.12 or which the Borrower has designated in writing to the Administrative Agent to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary pursuant to Section 6.10(b).

"Wholly-Owned Subsidiary" means, in respect of any Person, any subsidiary of such Person, all of the Equity Interests of which (other than director's qualifying shares, as may be required by law) is owned by such Person, either directly or indirectly through one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person. Unless otherwise indicated herein, each reference to the term "Wholly-Owned Subsidiary" shall mean a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the MLP.

"<u>Withdrawal Liability</u>" means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

Section 1.02 <u>Classification of Loans and Tranches</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans and Tranches may be classified and referred to by Type (e.g., a "<u>Eurodollar Tranche</u>").

Section 1.03 Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall". Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and assigns, (c) the words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder", and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words "asset" and "property" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights.

Section 1.04 <u>Accounting Terms; GAAP</u>. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time; <u>provided</u> that, if the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrower requests an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower that the

Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance herewith.

# ARTICLE II The Term Loans

Section 2.01 <u>Commitments</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Lender agrees to make a single advance term Loan in dollars to the Borrower on the Effective Date in an aggregate principal amount equal to such Lender's Commitment. The Commitments are not revolving and amounts repaid may not be re-borrowed.

- Section 2.02 <u>Loans and Tranches</u>. (a) Each Loan shall be made on the Effective Date by the Lenders ratably in accordance with their respective Commitments. The failure of any Lender to make its Loan shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligations hereunder; <u>provided</u> that the Commitments of the Lenders are several and no Lender shall be responsible for any other Lender's failure to make its Loan as required.
- (b) Subject to Section 2.12, the Loans shall be comprised of ABR Tranches and/or Eurodollar Tranches as the Borrower may request in accordance herewith. Each Lender at its option may fund any portion of its Loan consisting of a Eurodollar Tranche by causing any domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such Lender to fund such Tranche; <u>provided</u> that any exercise of such option shall not affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay such Lender's Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement
- (c) At the commencement of each Interest Period for any Eurodollar Tranche, such Tranche shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$5,000,000 (in each case, determined on the date by which the Borrowing Request or Interest Election Request is required to be delivered pursuant to Section 2.03 or Section 2.05, respectively). At the time that any ABR Tranche is made, such Tranche shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of \$500,000 and not less than \$1,000,000. Tranches of more than one Type may be outstanding at the same time; provided that there shall not at any time be more than a total of five Eurodollar Tranches outstanding.
- (d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall not be entitled to request, or to elect to convert or continue, any Tranche if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Maturity Date.

Section 2.03 <u>Requests for the Loans</u>. To request the Loans on the Effective Date, the Borrower shall deliver a Borrowing Request in substantially the form of Exhibit B and signed by the Borrower, to the Administrative Agent, not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, (a) in the case of a Eurodollar Tranche, three Business Days before the Effective Date or (b) in the case of an ABR Tranche, on the Effective Date. The Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable once

given. The Borrowing Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:

- (i) the aggregate amount of the requested Loans;
- (ii) the proposed funding date of the Loans, which shall be the Effective Date and a Business Day;
- (iii) whether any portion of such Loans is to be an ABR Tranche or a Eurodollar Tranche;
- (iv) in the case of a Eurodollar Tranche, the initial Interest Period to be applicable thereto, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period"; and
- (v) the location and number of the Borrower's account to which funds are to be disbursed, which shall comply with the requirements of Section 2.04.

If no election as to the Type of Tranche is specified, then the requested Tranche shall be an ABR Tranche. If no Interest Period is specified with respect to any requested Eurodollar Tranche, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month's duration. Promptly following receipt of the Borrowing Request in accordance with this Section, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of the amount of such Lender's Loan to be made.

Section 2.04 <u>Funding of the Loans</u>. (a) Each Lender shall make available the Loan to be made by it hereunder on the Effective Date by wire transfer of immediately available funds in dollars by 2:00 p.m., New York City time, to the account of the Administrative Agent designated by it for such purpose by notice to the Lenders. The Administrative Agent will make such Loans available to the Borrower by promptly crediting the amounts so received, in like funds, to an account of the Borrower maintained with the Administrative Agent in New York City and designated by the Borrower in the Borrowing Request.

(b) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to the proposed time of funding of the Loans on the Effective Date that such Lender will not make available to the Administrative Agent such Lender's Loan, the Administrative Agent may assume that such Lender has made its Loan available on such date in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Section and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the Borrower a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made its Loan available to the Administrative Agent, then the applicable Lender and the Borrower severally agree to pay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is made available to the Borrower to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at (i) in the case of such Lender, the greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation or (ii) in the case of the Borrower, the interest rate applicable to ABR Tranches. If such Lender

pays such amount to the Administrative Agent, then such amount shall constitute such Lender's Loan.

Section 2.05 <u>Interest Elections</u>. (a) Each Tranche initially shall be of the Type specified in the Borrowing Request and, in the case of a Eurodollar Tranche, shall have an initial Interest Period as specified in the Borrowing Request. Thereafter, the Borrower may elect to convert such Tranche to a different Type or to continue such Tranche and, in the case of a Eurodollar Tranche, may elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section. The Borrower may elect different options with respect to different portions of the affected Tranche, in which case each such portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the portion of such Loans comprising such Tranche, and each portion of such Loans shall be considered a separate Tranche.

- (b) To make an election pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such election by telephone: (i) in the case of a Eurodollar Tranche, not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, three Business Days before the first day of the Interest Period related to such Eurodollar Tranche; and (ii) in the case of an ABR Tranche, not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the same Business Day of the proposed conversion or continuation. Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by hand delivery or telecopy to the Administrative Agent of a written Interest Election Request in a form approved by the Administrative Agent and signed by the Borrower.
  - (c) Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:
  - (i) the Tranche to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to different portions thereof, the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting Tranche (in which case the information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each resulting Tranche)
    - (ii) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election Request, which shall be a Business Day;
    - (iii) whether the resulting Tranche is to be an ABR Tranche or a Eurodollar Tranche; and
  - (iv) if the resulting Tranche is a Eurodollar Tranche, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period".

If any such Interest Election Request requests a Eurodollar Tranche but does not specify an Interest Period, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month's duration.

- (d) Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of such Lender's portion of each resulting Tranche.
- (e) If the Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to a Eurodollar Tranche prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such Tranche is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period, such Tranche shall be converted to an ABR Tranche. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Administrative Agent, at the request of the Required Lenders, so notifies the Borrower, then, so long as an Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Tranche may be converted to or continued as a Eurodollar Tranche and (ii) unless repaid, each Eurodollar Tranche shall be converted to an ABR Tranche at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto.
- Section 2.06 <u>Termination of Commitments</u>. Unless previously terminated, the Commitments shall terminate at 4:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Effective Date.

#### Section 2.07 Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt.

- (a) The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Loan on the Maturity Date.
- (b) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from the Loan made by such Lender, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder.
- (c) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Type thereof and the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder for the account of the Lenders and each Lender's share thereof.
- (d) The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (a) or (c) of this Section shall be <u>prima facie</u> evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations recorded therein; <u>provided</u> that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (e) Any Lender may request that the Loan made by it be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event, the Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to the order of such Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its registered assigns) and in a form approved by the Administrative Agent. Thereafter, the Loan evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times be

represented by one or more promissory notes in such form payable to the order of the payee named therein (or, if such promissory note is a registered note, to such payee and its registered assigns).

Section 2.08 Optional Prepayment of Loans. (a) Subject to any break funding costs payable pursuant to Section 2.14, the Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Tranche in whole or in part, subject to prior notice in accordance with paragraph (b) of this Section.

(b) The Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of any prepayment hereunder (i) in the case of prepayment of a Eurodollar Tranche, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment and (ii) in the case of prepayment of an ABR Tranche, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, one Business Day before the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the prepayment date and the principal amount of each Tranche or portion thereof to be prepaid. Promptly following receipt of any such notice relating to a Tranche, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each partial prepayment of any Tranche shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case of an advance of a Tranche of the same Type as provided in Section 2.02. Each prepayment of a Tranche shall be applied ratably to the portion of the Loans included in the prepaid Tranche. Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.11 and any break funding payments required by Section 2.14.

#### Section 2.09 Mandatory Prepayment of Loans.

- (a) If the MLP or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (including the Borrower) shall issue or sell any Equity Interests, Hybrid Equity Securities or Convertible Securities, or issue, sell or incur any Indebtedness (other than Excepted Indebtedness), then as soon as practicable and in any event no later than the Business Day following the Business Day on which the MLP or such Restricted Subsidiary receives the Net Cash Proceeds therefrom, an amount equal to 100% of the Net Cash Proceeds therefrom shall be applied toward the prepayment of the Loans.
- (b) If the Acquisition has not been consummated on or before March 31, 2008, then, on March 31, 2008, the Borrower shall prepay 100% of the principal amount of all Loans then outstanding.
- (c) Amounts to be applied in connection with prepayments made pursuant to this Section 2.09 shall be applied to the prepayment of the Loans ratably. The application of any prepayment pursuant to this Section 2.09 shall be made, first, to ABR Tranches and, second, to Eurodollar Tranches. Each prepayment of the Loans under this Section 2.09 shall be accompanied by accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.11 and any break funding costs pursuant to Section 2.14.

(d) All prepayments of Loans pursuant to this Section 2.09 shall be without the payment by the Borrower of any premium or penalty except for break funding costs payable pursuant to Section 2.14.

#### Section 2.10 Fees.

- (a) If the principal of any Lender's Loan is outstanding on April 1, 2008, then the Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of such Lender, a fee in an amount equal to 0.050% on the principal amount of such Lender's Loan that is outstanding on such date, which fee shall be payable on April 1, 2008.
- (b) The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.
- (c) All fees payable hereunder shall be paid in dollars on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent. Fees paid shall not be refundable under any circumstances.
  - Section 2.11 Interest. (a) The portion of each Loan comprising each ABR Tranche shall bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate plus the Applicable Rate.
- (b) The portion of each Loan comprising each Eurodollar Tranche shall bear interest at the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such Tranche plus the Applicable Rate.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any principal of or interest on any Loan or any fee or other amount payable by the Borrower hereunder is not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, such overdue amount shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal of any Loan, 2% plus the rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as provided in the preceding paragraphs of this Section or (ii) in the case of any other amount, 2% plus the rate applicable to ABR Tranches as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section.
- (d) Accrued interest on each Tranche shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Tranche; <u>provided</u> that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section shall be payable on demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Tranche (other than a prepayment of an ABR Tranche prior to the Maturity Date), accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment and (iii) in the event of any conversion of any Eurodollar Tranche prior to the end of the current Interest Period therefor, accrued interest on such Tranche shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion.
- (e) All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, except that interest computed by reference to the Alternate Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year), and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days

elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). The applicable Alternate Base Rate, Adjusted LIBO Rate or LIBO Rate shall be determined by the Administrative Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

Section 2.12 Alternate Rate of Interest. If prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar Tranche:

- (a) the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the LIBO Rate, as applicable, for such Interest Period; or
- (b) the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the LIBO Rate, as applicable, for such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders (or Lender) of making or maintaining the portion of their Loans (or its Loan) included in such Tranche for such Interest Period;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, (i) any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Tranche to, or continuation of any Tranche as, a Eurodollar Tranche shall be ineffective and (ii) if the Borrowing Request requests a Eurodollar Tranche, such Tranche shall be made as an ABR Tranche.

#### Section 2.13 Increased Costs. (a) If any Change in Law shall:

- (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except any such reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Rate); or
- (ii) impose on any Lender or the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or Eurodollar Tranches comprising the Loan made by such Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any portion of its Loan comprising a Eurodollar Tranche (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) If any Lender determines that any Change in Law regarding capital requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender's capital or on the capital of such Lender's holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the Loan made by such Lender to a level below that which such Lender or such Lender's holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration such Lender's policies and the policies of such Lender's holding company with respect to capital

adequacy), then from time to time the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender's holding company for any such reduction suffered.

- (c) A certificate of a Lender setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof.
- (d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender's right to demand such compensation; <u>provided</u> that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 270 days prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender's intention to claim compensation therefor; <u>provided further</u> that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 270-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof.

Section 2.14 <u>Break Funding Payments</u>. In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of any Eurodollar Tranche other than on the last day of an Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion of any Eurodollar Tranche other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (c) the failure to borrow, convert, continue or prepay any Eurodollar Tranche on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto, or (d) the assignment of any Eurodollar Tranche other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.17, then, in any such event, the Borrower shall compensate each Lender for the loss, cost and expense attributable to such event. In the case of a Eurodollar Tranche, such loss, cost or expense to any Lender shall be deemed to include an amount determined by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest which would have accrued on the principal amount of its Loan had such event not occurred, at the Adjusted LIBO Rate that would have been applicable to such Tranche, for the period from the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, convert or continue, for the period at the interest rate which such Lender would bid were it to bid, at the commencement of such period, for dollar deposits of a comparable amount and period from other banks in the eurodollar market. A certificate of any Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof.

Section 2.15 <u>Taxes</u>. (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes; <u>provided</u> that if the Borrower shall be required to deduct any Indemnified

Taxes or Other Taxes from such payments, then (i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) the Administrative Agent or Lender (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Borrower shall make such deductions and (iii) the Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.

- (b) In addition, the Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.
- (c) The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender, within 10 days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, on or with respect to any payment by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender, or by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
- (d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes by the Borrower to a Governmental Authority, the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
- (e) Any Foreign Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), at the time or times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate.

Section 2.16 <u>Payments Generally</u>; <u>Pro Rata Treatment</u>; <u>Sharing of Set-offs</u>. (a) The Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder (whether of principal, interest or fees, or of amounts payable under Section 2.13, Section 2.14 or Section 2.15, or otherwise) prior to 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without set-off or counterclaim. Any amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such payments shall be made to the Administrative Agent at such offices as it may designate from time to time, except that payments pursuant to Section 2.13, Section 2.14, Section 2.15 and Section 10.03 shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto. The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any other Person to the appropriate recipient

promptly following receipt thereof. If any payment hereunder shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension. All payments hereunder shall be made in dollars.

- (b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Administrative Agent to pay fully all amounts of principal, interest and fees then due hereunder, such funds shall be applied (i) first, towards payment of interest and fees then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of interest and fees then due to such parties, and (ii) second, towards payment of principal then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of principal then due to such parties.
- (c) If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on its Loan resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loan and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received by any other Lender, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans of other Lenders to the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the aggregate amount of principal of and accrued interest on their respective Loans; provided that (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed to apply to any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in its Loan to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this paragraph shall apply). The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights of set-off and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.
- (d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders hereunder that the Borrower will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the Lenders the amount due. In such event, if the Borrower has not in fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

(e) If any Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.04(b) or Section 2.16(d), then the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion (notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof), apply any amounts thereafter received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Lender to satisfy such Lender's obligations under such Sections until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid.

Section 2.17 <u>Mitigation Obligations</u>; <u>Replacement of Lenders</u>. (a) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.13, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.15, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its Loan hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.13 or Section 2.15, as the case may be, in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

(b) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.13, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.15, or if any Lender defaults in its obligation to fund its Loan hereunder, then the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 10.04), all its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided that (i) the Borrower shall have received the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld, (ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loan, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in the case of all other amounts) and (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Section 2.13 or payments required to be made pursuant to Section 2.15, such assignment will result in a reduction in such compensation or payments. A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

# ARTICLE III Representations and Warranties

The MLP and the Borrower, in each case with respect to itself and its Restricted Subsidiaries, each represents and warrants to the Lenders that:

Section 3.01 <u>Organization; Powers</u>. It and its Restricted Subsidiaries is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, has all

requisite power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted and, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, is qualified to do business in, and is in good standing in, every jurisdiction where such qualification is required.

Section 3.02 <u>Authorization; Enforceability</u>. The Transactions are within its and its Restricted Subsidiaries corporate, limited liability company or partnership powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate, limited liability company or partnership and, if required, stockholder, member or limited partner action. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by it and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of it, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

Section 3.03 Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts. The Transactions (a) do not require any material consent or approval of, registration or filing with, or any other action by, any Governmental Authority, except such as have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect, (b) will not violate any applicable material law or regulation or the charter, by-laws or other organizational documents of it or any of its subsidiaries or any order of any Governmental Authority, (c) will not violate or result in a default under any indenture, agreement or other instrument relating to Material Indebtedness binding upon it or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries or its assets, or give rise to a right thereunder to require any payment to be made by it or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, and (d) will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of it or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 3.04 Financial Condition; No Material Adverse Change. (a) It has heretofore furnished to the Lenders (i) the consolidated balance sheet and statements of income, partners equity and cash flows of the MLP (A) as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, reported on by KPMG, and (B) as of and for the fiscal quarter and the portion of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, certified by its chief financial officer; and (ii) the consolidated balance sheet and statements of income, partners equity and cash flows of the Borrower (A) as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, certified by its chief financial officer, and (B) as of and for the fiscal quarter and the portion of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, certified by its chief financial officer. Such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations and cash flows of (x) the MLP and its consolidated subsidiaries, and the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries, as of such dates and for such periods in accordance with GAAP, subject to year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes in the case of the statements referred to in clauses (B) above.

(a) Since December 31, 2006, there has been no material adverse change in the business, assets, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of it and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Section 3.05 <u>Properties</u>. (a) It and its Restricted Subsidiaries has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all its real and personal property material to its business, free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Encumbrances and Liens otherwise permitted or contemplated by this

Agreement, except where the failure to have such title or leasehold interest could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) It and its Restricted Subsidiaries owns, or is licensed to use, or has made all required federal filings (and has not been notified of any contest) with respect to, all trademarks, tradenames, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property material to its business, and the use thereof by it and its Restricted Subsidiaries does not infringe upon the rights of any other Person, except for any such infringements that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.06 <u>Litigation and Environmental Matters</u>. (a) There are no actions, suits or proceedings by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority pending against or, to the knowledge of it, threatened against or affecting it or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (i) as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination and that, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect (other than the Disclosed Matters) or (ii) that involve this Agreement or the Transactions.

(b) Except for the Disclosed Matters and except with respect to any other matters that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) has failed to comply with any Environmental Law or to obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any Environmental Law, (ii) has become subject to any Environmental Liability, (iii) has received notice of any claim with respect to any Environmental Liability or (iv) knows of any basis for any Environmental Liability.

Section 3.07 <u>Compliance with Laws and Agreements</u>. It and its Restricted Subsidiaries is in compliance with all laws, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or its property and all indentures, agreements and other instruments binding upon it or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No Default has occurred and is continuing.

Section 3.08 Investment Company Status. Neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries is an "investment company" as defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940. The Borrower is not subject to regulation under any Federal or State statute or regulation which limits its ability to incur Indebtedness.

Section 3.09 <u>Taxes</u>. It and its Subsidiaries has each timely filed or caused to be filed all Tax returns and reports required to have been filed and has paid or caused to be paid all Taxes required to have been paid by it, except (a) Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which it or such subsidiary, as applicable, has set aside on its books adequate reserves or (b) to the extent that the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.10 <u>ERISA</u>. Except as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, each ERISA Affiliate has fulfilled its obligations under the minimum funding

standards of ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan and is in compliance in all material respects with the presently applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan. Except as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, no ERISA Affiliate has (a) sought a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 412 of the Code in respect of any Plan, (b) failed to make any contribution or payment to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or in respect of any Benefit Arrangement or made any amendment to any Plan or Benefit Arrangement, which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in the imposition of a Lien or the posting of a bond or other security under ERISA or the Code or (c) incurred any liability under Title IV of ERISA other than a liability to the PBGC for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA.

Section 3.11 <u>Disclosure</u>. It has disclosed to the Lenders all agreements, instruments and corporate or other restrictions to which it or any of its subsidiaries is subject, and all other matters known to it, that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. None of the reports, financial statements, certificates or other information furnished by or on behalf of it to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement or delivered hereunder (as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished) contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, with respect to projected financial information, it represents only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time.

Section 3.12 <u>Subsidiaries</u>. As of the date hereof, Schedule 3.12: (a) sets forth the name and jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of each Subsidiary; (b) identifies each Subsidiary of the MLP as either a Restricted Subsidiary or Unrestricted Subsidiary, (c) identifies each Subsidiary of the MLP as a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary or a non Wholly-Owned Subsidiary and (d) identifies each Subsidiary of the MLP that is a Material Subsidiary.

#### ARTICLE IV Conditions

Section 4.01 <u>Effective Date</u>. The obligations of the Lenders to make Loans hereunder shall not become effective until the date on which each of the following conditions is satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section 10.02):

- (a) The Administrative Agent (or its counsel) shall have received (i) this Agreement, executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer of the Borrower and the MLP, and by the Lenders and the Administrative Agent and (ii) the Subsidiary Guaranty, executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer of each Guarantor (other than the MLP) and satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent.
- (b) The Administrative Agent shall have received a favorable written opinion (addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders and dated the Effective Date) of (i) Andrews Kurth LLP, counsel for the Borrower and the MLP and (ii) Bradley C. Barron, in-house counsel of the MLP, collectively providing the opinions set forth in Exhibit C, and each such

opinion covering such other matters relating to the Borrower, the General Partner, the Guarantors, this Agreement or the Transactions as the Lenders shall reasonably request. The Borrower hereby requests each such counsel to deliver its applicable opinion to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.

- (c) The Administrative Agent shall have received such documents and certificates as the Administrative Agent or its counsel may reasonably request relating to the organization, existence and good standing of the Borrower, the General Partner, the MLP, the Guarantors, the authorization of the Transactions, and any other legal matters relating to the Borrower, the General Partner, the MLP, the Guarantors, the Agreement or the Transactions, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and its counsel.
- (d) The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate, dated the Effective Date and signed by the President, Vice President or a Financial Officer of each of the Borrower and the MLP, confirming compliance with the conditions set forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) of Section 4.02.
- (e) The Administrative Agent shall have received (i) counterpart originals of the Partnership Agreement (MLP) substantially in the form listed as Exhibit 3.4 to the MLP's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, the Indentures and the Partnership Agreement (Borrower) in form and substance acceptable to the Lenders, in each case duly executed by each of the parties thereto and (ii) evidence satisfactory to the Lenders that the Partnership Agreement (Borrower), the Indentures and the Partnership Agreement (MLP) are in full force and effect and have not been amended or modified except to the extent such amendments or modifications have been delivered to the Administrative Agent, which evidence may be in the form of a certificate of the President (or equivalent officer) of each of the Borrower and the MLP.
  - (f) The Administrative Agent shall have received the financial statements referred to in Section 3.04(a).
- (g) The Administrative Agent shall have received all fees and other amounts due and payable on or prior to the Effective Date, including, to the extent invoiced, reimbursement or payment of all out-of-pocket expenses required to be reimbursed or paid by the Borrower hereunder.

The Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders of the Effective Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the obligations of the Lenders to make Loans under this Agreement shall not become effective unless each of the foregoing conditions is satisfied (or waived pursuant to Section 10.02) at or prior to 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on March 24, 2008 (and, in the event such conditions are not so satisfied or waived, the Commitments shall terminate at such time).

Section 4.02 <u>Additional Conditions Precedent</u>. The obligation of each Lender to make its Loan hereunder is further subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

- (a) The representations and warranties of the Borrower and the MLP set forth in this Agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the Effective Date.
  - (b) At the time of and immediately after making such Loan, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
  - (c) The receipt by the Administrative Agent of the Borrowing Request in accordance with Section 2.03.

# ARTICLE V Affirmative Covenants

Commencing on the Effective Date, until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have been paid in full, the MLP and the Borrower each covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

- Section 5.01 Financial Statements and Other Information. It will furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender:
- (a) no later than 15 days following the date required by applicable SEC rules (without giving effect to any extensions available thereunder) for the filing of such financial statements after the end of each fiscal year of the MLP:
- (i) the audited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income, partners equity and cash flows of the MLP as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on by KPMG LLP or other independent public accountants of recognized national standing (without a "going concern" or like qualification or exception and without any qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit) to the effect that such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the MLP and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied; and
- (ii) the consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income, partners equity and cash flows of the Borrower as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures from the previous fiscal year, all certified by one of its Financial Officers as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to the absence of footnotes.
- (b) no later than 15 days following the date required by applicable SEC rules (without giving effect to any extensions available thereunder) for the filing of such financial statements after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the MLP:
- (i) the consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income, partners equity and cash flows of the MLP as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures

for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by one of its Financial Officers as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the MLP and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes; and

- (ii) the consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income, partners equity and cash flows of the Borrower as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by one of its Financial Officers as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes.
- (c) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a certificate of a Financial Officer of each of the Borrower and the MLP (i) certifying as to whether a Default has occurred and, if a Default has occurred, specifying the details thereof and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto, (ii) setting forth reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating compliance with Section 6.11 and (iii) stating whether any change in GAAP or in the application thereof has occurred since the date of the audited financial statements referred to in Section 3.04 and, if any such change has occurred, specifying the effect of such change on the financial statements accompanying such certificate;
- (d) promptly after Moody's or S&P shall have announced a change in the rating established or deemed to have been established for the Index Debt, written notice of such rating change;
- (e) if, at any time, any of the consolidated Subsidiaries of the MLP are Unrestricted Subsidiaries, then concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b), a certificate of a Financial Officer setting forth consolidating spreadsheets that show all consolidated Unrestricted Subsidiaries and the eliminating entries, in such form as would be presentable to the auditors of the MLP; and
- (f) promptly following any request therefor, such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of the Borrower, the MLP or any of their subsidiaries, or compliance with the terms of this Agreement, as the Administrative Agent or any Lender may reasonably request.

Documents required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b) (to the extent any such documents are included in materials otherwise filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission) may be delivered electronically and if so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date (i) on which the MLP posts such documents, or provides a link thereto on the MLP's website on the Internet at www.nustarenergy.com; or (ii) on which such documents are posted on the MLP's behalf on an Internet or intranet website, if any, to which each Lender and the Administrative Agent have access (whether a commercial, third-party

website or whether sponsored by the Administrative Agent); <u>provided</u> that the Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent and each Lender (by telecopier or electronic mail) of the posting of any such documents and provide to the Administrative Agent by electronic mail electronic versions (i.e., soft copies) of such documents. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, in every instance the MLP and the Borrower shall be required to provide paper copies of the compliance certificate required by Section 5.01(c) to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders. Except for such compliance certificates, the Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to request the delivery or to maintain copies of the documents referred to above, and in any event shall have no responsibility to monitor compliance by the MLP and the Borrower with any such request for delivery, and each Lender shall be solely responsible for requesting delivery to it or maintaining its copies of such documents.

Section 5.02 <u>Notices of Material Events</u>. The MLP and the Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender prompt written notice of the following:

- (a) the occurrence of any Default;
- (b) the filing or commencement of any action, suit or proceeding by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority against or affecting the MLP, the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof that, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

(c) if and when any ERISA Affiliate (i) gives or is required to give notice to the PBGC of any "reportable event" (as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA) with respect to any Plan which could reasonably be expected to constitute grounds for a termination of such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or knows that the plan administrator of any Plan has given or is required to give notice of any such reportable event, a copy of the notice of such reportable event given or required to be given to the PBGC; (ii) receives notice of complete or partial withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA or notice that any Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization, is insolvent or has been terminated, a copy of such notice; (iii) receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to terminate, impose liability (other than for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA) in respect of, or appoint a trustee to administer any Plan, a copy of such notice; (iv) applies for a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 412 of the Code, a copy of such application; (v) gives notice of intent to terminate any Plan under Section 4041(c) of ERISA, a copy of such notice and other information filed with the PBGC; (vi) gives notice of withdrawal from any Plan pursuant to Section 4063 of ERISA, a copy of such notice; or (vii) fails to make any payment or contribution to any Plan or Multi-Employer Plan or in respect of any Benefit Arrangement or makes any amendment to any Plan or Benefit Arrangement which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in the imposition of a Lien or the posting of a bond or other security, a certificate of a Financial Officer of each of the Borrower and the MLP setting forth details as to such occurrence and action, if any, which the Borrower, the MLP or applicable ERISA Affiliate is required or proposes to take, but only to the extent that any occurrence described in the preceding clauses (i) through (vii) could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

- (d) any other development that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect;
- (e) any material amendment to the Partnership Agreement (MLP) or the Partnership Agreement (Borrower), together with a certified copy of such amendment; and
  - (f) any of the following events, in each case if the occurrence of such event could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect:
- (i) the receipt by the MLP (or its general partner(s)), the Borrower or the General Partner of any notice of any claim with respect to any Environmental Liability;
- (ii) if the President or a Vice President (or equivalent officer) of the MLP or the Borrower, or the officer of the MLP or the Borrower primarily responsible for monitoring compliance by the MLP or the Borrower and its subsidiaries with Environmental Laws, shall obtain actual knowledge that there exists any Environmental Liability pending or threatened against the MLP, the Borrower or any of their Subsidiaries; or
- (iii) any release, emission, discharge or disposal of any Hazardous Materials that could reasonably be expected to form the basis of any Environmental Liability with respect to the MLP, the Borrower or any of their Subsidiaries.

Each notice delivered under this Section shall be accompanied by a statement of a Financial Officer or President or any Vice President (or equivalent officer) of each of the Borrower and the MLP setting forth a description of the event or development requiring such notice and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.

Section 5.03 Existence; Conduct of Business. It will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal existence and the rights, licenses, permits, privileges and franchises material to the conduct of its business; provided that the foregoing shall not prohibit any merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution permitted under Section 6.03.

Section 5.04 <u>Payment of Obligations</u>. It will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, pay its obligations, including Tax liabilities, that, if not paid, could result in a Material Adverse Effect before the same shall become delinquent or in default, except where (a) the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) it or such Restricted Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance with GAAP and (c) the failure to make payment pending such contest could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.05 <u>Maintenance of Properties</u>; <u>Insurance</u>. It will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, (a) keep and maintain all property material to the conduct of its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and (b) maintain, with financially sound and reputable insurance companies, insurance in such amounts and against such risks as are customarily maintained by companies engaged in the same or similar businesses operating in the same or similar locations.

Section 5.06 <u>Books and Records; Inspection Rights</u>. It will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities. It will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, permit any representatives designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, upon reasonable prior notice, to visit and inspect its properties, to examine and make extracts from its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and condition with its officers and independent accountants, all at such reasonable times and as often as reasonably requested.

Section 5.07 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. It will, and will cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or its property and the terms and provisions of the Partnership Agreement (MLP), except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.08 <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The proceeds of the Loans will be used to fund the Acquisition or to prepay outstanding loans under the Revolving Credit Agreement. No part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that entails a violation of any of the Regulations of the Board, including Regulations T, U and X.

#### Section 5.09 Environmental Laws. It will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to:

- (a) comply with all applicable Environmental Laws and obtain and comply with and maintain any and all licenses, approvals, notifications, registrations or permits required by applicable Environmental Laws except to the extent that failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and
- (b) conduct and complete all investigations, studies, sampling and testing, and all remedial, removal and other actions required under Environmental Laws and promptly comply with all lawful orders and directives of all Governmental Authorities regarding Environmental Laws except to the extent that the same are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and the pendency of such proceedings could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

#### Section 5.10 Unrestricted Subsidiaries.

(a) It will cause the management, business and affairs of each of it and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries to be conducted in such a manner (including, without limitation, by keeping separate books of account, furnishing separate financial statements of Unrestricted Subsidiaries to creditors and potential creditors thereof and by not permitting assets or properties of it and its respective Restricted Subsidiaries to be commingled (except pursuant to contractual arrangements that comply with Section 6.07)) so that each Unrestricted Subsidiary that is a corporation or other entity will be treated as a corporate or other entity separate and distinct from it and the Restricted Subsidiaries.

- (b) Except as permitted by Section 6.04(g), it will not, and will not permit any of the Restricted Subsidiaries to, incur, assume, guarantee or be or become liable for any Indebtedness of any of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries.
  - (c) It will not permit any Unrestricted Subsidiary to hold any Equity Interest in, or any Indebtedness of, it or any Restricted Subsidiary.
- Section 5.11 <u>Subsidiary Guaranty</u>. It will cause each of its Subsidiaries that guarantees any public debt of the MLP or any Subsidiary of the MLP (including, without limitation, any debt issued pursuant to any Indenture), to guarantee the Borrower Obligations, by executing and delivering to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, on or prior to the Effective Date with respect to any Subsidiary that guarantees any such public debt as of the Effective Date, and thereafter, within five (5) Business Days after any Subsidiary guarantees any such public debt, (a) a Subsidiary Guaranty (or a supplement thereto as may be requested by the Administrative Agent) and (b) such other additional closing documents, certificates and legal opinions as shall reasonably be requested by the Administrative Agent. For the avoidance of doubt, if at any time any Subsidiary referenced above does not guarantee any obligations of the MLP or any of its Subsidiaries under any public debt instrument (including the Indentures), then such Subsidiary shall be released from the Subsidiary Guaranty in accordance with Section 6.15 of the Subsidiary Guaranty.

Section 5.12 <u>Acquisition Notice</u>. It will furnish to the Administrative Agent a certificate, dated the date that the Acquisition is consummated, and signed by the President, Vice President or a Financial Officer of each of the Borrower and the MLP, certifying that the Acquisition has been consummated in accordance with the terms of the Acquisition Document (with all of the material conditions precedent thereto having been satisfied in all material respects by the parties thereto).

# ARTICLE VI Negative Covenants

Commencing on the Effective Date, until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder have been paid in full, each of the MLP and the Borrower covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

Section 6.01 <u>Indebtedness</u>. It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness, except:

- (a) Indebtedness created under this Agreement;
- (b) Indebtedness created under the Revolving Credit Agreement, the principal amount of which does not exceed \$1,250,000,000 in the aggregate at any time;
  - (c) Indebtedness created under the UK Credit Agreement, the principal amount of which does not exceed £21,000,000 in the aggregate at any time;

- (d) Indebtedness of the MLP to any Restricted Subsidiary and of any Restricted Subsidiary to the MLP or any other Restricted Subsidiary;
- (e) Guarantees by the MLP of Indebtedness of any Restricted Subsidiary and by any Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness of the MLP or any other Restricted Subsidiary;
- (f) Indebtedness consisting of the KPOP Notes, and any guarantees thereof, the principal amount of which does not exceed \$500,000,000 in the aggregate; and
- (g) other Indebtedness of the MLP and any Restricted Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that, both before and after such Indebtedness is created, incurred or assumed, no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under this Agreement, including, without limitation, an Event of Default with respect to the Consolidated Debt Coverage Ratio set forth in Section 6.11.

Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary contained herein, the MLP and the Borrower will not permit the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of all Restricted Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness described on Schedule 6.01 and Indebtedness of the Borrower) at any time to exceed 5% of Consolidated Net Worth.

Section 6.02 <u>Liens</u>. It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired by it, or assign or sell any income or revenues (including accounts receivable) or rights in respect of any thereof, except:

- (a) Permitted Encumbrances;
- (b) any Lien existing on any property or asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary or existing on any property or asset of any Person that becomes a Restricted Subsidiary after the date hereof prior to the time such Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (i) such Lien is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such acquisition or such Person becoming a Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, (ii) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or assets of the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary and (iii) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date of such acquisition or the date such Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be;
- (c) Liens on fixed or capital assets acquired, constructed or improved by the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (i) such security interests secures Indebtedness permitted by clause (g) of Section 6.01, (ii) such security interests and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement, (iii) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (iv) such security interests shall not apply to any other property or assets of the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary;
  - (d) other Liens securing Indebtedness in an amount that does not at any time exceed 10% of Consolidated Net Worth; and

(e) extensions, renewals, modifications or replacements of any of the Liens and other matters referred to in clauses (a) through (d) of this Section, provided that such Lien is otherwise permitted by the terms hereof and, with respect to Liens securing Indebtedness, no extension or renewal Lien shall (i) secure more than the amount of the Indebtedness or other obligations secured by the Lien being so extended or renewed or (ii) extend to any property or assets not subject to the Lien being so extended or renewed.

Section 6.03 Fundamental Changes. (a) It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of (in one transaction or in a series of transactions) all or substantially all of its assets (it being understood that "substantially all of its assets" shall mean more than 50% of the aggregate total assets of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole), or all or substantially all of the stock (it being understood that "substantially all of the stock" shall mean stock representing ownership interests in more than 50% of the aggregate total assets of the MLP and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole) of any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired), or liquidate or dissolve, except that, if at the time thereof and immediately after giving effect thereto no Default shall have occurred and be continuing (i) any Restricted Subsidiary may merge into the Borrower in a transaction in which the Borrower is the surviving entity or the Borrower may merge into or consolidate with another Person so long as (A) the surviving entity or purchaser, if other than the Borrower, assumes, pursuant to the terms of such transaction, each of the obligations of the Borrower hereunder and under any other documents entered into in connection with the Loans and (B) each such assumption is expressly evidenced by an agreement executed and delivered to the Lenders in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, (ii) any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the Borrower) may merge into or consolidate with any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the Borrower) in a transaction in which the surviving entity is a Restricted Subsidiary (other than the Borrower), (iii) any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the Borrower) may sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or any portion of its assets to the Borrower or to another Restricted Subsidiary and (iv) any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the Borrower) may liquidate or dissolve if the MLP determines in good faith that such liquidation or dissolution is in the best interests of the MLP and is not materially disadvantageous to the Lenders; provided that any such merger or consolidation involving a Person that is not a Wholly-Owned Restricted Subsidiary immediately prior to such merger shall not be permitted unless also permitted by Section 6.04.

(b) It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, engage to any material extent in any business other than businesses of the type conducted by it and its Restricted Subsidiaries on the date of this Agreement and businesses reasonably related thereto.

Section 6.04 <u>Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions</u>. It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, purchase, hold or acquire (including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary prior to such merger) any Investment in or Guarantee any obligations of, any other Person, or purchase or otherwise acquire (in one transaction or a series of transactions) any assets of any other Person constituting a business unit, except:

- (a) Permitted Investments;
- (b) Investments by the MLP and any Restricted Subsidiary in the Equity Interests of any Restricted Subsidiary;
- (c) loans or advances made by the MLP to any Restricted Subsidiary and made by any Restricted Subsidiary to the MLP or any other Restricted Subsidiary;
  - (d) Guarantees constituting Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01;
  - (e) the Borrower's interest in (i) the Skelly-Belvieu Pipeline Company, L.L.C. and (ii) ST Linden Terminal, LLC;
- (f) the purchase or other acquisition by the MLP or a Restricted Subsidiary of the assets of another Person constituting all or substantially all of the property and assets or business of another Person or assets that constitute a business unit, line of business or division of another Person, or the purchase or other acquisition by the MLP or a Restricted Subsidiary of all or substantially all of the Equity Interests in any Person, that immediately upon the consummation thereof, will be a Restricted Subsidiary (including, without limitation, as a result of a merger or consolidation otherwise permitted under this Agreement); provided, that, both before and after giving effect to any such Investment, no Default shall exist, including, without limitation, a Default with respect to (i) use of proceeds set forth in Section 5.08, or (ii) the Consolidated Debt Coverage Ratio set forth in Section 6.11;
- (g) Investments in Joint Venture Interests and Unrestricted Subsidiaries; <u>provided</u>, that, both before and after giving effect to any such Investment, no Default shall exist, including, without limitation, a Default with respect to (i) use of proceeds set forth in Section 5.08 or (ii) the Consolidated Debt Coverage Ratio set forth in Section 6.11; <u>provided further</u> that the aggregate amount of Investments made pursuant to this clause (g) (other than Investments described in Schedule 6.04) shall not exceed \$500,000,000 in the aggregate at any time;
- (h) Investments in Swap Agreements other than Permitted Swap Agreements; <u>provided</u>, that, both before and after giving effect to any such Investment, no Default shall exist, including, without limitation, a Default with respect to (i) use of proceeds set forth in Section 5.08 or (ii) the Consolidated Debt Coverage Ratio set forth in Section 6.11; <u>provided further</u> that the aggregate amount of Investments made pursuant to this clause (h) shall not exceed \$100,000,000 in the aggregate at any time; and
  - (i) Guarantees of obligations not constituting Indebtedness of Restricted Subsidiaries.

Section 6.05 <u>Swap Agreements</u>. It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, enter into any Swap Agreement, other than (a) Swap Agreements entered into for the purpose of fixing, hedging or swapping interest rate, commodity price or foreign currency exchange rate risk (or to reverse or amend any such agreements previously made for such purposes), and not for speculative purposes, (b) other Swap Agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business to hedge or mitigate risks to which it or any of its subsidiaries is

exposed in the conduct of its business or the management of its liabilities, and not for speculative purposes (the Swap Agreements in clauses (a) and (b), collectively the "Permitted Swap Agreements") or (c) Swap Agreements other than Permitted Swap Agreements to the extent permitted by Section 6.04(h).

Section 6.06 <u>Restricted Payments</u>. It will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, declare or make, or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment, except (a) any Subsidiary may declare and pay Restricted Payments to its parent and (b) as long as no Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, the MLP may make Restricted Payments in accordance with the terms of the Partnership Agreement (MLP).

Section 6.07 <u>Transactions with Affiliates</u>. It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, sell, lease or otherwise transfer any property or assets to, or purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except (a) at prices and on terms and conditions not less favorable to it or such Restricted Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm's-length basis from unrelated third parties, (b) transactions between or among it and its Wholly-Owned Restricted Subsidiaries not involving any other Affiliate, (c) any Restricted Payment permitted by Section 6.06, and (d) pursuant to the agreements listed on Schedule 6.07, which agreements are at prices and on terms and conditions not less favorable to it than could be obtained on an arm's-length basis from unrelated third parties.

Section 6.08 Restrictive Agreements. It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, enter into, incur or permit to exist any agreement or other arrangement that prohibits, restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) the ability of it or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon any of its property or assets, or (b) the ability of any Restricted Subsidiary to pay dividends or other distributions with respect to any of its Equity Interests or to make or repay loans or advances to the MLP or any other Restricted Subsidiary or to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Restricted Subsidiary; provided that (i) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions imposed by law, by this Agreement, the Revolving Credit Agreement, the UK Credit Agreement or any Hybrid Equity Securities (but, in the case of Hybrid Equity Securities, only with respect to the ability of the Borrower to pay dividends or other distributions with respect to its Equity Interests), (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions (x) existing on the date of this Agreement identified on Schedule 6.08 (but shall apply to any extension or renewal of, or any amendment or modification expanding the scope of, any such restriction or condition so as to cause such restriction or condition to be more restrictive than the restriction or conditions are not more restrictive than the restrictions and conditions are not more restrictive than the restrictions and conditions existing on the date of this Agreement; provided that such restrictions or conditions are not more restrictive than the restrictions and conditions existing on the date of this Agreement, (iii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary restrictions and conditions contained in agreements relating to the sale of a Restricted Subsidiary pending such sale; provided such restrictions or conditions apply only to the Restricted Subsidiary that is to be sold and such s

of the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in leases and other contracts restricting the assignment thereof.

Section 6.09 <u>Limitation on Modifications of Other Agreements</u>. It will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, amend, modify or change, or consent to any amendment, modification or change to, any of the terms of, the Partnership Agreement (MLP), except to the extent the same could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

#### Section 6.10 <u>Designation and Conversion of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries</u>; <u>Debt of Unrestricted Subsidiaries</u>.

- (a) Unless designated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary on Schedule 3.12 as of the date hereof or thereafter, assuming compliance with Section 6.10(b), any Person that becomes a Subsidiary of the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary shall be classified as a Restricted Subsidiary.
- (b) The Borrower may designate by written notification thereof to the Administrative Agent, any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the Borrower or any Guarantor), as an Unrestricted Subsidiary if: (i) prior, and after giving effect, to such designation, no Default would exist and (ii) such designation is deemed to be an Investment in an Unrestricted Subsidiary in an amount equal to the fair market value as of the date of such designation of the MLP's direct and indirect ownership interest in such Subsidiary and such Investment would be permitted to be made at the time of such designation under Section 6.04(g). Except as provided in this Section 6.10(b), no Restricted Subsidiary may be redesignated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary.
- (c) The Borrower may designate any Unrestricted Subsidiary to be a Restricted Subsidiary if after giving effect to such designation: (i) the representations and warranties of the MLP and the Borrower contained in each of the Loan Documents are true and correct on and as of the date of such designation as if made on and as of the date of such designation (or, if stated to have been made expressly as of an earlier date, were true and correct as of such date), (ii) no Default would exist and (iii) the MLP and the Borrower complies with the requirements of Section 5.10. Any such designation shall be treated as a cash dividend in an amount equal to the lesser of the fair market value of the MLP's direct and indirect ownership interest in such Subsidiary or the amount of the MLP's cash investment previously made for purposes of the limitation on Investments under Section 6.04(g).
- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary contained herein, for the purposes of this Agreement the Borrower and each Guarantor is a Restricted Subsidiary of the MLP and may not be an Unrestricted Subsidiary.
  - (e) The Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent in writing promptly upon any Subsidiary becoming a Material Subsidiary.

Section 6.11 <u>Financial Condition Covenant</u>. The MLP will not permit at any time its Consolidated Debt Coverage Ratio to be in excess of 5.00 to 1.00 (the "<u>Standard Ratio</u>") for any Rolling Period; <u>provided</u> that if at any time the MLP or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries consummates an acquisition for which the MLP or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries has paid aggregate net consideration of at least \$100,000,000, then, for the two Rolling Periods the last day of which immediately follow the date on which such acquisition is consummated, the numerator of the maximum Consolidated Debt Coverage Ratio otherwise permitted above shall be increased by 0.5; thereafter, compliance shall be determined by reverting back to the Standard Ratio.

# ARTICLE VII Events of Default

From (and including) the Effective Date, if any of the following events ("Events of Default") shall occur:

- (a) the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Loan when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date fixed for prepayment thereof or otherwise;
- (b) the Borrower shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount (other than an amount referred to in clause (a) of this Article) payable under this Agreement, when and as the same shall become due and payable, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of five Business Days;
- (c) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by or on behalf of the Borrower, the MLP or any of their Restricted Subsidiaries in or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, or in any report, certificate, financial statement or other document furnished pursuant to or in connection with the Loan Documents or any amendment or modification hereof or waiver hereunder, shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made;
- (d) the MLP or the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section 5.02(a), (c), or (e), Section 5.03 (with respect to the MLP's or the Borrower's existence), Section 5.08, Section 5.11 or in Article VI;
- (e) the MLP, the Borrower or any Guarantor shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in the Loan Documents (other than those specified in clause (a), (b) or (d) of this Article), and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after notice thereof from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (which notice will be given at the request of any Lender);
- (f) the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary shall fail to make any payment (whether of principal or interest and regardless of amount) in respect of any Material Indebtedness, when and as the same shall become due and payable (subject to any applicable grace period), whether by acceleration or otherwise, of any Material Indebtedness; or a default

shall occur in the performance or observance of any obligation or condition with respect to any Material Indebtedness if the effect of such default is to accelerate the maturity of any such Indebtedness or such default shall continue unremedied for any applicable period of time sufficient to permit the holder or holders of such Indebtedness, or any trustee or agent for such holders, to cause such Indebtedness to become due and payable prior to its expressed maturity;

- (g) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the General Partner, the MLP (or its general partner(s)), the Borrower, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary or its debts, or of a substantial part of its assets, under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect or (ii) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the General Partner, the MLP (or its general partner(s)), the Borrower, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary or for a substantial part of its assets, and, in any such case, such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;
- (h) the General Partner, the MLP (or its general partner(s)), the Borrower, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or petition described in clause (g) of this Article, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the General Partner, the MLP (or its general partner(s)), the Borrower, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary or for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing;
- (i) the General Partner, the MLP (or its general partner(s)), the Borrower, any Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary shall become unable, admit in writing its inability or fail generally to pay its debts as they become due;
- (j) one or more judgments for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of \$50,000,000 and that are not covered by insurance shall be rendered against the MLP, any Restricted Subsidiary, or any combination thereof and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 30 consecutive days during which execution shall not be effectively stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to attach or levy upon any assets of the MLP or any Restricted Subsidiary to enforce any such judgment;
- (k) an ERISA Event shall have occurred that, in the opinion of the Required Lenders, when taken together with all other ERISA Events that have occurred, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (l) the MLP or any Subsidiary shall incur an Environmental Liability or Environmental Liabilities that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(m) the MLP shall (i) conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, or commit to conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, any business or operations other than (X) those incidental to its ownership of the limited partner interests in the Borrower or of Equity Interests in other Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries and (Y) the incurrence and maintenance of Indebtedness or (ii) own, lease, manage or otherwise operate any properties or assets (including cash and cash equivalents), other than (A) the limited partner interests in the Borrower, (B) ownership interests of a Subsidiary, (C) ownership interests in other subsidiaries not Subsidiaries of the Borrower, (D) cash received in connection with dividends made by the Borrower in accordance with Section 6.06(b) pending application to the holders of the Units and the General Partner Interest, (E) cash received in connection with the incurrence of Indebtedness and (F) cash received in connection with dividends made by other subsidiaries;

- (n) this Agreement or the Subsidiary Guaranty after delivery thereof shall for any reason, except to the extent permitted by the terms hereof or thereof (or as waived by the Lenders in accordance with Section 10.02), ceases to be valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Borrower, the MLP or a Guarantor party thereto or shall be repudiated by any of them, or the Borrower, the MLP or any Guarantor shall so state in writing;
  - (o) an "Event of Default" under (and as defined in) the Revolving Credit Agreement shall occur and be continuing; or
  - (p) a Change in Control shall occur;

then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (g) or (h) of this Article), and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Administrative Agent may, and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to the Borrower, declare the Loans then outstanding to be due and payable in whole (or in part, in which case any principal not so declared to be due and payable may thereafter be declared to be due and payable), and thereupon the principal of the Loans so declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower; and in case of any event with respect to the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.

# ARTICLE VIII MLP Guarantee

#### Section 8.01 MLP Guarantee.

(a) The MLP, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, (i) absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably, guarantees to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors and their respective successors, endorsees, transferees

and assigns, the prompt and complete payment and performance by the Borrower when due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the Borrower Obligations and (ii) indemnifies and holds harmless each Guaranteed Creditor from, and agrees to pay to such Guaranteed Creditor, all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) incurred by such Guaranteed Creditor in enforcing any of its rights under the guarantee contained in this Section 8.01. The MLP agrees that notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing the payment by the Borrower of all or any portion of the Borrower Obligations and notwithstanding that all or any portion of the Borrower Obligations may be unenforceable or not allowable due to the existence of a bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding involving the Borrower, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, such Borrower Obligations shall nevertheless be due and payable by the MLP for the purposes of this guarantee at the time such Borrower Obligations would by payable by the Borrower under the provisions of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any enforcement of this guarantee with respect to the rights of any Guaranteed Creditor shall be accomplished by the Administrative Agent acting on behalf of such Guaranteed Creditor. The guarantee contained in this Section 8.01 is a guarantee of payment and not collection, and the liability of the MLP is primary and not secondary. Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, the maximum liability of the MLP under the guarantee provided for in this Article VIII shall in no event exceed the amount which can be guaranteed by the MLP under applicable federal and state laws relating to insolvency of debtors (after giving effect to any right of contribution provided for herein or in any other Loan Document).

- (b) The MLP agrees that if the maturity of the Borrower Obligations is accelerated by bankruptcy or otherwise, such maturity shall also be deemed accelerated for the purpose of this guarantee without demand or notice to the MLP. The guarantee contained in this Section 8.01 is a continuing guarantee and shall remain in full force and effect until all the Borrower Obligations and the obligations of the MLP under the guarantee contained in this Section 8.01 shall have been satisfied by payment in full in cash, notwithstanding that from time to time during the term of this Agreement the Borrower may be free from any Borrower Obligations.
- (c) No payment made by the Borrower, the MLP, any other guarantor or any other Person or received or collected by any Guaranteed Creditor from the Borrower, the MLP, any other guarantor or any other Person by virtue of any action or proceeding or any set-off or appropriation or application at any time or from time to time in reduction of or in payment of the Borrower Obligations shall be deemed to modify, reduce, release or otherwise affect the liability of the MLP hereunder which shall, notwithstanding any such payment (other than any payment made by the Borrower or MLP in respect of the Borrower Obligations or any payment received or collected from the Borrower or MLP in respect of the Borrower Obligations, remain liable for the Borrower Obligations until, subject to Section 8.05, the Borrower Obligations are paid in full in cash.

Section 8.02 <u>Subrogation</u>. The MLP shall be subrogated to all the rights of any Guaranteed Creditor against the Borrower in respect of any amounts paid by the MLP pursuant to the provisions of the guarantee contained in Section 8.01; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the MLP shall not be entitled to enforce or to receive any payments arising out of, or based upon, such

right of subrogation with respect to any of the Borrower Obligations, nor shall the MLP seek or be entitled to seek any contribution or reimbursement from the Borrower or any other Guarantor (or any other guarantor) in respect of payments made by the MLP hereunder, until all of the Borrower Obligations and the Guarantees thereof shall have been indefeasibly paid in full in cash or discharged. A director, officer, employee or stockholder, as such, of the MLP shall not have any liability for any obligations of the MLP under the guarantee contained in Section 8.01 or any claim based on, in respect of or by reason of such obligations or their creation.

Section 8.03 Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations. The MLP shall remain obligated hereunder notwithstanding that, without any reservation of rights against the MLP and without notice to or further assent by the MLP, any demand for payment of any of the Borrower Obligations made by any Guaranteed Creditor may be rescinded by such Guaranteed Creditor and any of the Borrower Obligations continued, and the Borrower Obligations, or the liability of any other Person upon or for any part thereof, or any collateral security or guarantee therefor or right of offset with respect thereto, may, from time to time, in whole or in part, be renewed, extended, amended, modified, accelerated, compromised, waived, surrendered or released by any Guaranteed Creditor, and any Loan Document and any other document executed and delivered in connection therewith may be amended, modified, supplemented or terminated, in whole or in part, as the Administrative Agent (or the Required Lenders or all Lenders, as the case may be) may deem advisable from time to time, and any collateral security, guarantee or right of offset at any time held by any Guaranteed Creditor for the payment of the Borrower Obligations may be sold, exchanged, waived, surrendered or released. Except as required by applicable law, no Guaranteed Creditor shall have any obligation to protect, secure, perfect or insure any Lien at any time held by it as security for the Borrower Obligations or for the guarantee contained in Section 8.01 or any property subject thereto.

Section 8.04 <u>Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional</u>. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the MLP hereby (a) waives diligence, presentment, demand of payment, notice of intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration, notice of acceptance, filing of claims with a court in the event of the merger, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Borrower or the MLP, and all demands and notices whatsoever, (b) acknowledges that any agreement, instrument or document evidencing the MLP Obligations may be transferred and that the benefit of its obligations hereunder shall extend to each holder of any agreement, instrument or document evidencing the MLP Obligations without notice to them and (c) covenants that the MLP Obligations will not be discharged except by complete performance thereof. The MLP further agrees that to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, if at any time all or any part of any payment theretofore applied by any Person to any of the MLP Obligations is, or must be, rescinded or returned for any reason whatsoever, including without limitation, the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of the MLP, such MLP Obligations shall, to the extent that such payment is or must be rescinded or returned, be deemed to have continued in existence notwithstanding such application, and the MLP Obligations shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case may be, as though such application had not been made.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the obligations of the MLP under this guarantee shall be as aforesaid full, irrevocable, unconditional and absolute and shall not be impaired, modified, discharged, released or limited by any occurrence or condition whatsoever,

including, without limitation, (i) any compromise, settlement, release, waiver, renewal, extension, indulgence or modification of, or any change in, any of the obligations and liabilities of the Borrower or the MLP contained in any of the Borrower Obligations or this Agreement, (ii) any impairment, modification, release or limitation of the liability of the Borrower, the MLP or any of their estates in bankruptcy, or any remedy for the enforcement thereof, resulting from the operation of any present or future provision of any applicable bankruptcy law, as amended, or other statute or from the decision of any court, (iii) the assertion or exercise by the Borrower or the MLP of any rights or remedies under any of the Borrower Obligations or this Agreement or their delay in or failure to assert or exercise any such rights or remedies, (iv) the assignment or the purported assignment of any property as security for any of the Borrower Obligations, including all or any part of the rights of the Borrower or the MLP under this Agreement, (v) the extension of the time for payment by the Borrower or the MLP of any payments or other sums or any part thereof owing or payable under any of the terms and provisions of any of the Borrower Obligations or this Agreement or of the time for performance by the Borrower or the MLP of any other obligations under or arising out of any such terms and provisions or the extension or the renewal of any thereof, (vi) the modification or amendment (whether material or otherwise) of any duty, agreement or obligation of the Borrower or the MLP set forth in this Agreement, (vii) the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets, marshaling of assets and liabilities, receivership, insolvency, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, reorganization, arrangement, composition or readjustment of, or other similar proceeding affecting, the Borrower or any of the MLP or any of their respective assets, or the disaffirmance of any of the Borrower Obligations, or this Agreement in any such proceeding, (viii) the release or discharge of the Borrower or the MLP from the performance or observance of any agreement, covenant, term or condition contained in any of such instruments by operation of law, (ix) the unenforceability of any of the Borrower Obligations or this Agreement, (x) any change in the name, business, capital structure, corporate existence, or ownership of the Borrower or the MLP or any other person or entity liable on the obligations guaranteed hereby, (xi) the existence of any collateral or other guaranty, or any exchange, release or non-perfection of any collateral or other guaranty, or (xii) any other circumstance which might otherwise constitute a defense available to, or a legal or equitable discharge of, a surety or the MLP.

Section 8.05 <u>Reinstatement</u>. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the guarantee contained in Section 8.01 shall continue to be effective, or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment, or any part thereof, of any of the Borrower Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by any Guaranteed Creditor upon the insolvency, bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of the Borrower or the MLP, or upon or as a result of the appointment of a receiver, intervenor or conservator of, or trustee or similar officer for, the Borrower or the MLP or any substantial part of its property, or otherwise, all as though such payments had not been made.

Section 8.06 <u>Payments</u>. The MLP hereby guarantees that payments hereunder will be paid to the Administrative Agent without set-off or counterclaim and without deduction for any taxes and in immediately available funds and in dollars at the Administrative Agent's payment office at the address provided in Section 10.01 of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE IX The Administrative Agent

Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints the Administrative Agent as its agent and authorizes the Administrative Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.

The bank serving as the Administrative Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Administrative Agent, and such bank and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of business with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were not the Administrative Agent hereunder.

The Administrative Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth herein. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (a) the Administrative Agent shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default has occurred and is continuing, (b) the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated hereby that the Administrative Agent is required to exercise in writing as directed by the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 10.02), and (c) except as expressly set forth herein, the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that is communicated to or obtained by the bank serving as Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity. The Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 10.02) or in the absence of its own gross negligence or wilful misconduct. The Administrative Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default unless and until written notice thereof is given to the Administrative Agent by the Borrower or a Lender, and the Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with this Agreement, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered hereunder or in connection herewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth herein, (iv) the val

The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by the proper Person. The Administrative Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to be made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. The Administrative Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the

Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

The Administrative Agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers through their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of the preceding paragraphs shall apply to any such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of the Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Administrative Agent.

Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor Administrative Agent as provided in this paragraph, the Administrative Agent may resign at any time by notifying the Lenders and the Borrower. Upon any such resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, in consultation with the Borrower, to appoint a successor. If no successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives notice of its resignation, then the retiring Administrative Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor Administrative Agent which shall be a Lender and a commercial bank with an office in New York, New York and having a combined capital and surplus of at least \$500,000,000, or an Affiliate of any such bank. Upon the acceptance of its appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent, and the retiring Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Administrative Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor. After the Administrative Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while it was acting as Administrative Agent.

Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.

None of the Syndication Agent, the Co-Documentation Agents or the Co-Managing Agents shall have any duties, responsibilities or liabilities under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents other than their duties, responsibilities and liabilities in their capacity as Lenders hereunder.

## ARTICLE X Miscellaneous

# Section 10.01 Notices.

- (a) Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and subject to paragraph (b) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows:
- (i) if to the Borrower or the MLP, to it at 2330 N. Loop 1604 West, San Antonio, Texas 78248, Attention of Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Telecopy No. (210) 918-5055);
- (ii) if to the Administrative Agent, to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Loan and Agency Services Group, 1111 Fannin, 8th Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, Attention of Maria Arreola (Telecopy No. (713) 750-2228); and
  - (iii) if to any other Lender, to it at its address (or telecopy number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.
- (b) Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent; <a href="mailto:provided">provided</a> that the foregoing shall not apply to notices pursuant to Article II unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent and the applicable Lender. The Administrative Agent or the Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it; <a href="mailto:provided">provided</a> that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.
- (c) Any party hereto may change its address or telecopy number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt.

Section 10.02 Waivers; Amendments. (a) No failure or delay by the Administrative Agent or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement or consent to any departure by the Borrower therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be permitted by paragraph (b) of this Section, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of a Loan shall not be construed as a

waiver of any Default, regardless of whether the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time.

(b) Neither this Agreement nor the Subsidiary Guaranty nor any provision hereof or thereof may be waived, amended or modified (except as expressly set forth herein or therein) except pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Borrower, the MLP and the Required Lenders or by the Borrower, the MLP and the Administrative Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders; provided that no such agreement shall (i) increase the Commitment of any Lender without the written consent of such Lender, (ii) reduce the principal amount of any Loan or reduce the rate of interest thereon, or reduce any fees payable hereunder, without the written consent of each Lender affected thereby, (iii) postpone the scheduled date of payment of the principal amount of any Loan, or any interest thereon, or any fees payable hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any such payment, or postpone the scheduled date of expiration of any Commitment, without the written consent of each Lender affected thereby, (iv) change Section 2.16(b) or (c) in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments required thereby, without the written consent of each Lender, (v) waive or amend Section 2.09, Section 4.01, Article VIII or release the MLP from its obligations hereunder or release any other Guarantor from a Subsidiary Guaranty (except as expressly set forth in the Subsidiary Guaranty) without the written consent of each Lenders required to waive, amend or modify any rights hereunder or make any determination or grant any consent hereunder, without the written consent of each Lender; provided further that no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.

Section 10.03 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver. (a) The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for the Administrative Agent, in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein, the preparation and administration of this Agreement or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions hereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), and (ii) all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, including the fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for the Administrative Agent or any Lender, in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with this Agreement, including its rights under this Section, or in connection with the Loans made hereunder, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans.

(b) The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender, and each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an "Indemnitee") against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including the fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee, incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the performance by

the parties hereto of their respective obligations hereunder or the consummation of the Transactions or any other transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) any Loan or the use of the proceeds therefrom, (iii) any actual or alleged presence or release of Hazardous Materials on or from any property owned or operated by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of such Indemnitee.

- (c) To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required to be paid by it to the Administrative Agent under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section (and without limiting the Borrower's obligation to do so), each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent such Lender's Applicable Percentage (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount; <u>provided</u> that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent in its capacity as such.
- (d) To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the Transactions, any Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof.
  - (e) All amounts due under this Section shall be payable not later than 5 Business Days after written demand therefor.

## Section 10.04 Successors and Assigns.

- (a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that (i) the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender (and any attempted assignment or transfer by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void) and (ii) no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations hereunder except in accordance with this Section. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants (to the extent provided in paragraph (c) of this Section) and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
- (b) (i) Subject to the conditions set forth in paragraph (b)(ii) below, any Lender may assign to one or more assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under

this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Loan) with the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of:

- (A) the Borrower; <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Borrower shall be required for an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, an Approved Fund or, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, any other assignee; and
- (B) the Administrative Agent; <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Administrative Agent shall be required for an assignment of any Loan (or portion thereof) to an assignee that is a Lender immediately prior to giving effect to such assignment.
  - (ii) Assignments shall be subject to the following additional conditions:
- (A) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Loan, the amount of the Loan of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent) shall not be less than \$5,000,000 unless each of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent otherwise consent; provided that no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
- (B) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement;
- (C) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee of \$3,500; and
  - (D) the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire.

For the purposes of this Section 10.04(b), the term "Approved Fund" has the following meaning:

- "Approved Fund" means any Person (other than a natural person) that is engaged in making, purchasing, holding or investing in bank loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business and that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.
- (iii) Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to paragraph (b)(iv) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement

(and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.13, Section 2.14, Section 2.15 and 10.03). Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section 10.04 shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with paragraph (c) of this Section.

- (iv) The Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the principal amount of the Loan owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
- (v) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee's completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section and any written consent to such assignment required by paragraph (b) of this Section, the Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and Assumption and record the information contained therein in the Register; provided that if either the assigning Lender or the assignee shall have failed to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.04(b), Section 2.16(d) or 10.03(c), the Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to accept such Assignment and Assumption and record the information therein in the Register unless and until such payment shall have been made in full, together with all accrued interest thereon. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this paragraph.
- (c) (i) Any Lender may, without the consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, sell participations to one or more banks or other entities (a "Participant") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Loan); provided that (A) such Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (B) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (C) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver described in the first proviso to Section 10.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to

paragraph (c)(ii) of this Section, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.13, Section 2.14 and Section 2.15 to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section. To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 10.08 as though it were a Lender; <u>provided</u> such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.16(c) as though it were a Lender.

(ii) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.13 or Section 2.15 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower's prior written consent. A Participant that would be a Foreign Lender if it were a Lender shall not be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.15 unless the Borrower is notified of the participation sold to such Participant and such Participant agrees, for the benefit of the Borrower, to comply with Section 2.15(e) as though it were a Lender.

(d) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including without limitation any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank, and this Section shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of a security interest; provided that no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

Section 10.05 <u>Survival</u>. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Borrower herein and in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the making of the Loans, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is outstanding and unpaid. The provisions of Section 2.13, Section 2.14, Section 2.15 and 10.03 and Article IX shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Loans or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

Section 10.06 <u>Counterparts</u>; <u>Integration</u>; <u>Effectiveness</u>. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable to the Administrative Agent constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Except as provided in Section 4.01, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by the Administrative Agent and when the

Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other required parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

Section 10.07 <u>Severability</u>. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

Section 10.08 Right of Setoff. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender and each of its Affiliates is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other obligations at any time owing by such Lender or Affiliate to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower or the MLP against any of and all the obligations of the Borrower or the MLP now or hereafter existing under this Agreement held by such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each Lender under this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Lender may have.

Section 10.09 <u>Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process</u>. (a) This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.

- (b) The Borrower and the MLP each hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State or, to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement shall affect any right that the Administrative Agent or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement against the Borrower or its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.
- (c) The Borrower and the MLP each hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties

hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

(d) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 10.01. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

Section 10.10 <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (a) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (b) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

Section 10.11 <u>Headings</u>. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement.

Section 10.12 <u>Confidentiality</u>. Each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party to this Agreement, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of rights hereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or (ii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction relating to the Borrower and its obligations, (g) with the consent of the Borrower or (h) to the extent such Information (i) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Administrative Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Borrower. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information received from the Borrower relating to the Borrower or its business, other than any such information that is available to the Administrative Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower; <u>provided</u> that, in the case of information received from the Borrower after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any

confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to its own confidential information.

Section 10.13 Interest Rate Limitation. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to any Loan, together with all fees, charges and other amounts which are treated as interest on such Loan under applicable law (collectively the "Charges"), shall exceed the maximum lawful rate (the "Maximum Rate") which may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender holding such Loan in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable in respect of such Loan hereunder, together with all Charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate and, to the extent lawful, the interest and Charges that would have been payable in respect of such Loan but were not payable as a result of the operation of this Section shall be cumulated and the interest and Charges payable to such Lender in respect of other Loans or periods shall be increased (but not above the Maximum Rate therefor) until such cumulated amount, together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Effective Rate to the date of repayment, shall have been received by such Lender.

Section 10.14 <u>Limitation of Liability</u>. Neither the General Partner nor the general partner(s) of the MLP shall be liable for (a) the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement or (b) the obligations of the MLP under this Agreement, including in each case, without limitation, by reason of any payment obligation imposed by governing state partnership statutes and any provision of the applicable limited partnership agreement of the Borrower or the MLP that requires such General Partner or general partner(s), as the case may be, to restore a capital account deficit.

Section 10.15 <u>USA PATRIOT Act</u>. Each Lender that is subject to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "Act") hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that will allow such Lender to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Act.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

# NUSTAR LOGISTICS, L.P.

By: NuStar GP, Inc., its General Partner

By: /s/ Steven A. Blank

Steven A. Blank Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

# NUSTAR ENERGY L.P.

By: Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., its General Partner

By: NuStar GP, LLC, its General Partner

By: /s/ Steven A. Blank

Steven A. Blank Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Signature Page 1 to Term Loan Credit Agreement

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., individually and as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Robert Traband

Name: Robert Traband
Title: Executive Director

Signature Page 2 to Term Loan Credit Agreement

SUNTRUST BANK, individually and as Syndication Agent

By: /s/ Carmen J. Malizia
Name: Carmen J. Malizia
Title: Vice President

Signature Page 3 to Term Loan Credit Agreement

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, individually and as Co-Documentation Agent

By: /s/ Gary B. Wenslow

Name: Gary B. Wenslow
Title: Associate Director

Signature Page 4 to Term Loan Credit Agreement

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, individually and as Co-Documentation Agent

By: /s/ Paul Pritchett

Name: Paul Pritchett Title: Vice President

Signature Page 5 to Term Loan Credit Agreement

## EXHIBIT A

## Form of Assignment and Assumption

This Assignment and Assumption (the "<u>Assignment and Assumption</u>") is dated as of the Effective Date set forth below and is entered into by and between [*Insert name of Assignor*] (the "<u>Assignor</u>") and [*Insert name of Assignee*] (the "<u>Assignee</u>"). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement identified below (as amended, the "<u>Credit Agreement</u>"), receipt of a copy of which is hereby acknowledged by the Assignee. The Standard Terms and Conditions set forth in Annex 1 attached hereto are hereby agreed to and incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Assignment and Assumption as if set forth herein in full.

For an agreed consideration, the Assignor hereby irrevocably sells and assigns to the Assignee, and the Assignee hereby irrevocably purchases and assumes from the Assignor, subject to and in accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditions and the Credit Agreement, as of the Effective Date inserted by the Administrative Agent as contemplated below (i) all of the Assignor's rights and obligations in its capacity as a Lender under the Credit Agreement and any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto to the extent related to the amount and percentage interest identified below of all of such outstanding rights and obligations of the Assignor under the respective facilities identified below (including any guarantees included in such facilities) and (ii) to the extent permitted to be assigned under applicable law, all claims, suits, causes of action and any other right of the Assignor (in its capacity as a Lender) against any Person, whether known or unknown, arising under or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto or the loan transactions governed thereby or in any way based on or related to any of the foregoing, including contract claims, tort claims, malpractice claims, statutory claims and all other claims at law or in equity related to the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clause (i) above (the rights and obligations sold and assigned Interest"). Such sale and assignment is without recourse to the Assignor and, except as expressly provided in this Assignment and Assumption, without representation or warranty by the Assignor.

1.	Assignor:	
2.	Assignee:	
		[and is an Affiliate/Approved Fund of [identify Lender] <sup>1</sup> ]
3.	Borrower(s):	
4.	Administrative A	gent: JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent under the Credit Agreement

Select as applicable.

6. Assigned Interest:				
Facility Assigned <sup>2</sup>	Aggregate Amount of Loans for all Lenders		Amount of Loans Assigned	Percentage Assigned of Loans <sup>3</sup>
	\$	\$		%
	\$	\$		%
	\$	\$		%
RECORDATION OF TRANSFER IN T	O [TO BE INSERTED BY ADMII HE REGISTER THEREFOR.] nent and Assumption are hereby agre		ENT AND WHICH SHALI	L BE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF
The terms set form in this Assigni	ment and Assumption are hereby agre	teu to.		
			ASSIGNOR	
			[NAME OF ASSIGNOR	]
			By:	
			Title:	
			ASSIGNEE	
			[NAME OF ASSIGNEE]	

Credit Agreement: The Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2008 among NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., the Lenders parties

thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other agents parties thereto

Exhibit A - 2

By: Title:

Fill in the appropriate terminology for the types of facilities under the Credit Agreement that are being assigned under this Assignment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Set forth, to at least 9 decimals, as a percentage of the Commitment/Loans of all Lenders thereunder.

[Consented to and] <sup>4</sup> Accepted:
[NAME OF ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT], as Administrative Agent
Ву
Title:
[Consented to:] <sup>5</sup>
[NAME OF RELEVANT PARTY]
Ву
Title:

To be added only if the consent of the Administrative Agent is required by the terms of the Credit Agreement.

To be added only if the consent of the Borrower and/or other parties is required by the terms of the Credit Agreement.

Λ	N	NF	v	-1

r	76
	lα

## STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR

#### ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

# 1. Representations and Warranties.

1.1 <u>Assignor</u>. The Assignor (a) represents and warrants that (i) it is the legal and beneficial owner of the Assigned Interest, (ii) the Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lien, encumbrance or other adverse claim and (iii) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; and (b) assumes no responsibility with respect to (i) any statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document<sup>7</sup>, (ii) the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Loan Documents or any collateral thereunder, (iii) the financial condition of the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person obligated in respect of any Loan Document or (iv) the performance or observance by the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person of any of their respective obligations under any Loan Document.

1.2 <u>Assignee</u>. The Assignee (a) represents and warrants that (i) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to become a Lender under the Credit Agreement, (ii) it satisfies the requirements, if any, specified in the Credit Agreement that are required to be satisfied by it in order to acquire the Assigned Interest and become a Lender, (iii) from and after the Effective Date, it shall be bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreement as a Lender thereunder and, to the extent of the Assigned Interest, shall have the obligations of a Lender thereunder, (iv) it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section \_\_\_\_\_\_ thereof, as applicable, and such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment and Assumption and to purchase the Assigned Interest on the basis of which it has made such analysis and decision independently and without reliance on the Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and (v) if it is a Foreign Lender<sup>8</sup>, attached to the Assignment and Assumption is any documentation required to be delivered by it pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, duly completed and executed by the Assignee; and (b) agrees that (i) it will, independently and without reliance on the Administrative Agent, the Assignor or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Loan Documents, and (ii) it will perform in accordance with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Describe Credit Agreement at option of Administrative Agent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The term "Loan Document" should be conformed to that used in the Credit Agreement.

The concept of "Foreign Lender" should be conformed to the section in the Credit Agreement governing withholding taxes and gross-up.

their terms all of the obligations which by the terms of the Loan Documents are required to be performed by it as a Lender.

- 2. <u>Payments</u>. From and after the Effective Date, the Administrative Agent shall make all payments in respect of the Assigned Interest (including payments of principal, interest, fees and other amounts) to the Assignor for amounts which have accrued to but excluding the Effective Date and to the Assignee for amounts which have accrued from and after the Effective Date.
- 3. <u>General Provisions</u>. This Assignment and Assumption shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. This Assignment and Assumption may be executed in any number of counterparts, which together shall constitute one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Assignment and Assumption by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Assignment and Assumption. This Assignment and Assumption shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of New York.

## **EXHIBIT B**

# FORM OF BORROWING REQUEST

[Date]

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent for the Lenders parties to the Credit Agreement referred to below 270 Park Avenue New York, New York 10017

Reference: NuStar Logistics, L.P.

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, NUSTAR LOGISTICS, L.P., refers to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2008 (the "<u>Credit Agreement</u>," the terms defined therein being used herein as therein defined), among the undersigned, the Lenders parties thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and hereby gives you notice, irrevocably, pursuant to Section 2.03 of the Credit Agreement, that the undersigned hereby requests the funding of the Loans under the Credit Agreement, and in that connection sets forth below the information relating to such Loans as required by Section 2.03 of the Credit Agreement:

	g		
	(i) the aggregate amount of the requested Loans is \$;		
	(ii) the funding date of the Loans, which shall be the Effective Date and a Business Day, is, 2008;		
	(iii) The Type of Tranche comprising the requested Loans is [an ABR Tranche][a Eurodollar Tranche];		
	(iv) [The initial Interest Period applicable to such Eurodollar Tranche is months]; and		
(v) the location and number of the Borrower's account to which funds are to be disbursed, which shall comply with the requirem Section 2.04, are as follows:			
	[] []		

The undersigned certifies that he/she is the [] of the Borrower, and that as such he/she is authorized to execute this certificate on behalf of the Borrower. The undersigned further certifies, represents and warrants on behalf of the Borrower that the Borrower is entitled to receive the requested Loans under the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement.		
	Very truly yours,	
	NUSTAR LOGISTICS, L.P.	
	Ву:	
	Name: Title:	

## **EXHIBIT C**

## OPINION OF COUNSEL FOR THE BORROWER AND THE MLP

February 1, 2008

To the Lenders and the Administrative Agent Referred to Below c/o JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent 270 Park Avenue New York, New York 10017

Dear Sirs:

[I/We] have acted as counsel for NuStar Logistics, L.P. (the "Borrower") and NuStar Energy L.P. (the "MLP" and each of the Subsidiaries of the MLP listed on Annex I hereto (the "Subsidiary Guarantors" and, together with the Borrower, the "Loan Parties"), in connection with the Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of February 1, 2008 (the "Credit Agreement"), among the Borrower, the MLP, the banks and other financial institutions identified therein as Lenders, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and others as agents, and the other Loan Documents identified below. This opinion is being furnished to you pursuant to Section 4.01(b) of the Credit Agreement. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

In that connection, we have examined executed copies of the Credit Agreement, the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement dated as of even date herewith made by each of the Guarantors (as defined therein) in favor of the Administrative Agent (the "<u>Subsidiary Guaranty</u>"), and the notes executed and delivered on the date hereof pursuant to Section 2.07(e) of the Credit Agreement (the "<u>Loan Documents</u>").

In addition, [I, or individuals under my direction,/We] have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to [my/our] satisfaction, of such documents, corporate records, certificates of public officials and other instruments and have conducted such other investigations of fact and law as [I/we] have deemed necessary or advisable for purposes of this opinion.

Upon the basis of the foregoing, [I am/we are] of the opinion that:

- 1. The Loan Documents constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Loan Parties party thereto, enforceable against such Loan Parties under the law of the State of New York in accordance with their respective terms.
- 2. In a case properly argued and presented, a Texas court or a Federal court sitting in Texas and applying Texas conflict of law principles, as set out in Section 35.51 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code, would give effect to the provisions of the Credit Agreement and

the Subsidiary Guaranty selecting New York law as governing, and would apply the substantive laws of the State of New York in construing the Credit Agreement and the Subsidiary Guaranty.

- 3. Under the circumstances contemplated by the Credit Agreement, the making of the Loans will not violate Section 7 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any regulation issued pursuant thereto, including without limitation, the provisions of Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
  - 4. No Loan Party is an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- 5. The Borrower (a) is a limited partnership duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and (b) has the limited partnership power and authority to (i) own property and conduct the business in which it is currently engaged and in which it proposes, as of the date hereof, to be engaged after the date hereof, (ii) make, deliver and perform the Loan Documents to which it is a party in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof and (iii) borrow under the Credit Agreement.
- 6. The MLP (a) is a limited partnership duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and (b) has the limited partnership power and authority to (i) own property and conduct the business in which it is currently engaged and in which it proposes, as of the date hereof, to be engaged after the date hereof, and (ii) make, deliver and perform the Credit Agreement in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof.
- 7. Each Subsidiary Guarantor (a) is a limited partnership, corporation or limited liability company validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation as described on Annex I hereto and (b) has the limited partnership, corporate or limited liability company power and authority to make, deliver and perform the Subsidiary Guaranty in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof.
- 8. The execution, delivery and performance of the Credit Agreement by the Borrower and the MLP, and of the Subsidiary Guaranty by each Subsidiary Guarantor, and the borrowing of the Loans by the Borrower under the Credit Agreement, have been duly authorized by all necessary actions on behalf of the Loan Parties and each other Person whose authorization is relevant to, or constitutes, authorization on behalf of either Loan Party.
  - 9. The Loan Documents have been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Loan Parties, as applicable.
- 10. No approvals or consents of any governmental authority of the State of Texas or the United States of America or other consents or approvals by any other Person which have not been obtained on or prior to the date hereof are required (a) in connection with the participation by the Loan Parties in connection with the transactions under the Loan Documents or the execution, delivery and performance by any Loan Party of the Loan Documents to which it is a party, or (b) for the validity and enforceability of the Loan Documents and the exercise by the Lenders of their rights and remedies thereunder.

- 11. The execution, delivery and performance by the Loan Parties of the Loan Documents will not (a) violate any provision of the Partnership Agreement (Borrower), the Partnership Agreement (MLP), or the certificate of incorporation, bylaws, partnership agreement or limited liability company agreement, as applicable, of any Subsidiary Guarantor, (b) result in the breach of, or constitute a default under, any indenture or loan or credit agreement or any other material agreement, lease or instrument, known to me after due inquiry, to which any of the Loan Parties is a party or by which its properties may be bound, (c) result in, or require, the creation or imposition of any Lien on any of its properties or revenues pursuant to any requirement of law, rule regulation or order of any governmental authority of the State of Texas or the United States of America or material contractual obligation binding upon any Loan Party, or (d) result in any violation by any Loan Party of any applicable law of the State of Texas or the United States of America.
- 12. The Borrower is not subject to regulation under any statute or regulation of the State of Texas or the United States of America that limits its ability to incur indebtedness.
- 13. To my knowledge (having made due inquiry with respect thereto), except as disclosed in the Credit Agreement, no litigation, investigation or proceeding of or before any arbitrator or governmental authority is pending or threatened by or against any Loan Party or against any of the properties or revenues of either (a) with respect to the Loan Documents or any of the transactions contemplated thereby or (b) which, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

EXHIBIT D

[FORM OF]

# SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AGREEMENT

made by

**EACH OF THE GUARANTORS (as defined herein)** 

in favor of

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,

as Administrative Agent

Dated as of February 1, 2008

SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AGREEMENT, dated as of February 1, 2008, made by the signatories hereto (together with any other entity that may become a party hereto as provided herein, the "Guarantors" and each a "Guarantor"), in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the "Administrative Agent"), for the benefit of the banks and other financial institutions or entities (the "Lenders") parties to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2008 (the "Credit Agreement"), among NuStar Logistics, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the "Borrower"), NuStar Energy L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the "MLP"), the Lenders, the Administrative Agent, SunTrust Bank, as Syndication Agent, and Barclays Bank Plc and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Co-Documentation Agents.

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have severally agreed to make term loans to the Borrower upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein;

WHEREAS, the Borrower is a member of an affiliated group of companies that includes each Guarantor;

WHEREAS, the proceeds of the term loans under the Credit Agreement may be or have been used in part to enable the Borrower to make valuable transfers to one or more of the Guarantors in connection with the operation of their respective businesses;

WHEREAS, the Borrower and the Guarantors are engaged in related businesses, and each Guarantor will derive substantial direct and indirect benefit from the making of the term loans under the Credit Agreement;

WHEREAS, it is a condition precedent to the obligation of the Lenders to make their respective term loans to the Borrower under the Credit Agreement that the Guarantors shall have executed and delivered this Agreement to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders; and

WHEREAS, it is a condition subsequent to the obligation of the Lenders to make their respective term loans to the Borrower under the Credit Agreement that certain subsidiaries of the MLP shall from time to time become parties to this Agreement as Guarantors by executing and delivering an Assumption Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Annex I, to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and to induce the Lenders to make their respective term loans to the Borrower under the Credit Agreement, each Guarantor hereby agrees with the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, as follows:

#### SECTION 1. DEFINED TERMS

- 1.1 Definitions.
- (a) Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.
  - (b) The following terms shall have the following meanings:
  - "Agreement": means this Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, as the same may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- "Borrower Obligations": means the collective reference to all obligations, liabilities and indebtedness (including all Indebtedness) owing by the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement, including, without limitation, the unpaid principal of and interest on the Loans and all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower (including, without limitation, interest accruing at the then applicable rate provided in the Credit Agreement after the maturity of the Loans and interest accruing at the then applicable rate provided in the Credit Agreement after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insolvency, reorganization or like proceeding, relating to the Borrower, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest is allowed in such proceeding) to the Administrative Agent or any Lender, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, or now existing or hereafter incurred, which may arise under, out of, or in connection with, the Credit Agreement, this Agreement or the other Loan Documents or any other document made, delivered or given in connection therewith, in each case whether on account of principal, interest, reimbursement obligations, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses or otherwise (including, without limitation, all fees and disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent or to the Lenders that are required to be paid by the Borrower pursuant to the terms of any of the foregoing agreements).

"Guarantor Obligations": means with respect to any Guarantor, the collective reference to (i) the Borrower Obligations and (ii) all obligations and liabilities of such Guarantor which may arise under or in connection with this Agreement, in each case whether on account of guarantee obligations, reimbursement obligations, loan obligations, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses or otherwise (including, without limitation, all fees and disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent or to the Lenders that are required to be paid by such Guarantor pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document).

"Guarantors": means the collective reference to each Guarantor party to this Agreement.

"Obligations": means in the case of each Guarantor, its Guarantor Obligations.

"Solvent": means with respect to each Guarantor as of any date, that (a) the value of the assets of such Guarantor (both at fair value and present fair saleable value) is, on the date of determination, greater than the total amount of liabilities (including contingent and unliquidated liabilities) of such Guarantor as of such date, (b) as of such date, such Guarantor is able to pay all of its liabilities as such liabilities mature and (c) as of such date, such Guarantor does not have unreasonably small capital given the nature of its business. In computing the amount of

contingent or unliquidated liabilities at any time, such liabilities shall be computed at the amount that, in light of all the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability.

## 1.2 Other Definitional Provisions.

- (a) The words "hereof," "herein", "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, and Section and Schedule references are to this Agreement unless otherwise specified.
  - (b) The meanings given to terms defined herein shall be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of such terms.
  - (c) A reference to any Person hereunder shall be deemed to include a reference to such Person's successor's, endorsees, transferees and assigns.

#### **SECTION 2. GUARANTEE**

#### 2.1 Guarantee.

- (a) Each of the Guarantors hereby, jointly and severally, (i) absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably, guarantees to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and their respective successors, endorsees, transferees and assigns, the prompt and complete payment and performance by the Borrower when due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the Borrower Obligations and (ii) indemnifies and holds harmless the Administrative Agent and each Lender from, and agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) incurred by the Administrative Agent or such Lender in enforcing any of its rights under this Agreement. The guarantee in this Section 2.1 is a continuing guarantee, and shall apply to all Obligations owing at any time whenever arising or incurred and shall remain in full force and effect until the Obligations have been indefeasibly paid in full in cash. Each Guarantor agrees that notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing the payment by the Borrower of all or any portion of the Borrower Obligations and notwithstanding that all or any portion of the Borrower Obligations may be unenforceable or not allowable due to the existence of a bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding involving the Borrower, such Borrower Obligations shall nevertheless be due and payable by such Guarantor for the purposes of this Agreement at the time such Borrower Obligations would by payable by the Borrower under the provisions of the Credit Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any enforcement of this Agreement with respect to the rights of any Lender may be accomplished by the Administrative Agent acting on behalf of such Lender.
- (b) Anything herein or in any other Loan Document to the contrary notwithstanding, the maximum liability of each Guarantor hereunder shall in no event exceed the amount which can be guaranteed by such Guarantor under applicable federal and state laws relating to the insolvency of debtors (after giving effect to the right of contribution established in Section 2.2).

- (c) Each Guarantor agrees that the Borrower Obligations may at any time and from time to time exceed the amount of the liability of such Guarantor hereunder without impairing the guarantee contained in this Section 2 or affecting the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent or any Lender hereunder.
- (d) The guarantee contained in this Section 2.1 shall remain in full force and effect until all the Borrower Obligations and the obligations of each Guarantor under the guarantee contained in this Section 2.1 shall have been satisfied by indefeasible payment in full in cash, notwithstanding that from time to time during the term of the Credit Agreement the Borrower may be free from any Borrower Obligations.
- (e) No payment made by the Borrower, any of the Guarantors, any other guarantor or any other Person or received or collected by the Administrative Agent or any Lender from the Borrower, any of the Guarantors, any other guarantor or any other Person by virtue of any action or proceeding or any set-off or appropriation or application at any time or from time to time in reduction of or in payment of the Borrower Obligations shall be deemed to modify, reduce, release or otherwise affect the liability of any Guarantor hereunder which shall, notwithstanding any such payment (other than any payment made by such Guarantor in respect of the Borrower Obligations or any payment received or collected from such Guarantor in respect of the Borrower Obligations), remain liable for the Borrower Obligations up to the maximum liability of such Guarantor hereunder until, subject to Section 2.6, the Borrower Obligations are indefeasibly paid in full in cash.
- 2.2 <u>Right of Contribution</u>. Each Guarantor hereby agrees that to the extent that a Guarantor shall have paid more than its proportionate share of any payment made hereunder, such Guarantor shall be entitled to seek and receive contribution from and against any other Guarantor hereunder which has not paid its proportionate share of such payment. Each Guarantor's right of contribution shall be subject to the terms and conditions of Section 2.3. The provisions of this Section 2.2 shall in no respect limit the obligations and liabilities of any Guarantor to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, and each Guarantor shall remain liable to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders for the full amount guaranteed by such Guarantor hereunder.
- 2.3 No Subrogation. Notwithstanding any payment made by any Guarantor hereunder or any set-off or application of funds of any Guarantor by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, no Guarantor shall be entitled to be subrogated to any of the rights of the Administrative Agent or any Lender against the Borrower or any other Guarantor (or any other guarantor) or any collateral security or guarantee or right of offset held by the Administrative Agent or any Lender for the payment of the Borrower Obligations, nor shall any Guarantor seek or be entitled to seek any contribution or reimbursement from the Borrower or any other Guarantor (or any other guarantor) in respect of payments made by such Guarantor hereunder, until all amounts owing to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders by the Borrower on account of the Borrower Obligations are indefeasibly paid in full in cash. If any amount shall be paid to any Guarantor on account of such subrogation rights at any time when all of the Borrower Obligations shall not have been paid in full in cash, such amount shall be held by such Guarantor in trust for the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, segregated from other funds of such

Guarantor, and shall, forthwith upon receipt by such Guarantor, be turned over to the Administrative Agent in the exact form received by such Guarantor (duly indorsed by such Guarantor to the Administrative Agent, if required), to be applied against the Borrower Obligations, whether matured or unmatured, in such order as the Administrative Agent may determine.

- 2.4 Amendments, etc. with respect to the Borrower Obligations. Each Guarantor shall remain obligated hereunder notwithstanding that, without any reservation of rights against any Guarantor and without notice to or further assent by any Guarantor, any demand for payment of any of the Borrower Obligations made by the Administrative Agent or any Lender may be rescinded by the Administrative Agent or such Lender and any of the Borrower Obligations continued, and the Borrower Obligations, or the liability of any other Person upon or for any part thereof, or any collateral security or guarantee therefor or right of offset with respect thereto, may, from time to time, in whole or in part, be renewed, extended, amended, modified, accelerated, compromised, waived, surrendered or released by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, and the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents and any other documents executed and delivered in connection therewith may be amended, modified, supplemented or terminated, in whole or in part, as the Administrative Agent (or the Required Lenders or all Lenders, as the case may be) may deem advisable from time to time, and any collateral security, guarantee or right of offset at any time held by the Administrative Agent or any Lender for the payment of the Borrower Obligations may be sold, exchanged, waived, surrendered or released. Neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender shall have any obligation to protect, secure, perfect or insure any Lien at any time held by it as security for the Borrower Obligations or for the guarantee contained in this Section 2 or any property subject thereto.
- 2.5 <u>Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional</u>. Each Guarantor waives any and all notice of the creation, renewal, extension or accrual of any of the Borrower Obligations and notice of or proof of reliance by the Administrative Agent or any Lender upon the guarantee contained in this Section 2 or acceptance of the guarantee contained in this Section 2; the Borrower Obligations, and any of them, shall conclusively be deemed to have been created, contracted or incurred, or renewed, extended, amended or waived, in reliance upon the guarantee contained in this Section 2; and all dealings between the Borrower and any of the Guarantors, on the one hand, and the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, on the other hand, likewise shall be conclusively presumed to have been had or consummated in reliance upon the guarantee contained in this Section 2. Each Guarantor waives diligence, presentment, protest, demand for payment, notice of intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration and notice of default or nonpayment to or upon the Borrower or any of the Guarantors with respect to the Borrower Obligations. Each Guarantor understands and agrees that the guarantee contained in this Section 2 shall be construed as a continuing, absolute and unconditional guarantee of payment without regard to (a) the validity or enforceability of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, any of the Borrower Obligations or any other collateral security therefor or guarantee or right of offset with respect thereto at any time or from time to time held by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, (b) any defense, set-off or counterclaim (other than a defense of payment or performance) which may at any time be available to or be asserted by the Borrower or any other Person against the Administrative Agent or any Lender, (c) any extension, other indulgence, renewal, settlement, discharge, compromise, waiver, subordination or release in respect of any

Borrower Obligation, security, Person or otherwise, (d) any modification or amendment of or supplement to the Borrower Obligations, including any increase or decrease in the principal, the rates of interest or other amounts payable thereunder, (e) any release, non-perfection or invalidity of any direct or indirect security for any Borrower Obligation, (f) any change in the existence, structure, constitution, name, objects, powers, business, control or ownership of the Borrower or any other Person, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding affecting the Borrower or any other Person or its assets, (g) any limitation, postponement, prohibition, subordination or other restriction on the rights of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders to payment of the Borrower Obligations, (h) any release, substitution or addition of any cosigner, endorser or other guarantor of the Borrower Obligations, (i) any defense arising by reason of any failure of the Borrower to make any presentment, demand for performance, notice of non-performance, protest, notice of intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration and any other notice, including notice of all of the following: acceptance of this Agreement, partial payment or non-payment of all or any part of the Borrower Obligations and the existence, creation, or incurring of new or additional Borrower Obligations, (j) any defense arising by reason of any failure of the Administrative Agent to proceed against the Borrower or any other Person, to proceed against, apply or exhaust any security held from the Borrower or any other Person for the Borrower Obligations, to proceed against, apply or exhaust any security held from any Guarantor or any other Person for this Agreement or to pursue any other remedy in the power of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders whatsoever, (k) any law which provides that the obligation of a guarantor must neither be larger in amount nor in other respects more burdensome than that of the principal obligation or which reduces a guarantor's obligation in proportion to the principal obligation, (1) any defense arising by reason of any incapacity, lack of authority, or other defense of the Borrower or any other Person, or by reason of any limitation, postponement, prohibition on the Administrative Agent's or the Lenders' right to payment of the Borrower Obligations or any part thereof, or by reason of the cessation from any cause whatsoever of the liability of the Borrower or any other Person with respect to all or any part of the Borrower Obligations, or by reason of any act or omission of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders which directly or indirectly results in the discharge or release of the Borrower or any other Person of all or any part of the Borrower Obligations or any security or guarantee therefore, whether by contract, operation of law or otherwise, (m) any defense arising by failure by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders to obtain, perfect or maintain a perfected or prior (or any) security interest in or lien or encumbrance upon any property of the Borrower or any other Person, or by reason of any interest of the Borrower in any property, whether as owner thereof or the holder of a security interest therein or lien or encumbrance thereon, being invalidated, voided, declared fraudulent or preferential or otherwise set aside, or by reason of any impairment by the Borrower of any right to recourse or collateral, (n) any defense arising by reason of the failure of the Borrower to marshal any assets, (o) any defense based upon any failure of the Administrative Agent or any Lender to give to the Borrower or any Guarantor notice of any sale or other disposition of any property securing any or all of the Obligations, or any defect in any notice that may be given in connection with any sale or other disposition of any such property, or any failure of the Administrative Agent or any Lender to comply with any provision of applicable law in enforcing any security interest in or lien upon any such property, including any failure of the Administrative Agent or any Lender to dispose of any such property in a commercially reasonable manner, (p) any dealing whatsoever with the Borrower or other Person

or any security, whether negligently or not, or any failure to do so, (q) any defense based upon or arising out any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, arrangement, readjustment of debt, liquidation or dissolution proceeding commenced by or against the Borrower or any other Person, including any discharge of, or bar against collecting, any of the Borrower Obligations, in or as a result of any such proceeding, (r) or any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, any Lender, any Guarantor or any other Person or any other circumstance whatsoever, whether similar or dissimilar to the foregoing, which might, but for the provisions of this Section 2.5, constitute a legal or equitable discharge, limitation or reduction of such Guarantor's obligations hereunder (other than the indefeasible payment in full in cash of all of the Borrower Obligations). The foregoing provisions apply (and the foregoing waivers will be effective) even if the effect of any action (or failure to take any action) by the Administrative Agent or any Lender is to destroy or diminish a Guarantor's subrogation rights, such Guarantor's right to proceed against the Borrower for reimbursement, such Guarantor's right to recover contribution from any other Guarantor or any other right or remedy. When making any demand hereunder or otherwise pursuing its rights and remedies hereunder against any Guarantor, the Administrative Agent or any Lender may, but shall be under no obligation to, make a similar demand on or otherwise pursue such rights and remedies as it may have against the Borrower, any other Guarantor or any other Person or against any collateral security or guarantee for the Borrower Obligations or any right of offset with respect thereto, and any failure by the Administrative Agent or any Lender to make any such demand, to pursue such other rights or remedies or to collect any payments from the Borrower, any other Guarantor or any other Person or to realize upon any such collateral security or guarantee or to exercise any such right of offset, or any release of the Borrower, any other Guarantor or any other Person or any such collateral security, guarantee or right of offset, shall not relieve any Guarantor of any obligation or liability hereunder, and shall not impair or affect the rights and remedies, whether express, implied or available as a matter of law, of the Administrative Agent or any Lender against any Guarantor. For the purposes hereof "demand" shall include the commencement and continuance of any legal proceedings.

2.6 <u>Reinstatement</u>. The guarantee contained in this Section 2 shall continue to be effective, or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment, or any part thereof, of any of the Borrower Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by the Administrative Agent or any Lender upon the insolvency, bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of the Borrower or any Guarantor, or upon or as a result of the appointment of a receiver, intervenor or conservator of, or trustee or similar officer for, the Borrower or any Guarantor or any substantial part of its property, or otherwise, all as though such payments had not been made.

2.7 <u>Payments</u>. Each Guarantor hereby guarantees that payments hereunder will be paid to the Administrative Agent without set-off or counterclaim and without deduction for any taxes and in immediately available funds and in dollars at the Administrative Agent's payment office at the address provided in Section 2.16 of the Credit Agreement.

## SECTION 3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

To induce the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to enter into the Credit Agreement and to induce the Lenders to make their respective term loans to the Borrower thereunder, each Guarantor hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and each Lender that:

3.1 <u>Representations in Credit Agreement</u>. In the case of each Guarantor, the representations and warranties relating to subsidiaries of the Borrower and the MLP set forth in Article 3 of the Credit Agreement, each of which is hereby incorporated herein by reference and shall apply mutatis mutandis, are true and correct, and the Administrative Agent and each Lender shall be entitled to rely on each of them as if they were fully set forth herein. Each Guarantor also represents and warrants that it is Solvent and that it is a Subsidiary of the MLP.

## **SECTION 4. COVENANTS**

Each Guarantor covenants and agrees with the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that, from and after the date of this Agreement until the Obligations shall have been indefeasibly paid in full in cash, in the case of each Guarantor, such Guarantor shall take, or shall refrain from taking, as the case may be, each action that is necessary to be taken or not taken, as the case may be, so that no Default or Event of Default is caused by the failure to take such action or to refrain from taking such action by such Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries.

## SECTION 5. THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

5.1 <u>Authority of Administrative Agent</u>. Each Guarantor acknowledges that the rights and responsibilities of the Administrative Agent under this Agreement with respect to any action taken by the Administrative Agent or the exercise or non-exercise by the Administrative Agent of any option, voting right, request, judgment or other right or remedy provided for herein or resulting or arising out of this Agreement shall, as between the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, be governed by the Credit Agreement and by such other agreements with respect thereto as may exist from time to time among them, but, as between the Administrative Agent and the Guarantors, the Administrative Agent shall be conclusively presumed to be acting as agent for the Lenders with full and valid authority so to act or refrain from acting, and no Guarantor shall be under any obligation, or entitlement, to make any inquiry respecting such authority.

## SECTION 6. MISCELLANEOUS

- 6.1 <u>Amendments in Writing</u>. None of the terms or provisions of this Agreement may be waived, amended, supplemented or otherwise modified except in accordance with Section 10.02 of the Credit Agreement.
- 6.2 <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests and demands to or upon the Administrative Agent or any Guarantor hereunder shall be effected in the manner provided for in Section 10.01 of the Credit Agreement; provided that any such notice, request or demand to or upon any Guarantor shall be addressed to such Guarantor at its notice address set forth on Schedule 1.

6.3 No Waiver by Course of Conduct; Cumulative Remedies. Neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender shall by any act (except by a written instrument pursuant to Section 6.1), delay, indulgence, omission or otherwise be deemed to have waived any right or remedy hereunder or to have acquiesced in any Default or Event of Default. No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof. No single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. A waiver by the Administrative Agent or any Lender of any right or remedy hereunder on any one occasion shall not be construed as a bar to any right or remedy which the Administrative Agent or such Lender would otherwise have on any future occasion. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative, may be exercised singly or concurrently and are not exclusive of any other rights or remedies provided by law.

## 6.4 Enforcement Expenses; Indemnification.

- (a) Each Guarantor agrees to pay or reimburse each Lender and the Administrative Agent for all its costs and expenses incurred in collecting against such Guarantor under the guarantee contained in Section 2 or otherwise enforcing or preserving any rights under this Agreement and which such Guarantor is a party, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel (including the allocated fees and expenses of in-house counsel) to each Lender and of counsel to the Administrative Agent.
- (b) Each Guarantor agrees to pay, and to save the Administrative Agent and the Lenders harmless from, any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever with respect to the execution, delivery, enforcement, performance and administration of this Agreement to the same extent the Borrower would be required to do so pursuant to Section 10.03 of the Credit Agreement.
- (c) The agreements in this Section 6.4 shall survive repayment of the Obligations and all other amounts payable under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
- 6.5 <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of each Guarantor and shall inure to the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders and their successors and assigns; provided that no Guarantor may assign, transfer or delegate any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
- 6.6 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Agreement on any number of separate counterparts (including by telecopy), and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. A set of the copies of this Agreement signed by all the parties shall be lodged with the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy or facsimile shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

- 6.7 <u>Severability</u>. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.
- 6.8 <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents represent the entire agreement of the Guarantors, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and there are no promises, undertakings, representations or warranties by the Administrative Agent or any Lender relative to subject matter hereof and thereof not expressly set forth or referred to herein.
- 6.9 <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND TO THE EXTENT CONTROLLING, LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.
  - 6.10 Submission to Jurisdiction; Waivers. Each Guarantor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally:
- (a) submits for itself and its property in any legal action or proceeding relating to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which it is a party, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof, to the non-exclusive general jurisdiction of the Courts of the State of New York, the courts of the United States of America for the Southern District of New York, and appellate courts from any thereof;
- (b) consents that any such action or proceeding may be brought in such courts and waives any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the venue of any such action or proceeding in any such court or that such action or proceeding was brought in an inconvenient court and agrees not to plead or claim the same;
- (c) agrees that service of process in any such action or proceeding may be effected by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certified mail (or any substantially similar form of mail), postage prepaid, to such Guarantor at its address referred to in Section 6.2 or at such other address of which the Administrative Agent shall have been notified pursuant thereto;
- (d) agrees that nothing herein shall affect the right to effect service of process in any other manner permitted by law or shall limit the right to sue in any other jurisdiction; and
- (e) waives, to the maximum extent not prohibited by law, any right it may have to claim or recover in any legal action or proceeding referred to in this Section 6.10 any special, exemplary, punitive or consequential damages.
  - 6.11 Acknowledgments. Each Guarantor hereby acknowledges that:

- (a) it has been advised by counsel in the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which it is a party;
- (b) neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender has any fiduciary relationship with or duty to any Guarantor arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the relationship between the Administrative Agent and Lenders, on one hand, and the Guarantors, on the other hand, in connection herewith or therewith is solely that of debtor and creditor; and
- (c) no joint venture is created hereby or by the other Loan Documents or otherwise exists by virtue of the transactions contemplated hereby among the Lenders or among the Guarantors and the Lenders.
- 6.12 <u>WAIVERS OF JURY TRIAL</u>. EACH GUARANTOR, AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE LENDERS HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AND FOR ANY COUNTERCLAIM THEREIN.
- 6.13 <u>Section Headings</u>. The Section headings used in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and are not to affect the construction hereof or be taken into consideration in the interpretation hereof.
- 6.14 <u>Additional Guarantors</u>. Each Subsidiary of the MLP that is required to become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.11 of the Credit Agreement shall become a party hereto and a Guarantor hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement upon execution and delivery by such Subsidiary of an Assumption Agreement in the form of Annex I hereto.
- 6.15 Release of Guarantors. At the request and sole expense of the Borrower and the MLP: any Subsidiary of the MLP that is a Guarantor shall be released from its obligations hereunder in the event that (a) all of the Equity Interests of such Guarantor shall be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of in a transaction permitted by the Credit Agreement or (b) such Subsidiary does not guarantee any obligations of the MLP or any of its Subsidiaries under any public debt instrument (including the Indentures), provided that the Borrower and the MLP shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent, at least ten Business Days prior to the date of the proposed release, a written request of a Responsible Officer of each of the Borrower and the MLP for release identifying the relevant Guarantor and the terms of the sale or other disposition or release from such guaranty, as the case may be, in reasonable detail, together with a certification by the Borrower and the MLP that such transaction is in compliance with the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents and that at the time of such release, after giving effect to any other Subsidiary of the MLP becoming a party hereto, the Borrower and the MLP are in compliance with Section 5.11 of the Credit Agreement and no Event of Default exists or would exist as a result of such release.
- 6.16 <u>Limitation of Liability</u>. Neither the General Partner nor the general partner(s) of the MLP shall be liable for (c) the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement or (d) the obligations of the MLP under this Agreement, including in each case, without limitation, by

reason of any payment obligation imposed by governing state partnership statutes and any provision of the applicable limited partnership agreement of the Borrower or the MLP that requires such General Partner or general partner(s), as the case may be, to restore a capital account deficit.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has caused this Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

Guarantor	ſ	
By: [_ Title:		]
[Guaranto	or]	
By: [_ Title:		]

Schedule 1

# NOTICE ADDRESSES OF GUARANTORS

<u>Guarantors</u> <u>Address</u>

## ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CONSENT

The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement dated as of February 1, 2008, (the "Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement"), made by the Guarantors parties thereto in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders. The undersigned agrees for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders the undersigned will be bound by the terms of the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement and will comply with such terms insofar as such terms are applicable to the undersigned.

[	]
By: [	
Address for Notices:	

	Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement
ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT, dated as of [], [200], by [	_], a []
corporation (the "Additional Guarantor"), in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the	e " <u>Administrative Agent</u> ") for
the banks and other financial institutions (the "Lenders") parties to the Credit Agreement referred to below. All capitalized terms	not defined herein shall have the
meaning ascribed to them in such Credit Agreement.	

Annex 1 to

### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, NuStar Logistics, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the "Borrower"), NuStar Energy L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the "MLP"), the Lenders and the Administrative Agent have entered into a Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2008 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement");

WHEREAS, in connection with the Credit Agreement, certain subsidiaries of the MLP (other than the Additional Guarantor) have entered into the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2008 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement") in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders:

WHEREAS, the Credit Agreement requires the Additional Guarantor to become a party to the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Additional Guarantor has agreed to execute and deliver this Assumption Agreement in order to become a party to the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement;

### NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED:

1. <u>Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement</u>. By executing and delivering this Assumption Agreement, the Additional Guarantor, as provided in Section 6.14 of the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, hereby becomes a party to the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement as a Guarantor thereunder with the same force and effect as if originally named therein as a Guarantor and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, hereby expressly assumes all obligations and liabilities of a Guarantor thereunder. The information set forth in Annex l-A hereto is hereby added to the information set forth in Schedule 1 to the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement. The Additional Guarantor hereby represents and warrants that each of the representations and warranties contained in Section 3 of the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement is true and correct on and as the date hereof (after giving effect to this Assumption Agreement) as if made on and as of such date.

2. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND TO THE EXTENT CONTROLLING, LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Assumption Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

[ADDI	TIONAL GUARANTOR]
By: Name: Title:	

# Commitments

LENDER CL. D. I. N.A.	COMMITMENT
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.	\$33,000,000.00
SunTrust Bank	\$33,000,000.00
Wachovia Bank, National Association	\$33,000,000.00
Barclays Bank PLC	\$25,000,000.00
TOTAL:	\$124,000,000.00

## **Disclosed Matters**

<u>Grace Litigation</u>. All actions, suits, proceedings, claims and Environmental Liabilities arising out of or related to the Otis pipeline as described in NuStar Energy L.P.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2007, June 30, 2007 and September 30, 2007.

Any other actions, suits, proceedings, claims and investigations described in NuStar Energy L.P.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2007, June 30, 2007 and September 30, 2007.

# <u>Subsidiaries</u>

Subsidiary	Jurisdiction of  Formation	Restricted/ Unrestricted/Material	Ownership Percentage
Bicen Development Corporation N.V.	Netherlands Antilles	Restricted	100%
Cooperatie NuStar Holdings UA.	Netherlands	Restricted	100%
Diamond K Limited	Bermuda	Restricted	100%
Kaneb, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Investment, LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Management, LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Management Company LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Pipe Line Company LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Pipe Line Holding Company, LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Pipe Line Operating Partnership, L.P.	Delaware	Restricted - Material	100%
Kaneb Pipe Line Partners, L.P.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Services LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Terminals B.V.	Netherlands	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Terminals (Eastham) Limited	England	Restricted	100%
Kaneb Terminals Limited	England	Restricted	100%
NuStar Asphalt Refining, LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
NuStar Energy Services, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
NuStar Burgos, LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
NuStar GP, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
NuStar Holdings B.V.	Netherlands	Restricted	100%
NuStar Internacioncal, S.deR,K,de C.V.	Mexico	Restricted	100%
NuStar Logistics, L.P.	Delaware	Restricted - Material	100%
NuStar Marketing LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Petroburgos, S. de R.L. de C.V.	Mexico	Restricted	100%
Point Tupper Marine Services Co.	Nova Scotia	Restricted	100%
Ross Chemical & Storage Company Limited	England	Restricted	100%
Saba Company N.V.	Netherlands Antilles	Restricted	100%
Seven Seas Steamship Company (Saint Eustatius) N.V.	Netherlands Antilles	Restricted	100%
Shore Terminals LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Skelly-Belvieu Pipeline Company, L.L.C.	Delaware	Restricted	50%
ST Linden Terminal, LLC (joint venture)	Delaware	Restricted	50%
StanTrans Holding, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
StanTrans, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
StanTrans Partners, L.P.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Statia Marine, Inc.	Cayman Islands	Restricted	100%
Statia Technology, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals Antilles N.V.	Netherlands Antilles	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals Canada Co.	Nova Scotia	Restricted	100%

Schedule 3.12 -1

Subsidiary	Jurisdiction of Formation	Restricted/ Unrestricted/Material	Ownership <u>Percentage</u>
Statia Terminals Canada Holdings Co	Nova Scotia	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals Canada Partnership	Nova Scotia	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals Corporation N.V.	Curacao, NA	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals Delaware, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals International N.V.	Curacao, NA	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals Marine Services N.V.	Netherlands Antilles	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals New Jersey, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Statia Terminals N.V.	Netherlands Antilles	Restricted	100%
Support Terminal Operating Partnership, L.P.	Delaware	Restricted - Material	100%
Support Terminals Services, Inc.	Delaware	Restricted	100%
Texas Energy Services LLC	Delaware	Restricted	100%

Schedule 3.12 - 2

## **Existing Indebtedness**

Indebtedness not to exceed £21,000,000 under Credit Agreement between Kaneb Terminals Limited (formerly named ST Services, LTD.), as borrower, NuStar Energy L.P., Kaneb Pipe Line Operating Partnership, L.P. and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Lender, dated as of December 11, 2007, as amended or restated from time to time (or replaced or refinanced from time to time but no increases thereof).

Indebtedness not to exceed \$500,000,000 evidenced by the KPOP Notes (as replaced or refinanced from time to time but no increases thereof).

## **Existing Investments**

Investment in ST Linden Terminal, LLC existing on the date hereof

Affiliate Agreements

None.

**Existing Restrictions** 

Restrictions and conditions set forth in the Indentures.

# Vinson&Elkins

March 20, 2008

VIA E-MAIL

NUSTAR LOGISTICS, L.P. LENDER GROUP

Re: Effectiveness Notice - Term Loan Credit Agreement

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement (the "<u>Credit Agreement</u>") dated as of February 1, 2008 among NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (in such capacity, the "<u>Administrative Agent</u>"), and the lenders party thereto.

At the request of the Administrative Agent, the undersigned hereby certifies to you that all documents required to be delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 4.01 of the Credit Agreement have in fact been delivered to the Administrative Agent. As a result, the Administrative Agent has requested that we notify you that (i) all conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.01 of the Credit Agreement have been satisfied as of March 20, 2008 and (ii) the Administrative Agent considers the Credit Agreement to be effective as of March 20, 2008.

Please do not hesitate to contact Rob Traband at (713) 216-1081 with the Administrative Agent with any business questions or Neal Bakare at (713) 758-3479 with Vinson & Elkins LLP with any legal questions regarding any aspect of the transaction.

Very truly yours,

VINSON & ELKINS LLP

**Vinson & Elkins LLP Attorneys at Law** Austin Beijing Dallas Dubai Houston London Moscow New York Tokyo Washington First City Tower, 1001 Fannin Street, Suite 2300, Houston, Texas 77002-6760 Tel 713.758.2222 Fax 713.758.2346 www.velaw.com

### AMENDMENT TO SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Amendment to the Sale and Purchase Agreement ("<u>Amendment</u>") is dated as of the 10<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2008, between **CITGO Asphalt Refining Company**, a New Jersey general partnership, with offices at 1293 Eldridge Parkway, Houston, Texas 77077 ("<u>Seller</u>") and **NuStar Asphalt Refining LLC**, a Delaware limited liability company, with offices at 2330 North Loop 1604 West, San Antonio, Texas 78248 ("<u>Buyer</u>").

WHEREAS, Seller and Buyer entered into that certain Sale and Purchase Agreement dated as of November 5, 2007, as amended (the "<u>Purchase Agreement</u>");

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have their respective meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement; and

WHEREAS, Seller and Buyer desire to modify certain provisions of the Purchase Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, Seller and Buyer agree as follows:

### 1. Amendments.

- (a) <u>Section 1.1</u> of the Purchase Agreement is hereby amended to add the Services and Indemnity Agreement to the definition of "Other Agreements" and such definition now reads as follows "means the Crude Supply Agreement, the Asphalt Sales Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement and the Services and Indemnity Agreement."
- (b) <u>Section 1.1</u> of the Purchase Agreement is hereby amended to include the following defined term: ""<u>Services and Indemnity Agreement</u>" means the Services and Indemnity Agreement for services to be entered into by and between Buyer and Seller, as of the Effective Time, substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit O</u>." and is hereby attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>.
- (c) <u>Section 3.8(a)</u> of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding Material Contracts is hereby amended and replaced with <u>Exhibit B</u> attached hereto.
- (d) <u>Section 3.8(b)</u> of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding Material Contracts is hereby amended and replaced with <u>Exhibit C</u> attached hereto.
- (e) Section 3.21 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding insurance is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit D attached hereto.
- (f) <u>Section 3.22</u> of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding Assumed Contracts is hereby amended and replaced with <u>Exhibit E</u> attached hereto.
- (g) <u>Schedule 2.4(a)</u> of the Purchase Agreement regarding Seller third person consents and authorizations is hereby amended and replaced with <u>Exhibit F</u> attached hereto.

- (h) Schedule 2.5 of the Purchase Agreement regarding Inventory valuation is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit G attached hereto.
- (i) <u>Section 2.6(h)</u> of the Purchase Agreement regarding Excluded Assets non-banking deposits, prepaid expenses, refunds and offset rights is hereby amended and replaced with <u>Exhibit H</u> attached hereto.
  - (j) Schedule 2.6(i) of the Purchase Agreement regarding Excluded Assets is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit I attached hereto.
- (k) <u>Schedule 2.7(c)</u> of the Purchase Agreement regarding Specific Retained Obligations is hereby amended and replaced with <u>Exhibit J</u> attached hereto.
- (l) Schedule 8.3(g) of the Purchase Agreement regarding necessary third person consents and authorizations is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit  $\underline{K}$  attached hereto.

### 2. Miscellaneous.

- (a) Except as expressly set forth herein, the Purchase Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.
- (b) The Purchase Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, sets forth the entire understanding of Seller and Buyer with respect to the subject matter thereof and hereof.
- (c) This Amendment shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Texas applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely within the State of Texas, without giving effect to any of its principles of conflicts of laws which would require the application of the laws of another jurisdiction.
- (d) This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.
- (e) For purposes of Section 10.2(c)(i) of the Purchase Agreement, the parties hereto agree that any Losses Buyer suffers or incurs as a result of any matters disclosed in the amendments to the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement made pursuant to Section 1(c), (d), (e) and (f) of this Amendment shall constitute Permitted Schedule Update Losses.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment effective as of the date first above written.

## CITGO ASPHALT REFINING COMPANY

By: CITGO PETROLEUM CORPORATION, General Partner

By: /s/ Philip J. Reedy

Name: Philip J. Reedy Title: Vice President, Finance

By: CITGO East Coast Oil Corporation,

General Partner

By: /s/ Dean M. Hasseman
Name: Dean M. Hasseman
Title: Assistant Secretary

## NUSTAR ASPHALT REFINING, LLC

By: /s/ Curtis V. Anastasio
Name: Curtis V. Anastasio
Title: President & CEO

### SECOND AMENDMENT TO SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to the Sale and Purchase Agreement ("<u>Second Amendment</u>") is dated as of March 20, 2008, between **CITGO Asphalt Refining Company**, a New Jersey general partnership, with offices at 1293 Eldridge Parkway, Houston, Texas 77077 ("<u>Seller</u>") and **NuStar Asphalt Refining**, **LLC**, a Delaware limited liability company, with offices at 2330 North Loop 1604 West, San Antonio, Texas 78248 ("<u>Buyer</u>").

WHEREAS, Seller and Buyer entered into that certain Sale and Purchase Agreement dated as of November 5, 2007, as amended (the "Purchase Agreement");

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have their respective meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement; and

WHEREAS, Seller and Buyer desire to modify certain provisions of the Purchase Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, Seller and Buyer agree as follows:

### 1. Amendment.

- (a) Section 3.8(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding Material Contracts is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit A attached hereto.
- (b) Section 3.11 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding environmental issues is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit B attached hereto.
- (c) <u>Section 3.12</u> of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding pending or threatened Litigation is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit C attached hereto.
- (d) <u>Section 3.18</u> of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding customer and supplier relations is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit D attached hereto.
- (e) Section 3.21 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding insurance is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit E attached hereto.
- (f) <u>Section 3.22</u> of the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement regarding Assumed Contracts is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit F attached hereto.
  - (g) Schedule 2.1(e) of the Purchase Agreement regarding rolling stock is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit G attached hereto.
- (h) <u>Schedule 2.4(a)</u> of the Purchase Agreement regarding Seller third person consents and authorizations is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit H attached hereto.

- (i) Schedule 2.5 of the Purchase Agreement regarding Inventory is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit I attached hereto.
- (j) <u>Schedule 2.7(c)</u> of the Purchase Agreement regarding Specific Retained Obligations is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit J attached hereto.
  - (k) Schedule 5.1 of the Purchase Agreement regarding Operation of the Business is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit K attached hereto.
  - (1) Schedule 6.1 of the Purchase Agreement regarding Employees is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit L attached hereto.
  - (m) Schedule 6.2(a) of the Purchase Agreement regarding employment offers is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit M attached hereto.
- (n) <u>Schedule 8.3(g)</u> of the Purchase Agreement regarding Necessary Third-Party Consents and Authorizations is hereby amended and replaced with Exhibit N attached hereto.

#### 2. Miscellaneous.

- (a) Except as expressly set forth herein, the Purchase Agreement shall remain in fill force and effect and is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.
- (b) The Purchase Agreement, as amended by this Second Amendment, sets forth the entire understanding of Seller and Buyer with respect to the subject matter thereof and hereof.
- (c) This Second Amendment shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Texas applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely within the State of Texas, without giving effect to any of its principles of conflicts of laws which would require the application of the laws of another jurisdiction.
- (d) This Second Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.
- (e) For purposes of Section 10.2(c)(i) of the Purchase Agreement, the parties hereto agree that any Losses Buyer suffers or incurs as a result of any matters disclosed in the amendments to the Seller Disclosure Schedule of the Purchase Agreement made pursuant to Sections 1(a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) of this Amendment shall constitute Permitted Schedule Update Losses.
- (f) On January 10, 2008, Seller and Buyer entered into that certain Services and Indemnity Agreement under which, among other things, Seller agreed to indemnify Buyer against any and all Claims or Losses arising out of or related to the Cape May Agreements, or the Cape May Arbitration (as such terms are defined in the Services and Indemnity Agreement). Seller and Buyer acknowledge and agree that the rights of Buyer under or pursuant to the Services and Indemnity Agreement shall not be limited or prejudiced in any way by the

identification of the Cape May Agreements on Exhibit B (Permitted Exceptions) to the deed conveying the Paulsboro Refinery from Seller to Buyer to be delivered at Closing.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Second Amendment effective as of the date first above written.

## CITGO ASPHALT REFINING COMPANY

By: CITGO PETROLEUM CORPORATION, General Partner

By: /s/ Philip J. Reedy

Name: Philip J. Reedy Title: Vice President, Finance

By: CITGO East Coast Oil Corporation,

General Partner

By: /s/ Dean Hasseman
Name: Dean Hasseman
Title: Assistant Secretary

## NUSTAR ASPHALT REFINING, LLC

By: <u>/s/ Michael H. Hoeltzel</u>
Name: Michael H. Hoeltzel
Title: Senior Vice President